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Dear shareholders, dear customers, partners and employees of our Company,

in 2017 we boldly initiated great change, therefore laying the cornerstone for our growth story: in June 2017 a new chap-
ter in the history of the German real estate market was opened with the new brand Instone Real Estate. The companies 
formart GmbH & Co. KG and GRK-Holding GmbH, which previously operated as independent companies, have since 
formed a joint enterprise under the new umbrella brand Instone Real Estate and therefore constitute one of the leading 
German housing developers. The successful private placement of shares of Instone Real Estate Group in February 
2018 and the subsequent listing of the Company's shares on the regulated market (Prime Standard) of the Frankfurt 
Stock Exchange (Frankfurter Wertpapierbörse) underline that this was a very good decision. 

TOGETHER MORE IS POSSIBLE 

As Instone Real Estate Group N.V. we offer combined competence in new and old buildings from one source. We 
develop modern, urban multiple family buildings and residential buildings and we also rehabilitate listed buildings for 
residential purposes in the most important metropolitan regions in Germany. Our aim is to continue growing sustainably 
and together with our customers, partners and employees to establish our Company as the most successful residential 
developer in Germany. As such, our focus is on experience, trust and fairness. These three cornerstones have also 
enabled us internally to smoothly integrate the brand launch and the related larger structures and process convergence.   

A FAIR MATTER FROM START TO FINISH 

Therefore, 2017 was characterised by change, which served to set the direction for the expansion of our market position. 
As of 31 December 2017, the project portfolio consisted of 45 projects with more than 8,000 units. The estimated sales 
volume was around €3.4 billion. Based on the actual secured project portfolio, in the medium term, Instone is planning the 
development of more than 2,000 residential units per year with a sales volume of €700 million to €800 million and an 
average gross margin of around 25 per cent, without taking into consideration an increase in the sales prices.

PASSIONATELY DEVELOPING REAL ESTATE

Creating a new house for many people: that is what further motivates us in 2018 and onward. To achieve this, we have 
already identified and begun processing more than €13 billion worth of potential future sales volumes in acquisition 
possibilities for highly attractive plots of land. 

2017 was a huge success, which every individual employee contributed to with plenty of commitment and passion. We 
would particularly like to thank them: we are proud to have the support of one of the best teams in Germany.

We would also like to thank our majority shareholder and our investors for their constant trust, as well as our business 
partners – above all banks, credit insurers and contractors – for their reliable cooperation. Furthermore, we would like to 
particularly thank our very varied clientele.  

Your Management Board of Instone Real Estate Group N.V.

"NOTHING IN THE HISTORY  
OF LIFE IS MORE CONSTANT  
THAN CHANGE."
CHARLES DARWIN



IRE_G Group Financial Statements 2017 

7

E.
 O

TH
ER

 IN
FO

R
M

AT
IO

N
 

D
. �C

O
R

PO
R

AT
E 

 
G

O
VE

R
N

A
N

C
E

C
. �C

O
N

SO
LI

D
AT

ED
  

FI
N

A
N

C
IA

L 
ST

AT
EM

EN
TS

B
. �G

R
O

U
P 

M
A

N
A

G
EM

EN
T 

 
R

EP
O

R
T

A
. I

N
TR

O
D

U
C

TI
O

N
 

A
. I

N
TR

O
D

U
C

TI
O

N
 

In this report, the terms “we”, “us”, “our”, “Instone Real 
Estate” and “the Company” refer to Instone Real Estate 
Group N.V. (formerly: Formart Holding B.V., thereafter: 
Instone Real Estate Group B.V., now: Instone Real Estate 
Group N.V.) and, where appropriate, its subsidiaries.

During the fiscal year ended 31 December 2017, we were 
a private company with limited liability (besloten vennoot-
schap met beperkte aansprakelijkheid) named Instone 
Real Estate Group B.V. On 13 February 2018, we were 
converted into a public limited liability company (naam-
loze vennootschap) and renamed Instone Real Estate 
Group N.V. in connection with the private placement of 
our shares (the “Placement”) and the admission to listing 
and trading a part of our shares on the regulated mar-
ket (regulierter Markt) of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange 
(Frankfurter Wertpapierbörse) with simultaneous admissi-
on to the sub-segment thereof with additional post-admis-
sion obligations (Prime Standard) (the “Listing”).

This report has been prepared by our management board 
(the “Management Board”) pursuant to Section 2:391 of 
the Dutch Civil Code (“DCC”) and also contains (i) the 
Company’s statutory annual accounts within the meaning 
of Section 2:361(1) DCC and (ii) to the extent applicable, 
the information to be added pursuant to Section 2:392 
DCC. 

This report relates to the fiscal year ended 31 December 
2017 and, unless explicitly stated otherwise, all financial 
and other information presented in this report is as at 
31 December 2017.

A. INTRODUCTION
A.1 PREPARATION
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This report contains forward-looking statements. A 
forward-looking statement is any statement that does not 
relate to historical facts or events or to facts or events as 
of the date of publication of this report. This applies, in 
particular, to statements in this report containing infor-
mation on Instone Real Estate’s future earnings capacity, 
plans and expectations regarding its business growth and 
profitability, and the general economic conditions to which 
Instone is exposed. Statements made using words such 
as “predicts”, “forecasts”, “plans”, “intends”, “endeavors”, 
“expects” or “targets” may be an indication of forward- 
looking statements. 

The forward-looking statements contained in this report 
are subject to risks and uncertainties, as they relate 
to future events, and are based on estimates and as-
sessments made to the best of the Company’s present 
knowledge. These forward-looking statements are based 
on assumptions, uncertainties and other factors, the oc-
currence or non-occurrence of which could cause Instone 
Real Estate’s actual results, including the financial con-
dition and profitability of Instone, to differ materially from, 
or fail to meet, the expectations expressed or implied in 
the forward-looking statements. These expressions can 
be found in different sections of this report, particularly 
in chapter B.7 of this report, and wherever information is 
contained in this report regarding the Company's inten-
tions, beliefs, or current expectations relating to its future 
financial condition and results of operations, plans, liquidi-
ty, business prospects, growth, strategy and profitability, 
as well as the economic and regulatory environment to 
which Instone is subject.

In light of these uncertainties and assumptions, it is also 
possible that the future events mentioned in this report 
might not occur. In addition, the forward-looking estimates 
and forecasts reproduced in this report from third-par-
ty reports could prove to be inaccurate. Actual results, 
performance or events may differ materially from those in 
such statements due to, among other reasons: changes 
in general economic conditions in Germany, including 
changes in the unemployment rate, the level of consumer 
prices, wage levels etc.; demographic changes, in particu-
lar with respect to Germany; changes affecting interest 
rate levels; changes in the competitive environment, e.g., 

changes in the level of construction activity relating to 
housing; the occurrence of accidents, terrorist attacks, 
natural disasters, fire, or environmental damage; inability 
to attract and retain qualified personnel; political changes; 
changes to the taxation of corporations and particularly 
tax rates for real estate transfer tax (Grunderwerbsteuer); 
and changes in laws and regulations, in particular con-
struction planning law (Bauplanungsrecht), the German 
Real Estate Agent and Commercial Contractor Regulation 
(Makler- und Bauträgerverordnung), as well as environ-
mental laws and regulations.

Moreover, it should be noted that all forward-looking sta-
tements only speak as of the date of this report and that 
the Company does not assume any obligation, except as 
required by law, to update any forward-looking statem-
ent or to conform any such statement to actual events or 
developments. See chapter B.6 of this report for a further 
description of some of the factors that could influence the 
actual outcome of the matters described in the Compa-
ny's forward-looking statements.

A.2 FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
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We are a leading nationwide residential real estate 
developer in Germany1. We develop modern, urban, 
multifamily residential properties and redevelop excisting 
buildings for residential use. As of 31 December 2017, our 
project portfolio comprised 45 development projects with 
an aggregate expected sales volume for fully developed 
projects of more than €3.4 billion. As of that date, approxi-
mately 91% of our portfolio (by expected sales volume for 
fully developed projects) were located in Germany’s key 
metropolitan regions (Berlin, Bonn, Cologne, Dusseldorf, 
Frankfurt am Main, Hamburg, Leipzig, Munich and Stutt-
gart) and 9% in other prospering medium-sized cities. Our 
purchaser groups are owner-occupiers, retail buy-to-let 
investors and institutional investors.
 
We are one of only a few pure play residential real estate 
developers in Germany with operations spanning the 
entire development value chain other than actual const-
ruction. We operate through a fully integrated nationwide 
platform covering the acquisition of land, land develop-
ment, concept design, construction management, as well 
as marketing and sales. Headquartered in Essen, we 
also operate through seven branches in Berlin, Cologne, 
Frankfurt am Main, Hamburg, Leipzig, Munich and Stutt-
gart. Each branch has its own local teams for acquisition, 
planning, construction management and marketing and 
sales activities, while strategic decisions are coordinated 

and managed together with our headquarters. We have 
strong risk management processes in place and apply 
sophisticated reporting and planning tools to mitigate 
development risks. The German Real Estate Agent and 
Commercial Contractor Regulation (Makler- und Bauträ-
gerverordnung (MaBV)) enables us to contractually agree 
on significant fixed down payments based on construction 
milestones for residential units sold to owner-occupiers 
and retail buy-to-let investors which substantially reduces 
our development risk.

The strong backlog of current projects reflects the high 
level of investment activities from 2015 to 2017, in which 
land plots and properties were acquired with an aggrega-
te expected sales volume for fully developed projects of 
€506 million, €974 million (including €48 million attributab-
le to the acquisition of GRK-Holding GmbH (today Instone 
Real Estate Leipzig GmbH)) in 2016 and €879 million in 
2015, respectively. This high level of investment activity 
followed a less active acquisition phase in 2014, while 
Instone Real Estate Development GmbH was still under 
the control of Hochtief Solutions AG, in which land plots 
or properties were acquired with an aggregate expected 
sales volume for fully developed projects of €223 million.

Our core business originates from Hochtief Solutions 
AG’s real estate development division. In 2013, Hochtief 

B. GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT
B.1 ORGANISATION

1	 | 	Selected residential property developers in so-called A-category cities, in 2017
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Solutions AG contributed its development division into 
a separate entity, formart GmbH & Co. KG. In 2014, 
formart GmbH & Co. KG, which has since been renamed 
and converted into Instone Real Estate Development 
GmbH, was acquired by the Company. In 2015, the 
Company acquired the former GRK-Holding GmbH, 
which has since been renamed into Instone Real Estate 
Leipzig GmbH, a real estate developer specialised in 
the redevelopment of listed buildings for residential use. 
In June 2017, Instone Real Estate Development GmbH 
and Instone Real Estate Leipzig GmbH were integrated 
within Instone Real Estate Group N.V., which serves as 
holding company of the Group.

The Management Board of Instone Real Estate Group 
N.V.:

Kruno Crepulja (CEO, 46)
Kruno Crepulja is Chairman of the Management Board/
CEO of Instone Real Estate Group N.V. At the same 
time, he is CEO of Instone Real Estate Development 
GmbH. As its Chief Executive Officer, he is in charge of 
strategy, project service, purchasing, corporate commu-
nications and business development.

Oliver Schmitt (CFO, 53)
Oliver Schmitt is Member of the Management Board/
CFO of Instone Real Estate Group N.V. At the same 
time, he is CFO of Instone Real Estate Development 
GmbH. In his position as the Chief Financial Officer he 
is tasked with commercial project management, human 
resources, financing, finance and accounting, taxation, 
law, IT and corporate control.

Andreas Gräf (CDO, 51)
Andreas Gräf is member of the Management Board/CDO 
of Instone Real Estate Group N.V. At the same time, he is 
COO of Instone Real Estate Development GmbH for the 
branches Northrhine-Westphalia and Rhine-Main. He has 
been working in the construction and real estate sector 
for 30 years. 

Manfred Torsten Kracht (CSO, 50)
Manfred Torsten Kracht is member of the Management 
Board/CSO of Instone Real Estate Group N.V. At the 
same time, he is Managing Director of Instone Real 
Estate Leipzig GmbH. As a member of the Manage-
ment Board of Instone Real Estate’s predecessor, 
GRK-Holding GmbH, Leipzig, he had been in charge of 
sales and project development since 2006 and assu-
med the management of Instone Real Estate Leipzig 
GmbH in 2016.

Former members of the Management Board:

Robert Victor van Beemen, trust lawyer, Managing Di-
rector of Instone Real Estate Group N.V. (from April 2014 
to June 2017)

Stefan Mohr, Head of Corporate Real Estate at Acti-
vumSG Advisory GmbH, Managing Director of Instone 
Real Estate Group N.V. (from April 2015 to June 2017) 
and member of the supervisory board of the Company 
(from February 2018 to date).

We are aware of the fact that women are underrepresen-
ted on the Management Board of Instone Real Estate 
Group N.V. and have been over the past years. The Ma-
nagement Board of Instone Real Estate Group N.V. was 
newly formed in 2017 with members of the Management 
Board from the two subsidiaries.

We will take this into account when appointing individuals 
to chief managerial positions in the future. Instone Real 
Estate will make a serious effort to achieve the goals as 
prescribed by Dutch law regarding equality for men and 
women on the Management Board in the years to come. 
The same applies to the composition of the Supervisory 
Board of Instone Real Estate Group N.V., which was  
established in February 2018.

Instone Real Estate specifically promotes female emplo-
yees through training and further education and through 
special working time models for equal opportunities in 
order to accommodate more women on management 
levels. 
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The strategy of Instone is to create additional value for its 
project portfolio and to keep and further strengthen the 
Company’s competitive position in the German residen-
tial real estate development market. To achieve this, 
the Company will leverage its strong platform and deep 
market knowledge and expand its competitive position 
in the German residential development sector. Also, 
Instone aims to fuel further growth through the realisation 
of growth opportunities, among others in Germany’s key 
metropolitan regions, for which Instone expects further 
growth potential. Instone intends to achieve this as  
follows:

B.2.1 �MAINTAIN AND EXPAND ITS COMPETITIVE 
POSITION IN THE GERMAN RESIDENTIAL 
DEVELOPMENT SECTOR WITH A CONTINUED 
FOCUS ON GERMANY’S KEY METROPOLITAN 
REGIONS.

Instone Real Estate’s exclusive focus on modern ur-
ban mid-rise residential properties and their location in 
Germany’s key metropolitan regions and other prospering 
medium-sized cities in Germany has been a key contri-
buting factor to Instone Real Estate’s success in the past. 
Its regional approach is driven by Germany’s attractive 
growth markets (North Rhine-Westphalia and Rhine Main, 
Baden-Wuerttemberg and Bavaria, Saxony, as well as 
Northern and Eastern Germany) with four regional heads 
and seven branches.

Instone aims to continue to focus on, and seeks to 
strengthen its presence in, metropolitan growth regions 
in Germany (Berlin, Bonn, Cologne, Dusseldorf, Frank-
furt am Main, Hamburg, Leipzig, Munich and Stuttgart) 
as well as on other prospering medium-sized cities such 
as Darmstadt, Dresden, Freiburg, Hanover, Heidelberg, 
Heilbronn, Karlsruhe, Mainz, Mannheim, Potsdam, Ulm 
and Wiesbaden. These metropolitan regions and pros-
pering medium-sized cities present strong demographic 
growth, reinforced by the urbanisation trend, sustainable 
household formation and supportive regionally diversified 
economic backgrounds.

In addition, Instone is also aiming to invest with an oppor-
tunistic approach in particularly attractive areas that are 

likely to benefit from incidental demand, such as Aachen, 
Augsburg, Baden-Baden, Erfurt, Ingolstadt, Halle, Kiel, 
Nuremberg, the Rhine-Main region around Frankfurt am 
Main, Regensburg, the Western Ruhr area, and Wurz-
burg.

B.2.2 �FOCUS ON LAND PLOTS OR PROPERTIES 
WITHOUT ZONING OR PLANNING PERMISSION 
FOR RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT PURPOSES 
AT THE TIME OF ACQUISITION.

The acquisition strategy of Instone Real Estate is driven 
by the aim to achieve attractive margins from project de-
velopments without taking undue risks. To this end, Insto-
ne Real Estate land acquisition strategy focuses primarily 
on land plots or properties without zoning or planning 
permission for residential development purposes at the 
time of acquisition, as it believes that such plots or pro-
perties typically offer a higher potential for value creation 
and less competition than land plots or properties with full 
zoning and planning permission. To manage regulatory 
development risk, Instone relies on its know-how and 
expertise to ensure it has a thorough understanding of 
remaining planning issues and only acquires land plots or 
properties that it considers highly likely to be granted the 
required planning permission in the near future, generally 
following pre-discussions with local building authorities. 
Accordingly, Instone does not invest in land if it does not 
believe it will be able to obtain zoning or planning permis-
sion within this time frame (no speculative land banking). 
Instone also seeks to avoid acquiring land to the extent it 
believes the purchase price already includes a step-up in 
value for future building permission.

Instone Real Estate has an excellent track record in 
developing land plots or properties without zoning or 
planning permission for residential development purposes 
at the time of acquisition, having successfully obtained 
zoning and planning permission for 100% of the land plots 
or properties for which it has submitted an application in 
the period from 1 January 2015 through 31 December 
2017.

In accordance with its acquisition criteria, Instone cons-
tantly aims to identify opportunities to acquire land plots 

B.2 STRATEGY
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or properties in Germany’s key metropolitan regions by 
remaining close to the local markets through its seven 
branches. It focuses on the key German metropolitan 
residential markets while likewise reviewing other large 
and liquid markets that are also of interest for private and 
institutional investors. 

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS OF INSTONE 
REAL ESTATE

Volume of sales contracts
The volume of sales contracts covers all sales-related 
transactions such as notarised sales contracts and 
individual orders from customers, supplemented by rental 
income.

Operating performance
Revenue and changes in inventories make up the opera-
ting performance of Instone Real Estate.

Earnings before tax (EBT)
Instone Real Estate establishes the earnings before tax 
in accordance with the International Financial Reporting 
Standards as adopted in the EU (IFRS).

Volume of new internal acquisition permits
The volume of new internal acquisition permits for Instone 
Real Estate is seen as an indicator for the trend of the 
future business volume – expressed in revenue.
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Sustainable properties create long-term added value for 
investors, owners, users as well as developers. Sus-
tainable action implies the consideration of ecological, 
social and economic aspects during the development of a 
property. The creation, erection, use and management of 
a building cause greenhouse gas emissions. Sustainable 
properties are economically efficient as well as environ-
mentally-friendly as they preserve resources in the long 
run. It is our goal to create an optimal living environment 
which provides comfortable, healthy surroundings to our 
customers.

Instone Real Estate develops, builds, revitalises and mar-
kets residential real estate and city districts in Germany’s 
growth regions. The properties and city districts on the 
one hand meet the needs of residents while on the other 
they are fulfilling complex technical requirements. Thanks 
to new technologies and digital progress, Instone Real 
Estate properties provide an attractive infrastructure and 
a high quality of use. This helps to accomplish a long-
term acceptance of new and revitalised properties in 
inner-city locations. 

In line with the core values of sustainability which include 
the re-use, secondary use and extension of the life cycle 
within a suitable time frame, we develop and restore listed 
buildings. We revitalise Gründerzeit architecture and 
repurpose special real estate. 

For us as equal public-sector partner, this sustainable 
real estate development includes the conceptualisation of 
building rights for complex properties. This comprises the 
realisation of modern city residences, the construction of 
complete residential areas or residential complexes with a 
high share of barrier-free residential units plus the consi-
deration of subsidised and low-rent residences.

The early commitment between Instone Real Estate 
and municipalities and organisations to the sustainable 
development of zoning and land use plans as well as to 
the shaping of urban development contracts guarantees 
optimal results.

As a matter of fact, in developing our old and new proper-
ties we comply with current energy-saving regulations, as 

we are striving to keep the consumption of energy both 
low during the construction and the later operation of the 
buildings. This results in low operating expenses. 

Instone Real Estate is a member of relevant associations 
of the real estate industry, including the Zentraler Immo-
bilien Ausschuss (ZIA) and the Bundesverband Freier 
Immobilien- und Wohnungsunternehmen (bfw). Further-
more, Instone Real Estate is involved in different commit-
tees that aim to positively influence shared regulations in 
Germany, including those regarding sustainable property. 
We also regularly participate in market analyses and con-
duct customer surveys to adapt our residential properties 
to the needs of potential owners and users.

In intensive meetings, we advise our customers on 
decoration options and technical solutions. Our aim 
is to create flexible living space that encompasses all 
target groups. This is why the residential units and living 
forms developed by Instone Real Estate in both new and 
restored pre-war buildings are always at least low-barrier 
solutions, if not barrier-free solutions.

B.3 SUSTAINABILITY
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As at 31 December 2017, Instone Real Estate employed 
a total of 301 staff compared to 292 in the previous year, 
including the team members of its foreign subsidiaries. 

The international locations employed two employees 
in Luxembourg and one in Vienna (as at 31 December 
2017). The number of staff remained unchanged as 
expected, respectively with two withdrawals in Austria. 
During the previous years 2014 and 2015, restructuring 
activities at both locations had preceded, which led to a 
noticeable reduction of personnel.

B.4 STAFF
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The consolidated financial statements of Instone Real 
Estate Group N.V. for the year 2017 were influenced by  
effects resulting from the expansion of the scope of 
consolidation in prior years. The Group division formart 
GmbH & Co KG, Essen, Germany, which operates today 
as Instone Real Estate Development GmbH, was 
consolidated for the first time on 1 October 2014. This 
consolidation led to the formation of Instone Real Estate 
Group N.V. as a group. The Group division GRK-Holding 
GmbH, Leipzig, Germany, which operates today as 
Instone Real Estate Leipzig GmbH, was included in the 
consolidated financial statements for the first time on 31 
December 2015.

B.5.1 NET ASSETS

The total assets of Instone Real Estate rose to €789.1 
million (31 December 2016: €685.2 million). This was 
primarily due to the increase of inventories to €659.4 mil-
lion (84%) from €542.7 million (79%) as at 31 December 
2016. Inventories essentially include unfinished products 
from ongoing project developments, the share of which 
grew to €659.4 million in 2017 compared to €537.6 million 
in the previous year. Finished products were valued at 
€0.1 million (31 December 2016: €5.1 million). The decrea-
se is due to the sale and subsequent handover of finished 
condominiums. Existing trade receivables for the year 
under review were down to €4.2 million (31 December 
2016: €19.6 million) as the projects accounted for using 
the percentage of completion (PoC method) were almost 
totally handed over to the customer in 2017.

Due to the first-time consolidation of Instone Real Estate 
Development GmbH in 2014 and Instone Real Estate Leip-
zig GmbH in 2015, inventories as of 31 December 2017 still 
included €50.5 million (31 December 2016: €71.9 million) 
step-ups from the purchase price allocations. Based on 
our current assumptions, we assume that these effects will 
expire in 2022.

Total inventories minus received upfront payments 
increased from €381.2 million to €429.0 million during 
the year under review. This was primarily due to a higher 
increase in inventories by €116.8 million compared to 
the €68.8 million increase of received upfront payments. 

The capitalised work done to the inventories was partially 
higher than the received upfront payments. This was due 
to the restrictions of German law which does not allow to 
receive the customer payments earlier than the construc-
tion is in line. Accordingly, the financing of inventories by 
upfront payments received deteriorated slightly.

The equity-method investments, which include 
shareholdings in project companies, dropped from €1.4 
million to €0.4 million in the financial year 2017. The 
decrease was due to the dividend pay-out by Projekt-
entwicklungsgesellschaft Holbeinviertel mbH & Co. KG, 
Frankfurt am Main, in 2017.

The non-current financial receivables included a loan 
from the Group company west.side gmbH, Bonn, to the 
co-shareholder Dresdner Handel und Beratungsgesell-
schaft mbH, Dresden, valued at €0.7 million (31 Decem-
ber 2016: €0.7 million).

The current financial receivables of €32.4 million (prior 
year: €0.2 million) resulted in receivables to associated 
companies. These included €32.3 million receivables 
to the majority shareholders for the indemnity of other 
operating expenses and personnel costs relating to the 
planned private placement and the Company’s listing on 
the Frankfurt Stock Exchange. These receivables were 
based on a cost-sharing and indemnity agreement and an 
indemnification agreement.

Other receivables and other assets (current) rose 
from €5.6 million to €15.5 million in 2017. In the year under 
review, other receivables were accounted relating to a tax 
indemnification of €2.8 million by Hochtief Solutions AG, 
Essen, Germany, capitalised transaction costs of €2.5 
million, €1.7 million receivables from a sale of voting rights 
of a subsidiary in amount and bails as contract performance 
guarantee of €1.0 million. The comprised contingent items 
grew from €0.8 million to €2.3 million for upfront payments 
on land where the transfer of use and encumbrances occur-
red after the individual balance sheet date. Moreover, ch-
anges to already paid arrangement fees which were spread 
over the term of the €2.5 million loans in the financial year 
2017 (31 December 2016: €0.5 million) contributed to the 
volatility of other receivables and other assets. Also, the 

B.5 NET ASSETS, FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
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rise of tax receivables from €2.8 million to €3.2 million in 
2017 was essentially the result of refund claims in connec-
tion with the German Value Added Tax Act (Section 13b) 
(Umsatzsteuergesetz). These items were largely respon-
sible for the fluctuations over the financial years. 

Cash and cash equivalents declined from €112.5 million 
in 2016 to €73.6 million in the financial year 2017, which 
was mainly the result of a cash outflow for the investment 
in new land for project development. We refer to the con-
solidated statement of cash flows.

Non-current provisions for pensions and similar ob-
ligations increased slightly by €0.1 million to €4.2 million 
in 2017. The values for provisions resulted from offsetting 
the plan assets of €5.6 million (31 December 2016: €5.4 
million). Plan assets of €5.0 million (31 December 2016: 
€4.9 million) were placed in a trustee deposit with Helaba 
Pension Trust e. V., Frankfurt am Main, and €0.6 million 
(31 December 2016: €0.6 million) in a trustee deposit 
with the European Bank for Financial Services GmbH 
(ebase®), Aschheim.

The remaining other non-current provisions for the 
year under review decreased from €12.4 million to €1.3 
million in 2017. This was a result of personnel-related 
provisions which went down from €11.7 million in 2016 to 
€0.7 million in 2017. The reason for this was essentially 
the transition of maturity of the liabilities for special pay-
ments in connection with a long-term incentive scheme to 
the current provisions.

Other current provisions for the year under review 
increased by €22.6 million – from €25.6 million at 31 
December 2016 to €49.2 million. This was primarily due 
to the transition of maturity of the liabilities for payments 
in connection with a long-term incentive scheme from 
the €11.1 million non-current provisions, the increase in 
current personnel-related provisions by €17.0 million and a 
decrease by €5.5 million in other current provisions mainly 
due to project-related provisions for warranty risks and 
litigation risks.

Non-current financial liabilities for the financial year 
2017 were reduced to €241.0 million (31 December 2016: 

€300.9 million). €48.0 million of the liabilities towards the 
shareholders of Instone Real Estate Group N.V. were 
converted into equity in 2017. During the year 2017, 
interests were capitalised, so that at the end of 2017, the 
liabilities to shareholders still amounted to €57.8 million 
(31 December 2016: €96.6 million). Instone Real Estate 
Development GmbH was able to sustainably improve its 
liquidity by first-time placement of a promissory note loan 
worth €66.9 million. The non-current financial liabilities to 
banks for project related financing decreased during the 
reporting year.

The non-current financial liabilities as at 31 December 
2016 had included a €52.4 million financial liability relating 
to a mezzanine financing. This facility was fully repaid 
to the lender in the year under review, and Instone Real 
Estate was able to sustainably lower its interest burden 
through its early repayment.

The current financial liabilities grew to €134.7 million 
(31 December 2016: €81.6 million). The increase of the 
current financial liabilities by €53.1 million was mainly due 
to two effects: Within an amount of €88.9 million new pro-
ject-related loans from banks were taken over and €21.5 
million liabilities for the call and put option for the shares 
in Instone Real Estate Development GmbH at 31 Decem-
ber 2016 were fully redeemed in the year under review. 

The financing of a special project constituted a crucial 
component of other current financial liabilities, which were 
valued €12.5 million at 31 December 2016 and were fully 
redeemed in the year under review.

Trade payables increased to €275.7 million in the 
financial year 2017 (31 December 2016: €215.2 million). 
This was primarily due to the capitalisation of the upfront 
payments. These amounted to €230.4 million received for 
new sales of condominiums or further instalments accor-
ding to the ongoing construction of sold condominiums 
that were attributed as inventories. 

The first-time consolidation of Instone Real Estate De-
velopment GmbH in the financial year 2014 and the first-
time consolidation of Instone Real Estate Leipzig GmbH 
in the financial year 2015 had essentially generated 
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deferred tax liabilities on newly-valued inventories. 
Mainly due to this effect the deferred tax liabilities as at 
31 December 2017 fell to €7.7 million from €23.4 million 
in the previous year. They included deferred tax liabili-
ties generated by the development of step-up effects on 
inventories of €17.0 million (31 December 2016: €23.9 
million). 

The Income tax liabilities increased to €13.8 million (31 
December 2016: 6.2 million) due to the income taxes on 
increased profits of the German group entities.

The equity ratio as at 31 December 2017 was 6.6% 
(31 December 2016: 0.4%). The clear increase in 2017 
was at first due to the €48.0 million shareholder loan 
conversion into equity from 28 December 2017. Second, it 
was owed to the contribution from shareholders in equity 
of €32.3 million by the cost-sharing and indemnification 
agreements from shareholders in favour of Instone Real 
Estate Group N.V. These were entered for the indemnity 
of other operating expenses and personnel costs relating 
to the planned private placement and the Company’s 
listing on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange. Third, neutral ch-
anges in equity were the result of  the actuarial gains and 
losses from defined benefit plans in the amount of €0.9 
million (31 December 2016: €-1.2 million). In contrast to 
these positive effects equity was influenced by the nega-
tive overall result of €31.0 million in the year under review. 
The shareholdings of other shareholders decreased by 
€0.5 million compared to the previous year. The decrease 
was connected to the dividend pay-out of GRK REVION 
Hamburg GmbH, Leipzig, Germany which had already 
been fully consolidated in the previous year.

B.5.2 FINANCIAL POSITION

The cash flow of Instone Real Estate in the financial year 
2017 was essentially affected by cash outflow for invest-
ments in new project developments, which were opposed 
by inflows after entering into new financing contracts. As 
in previous years, outgoing payments for the acquisition 
of the two Group divisions had impact on the cash flow, 
combined with the realignment of the financing structure 
of Instone Real Estate.

In 2017, Instone Real Estate continued to expand its pro-
ject development business by investing in new land plots 
and simultaneously, the scope of financing for bank loans 
increased to €664.6 million (31 December 2016: €334.7 
million). This new project financing and the €66.9 million 
first-time placement of a promissory note by Instone Real 
Estate Development GmbH increased liabilities to €317.4 
million (31 December 2016: €197,2 million).

The capital structure of Instone Real Estate as at 31 
December 2017 was defined by a 6.6% equity ratio (31 
December 2016: 0.4%). However, the non-current finan-
cial liabilities contained liabilities towards shareholders 
valued at €57.8 million (31 December 2016: €96.6 million). 
This corresponded to a 13.9% share (31 December 2016: 
14.5%) in the balance sheet total.

As part of the placement of the promissory note by 
Instone Real Estate Development GmbH, we were able  
to raise various loan tranches of credit institutions. The  
maturity structure of the individual tranches was as  
follows:

in € million 2017

Due to 31.12.2020 47.0

Due to 31.12.2022 19.9

Debt financing drawn from financial institutions to finance 
projects increased to €250.5 million (31 December 
2016: €209.7 million (including mezzanine financing)). 
The ongoing cash inflow from our project developments 
reduced this item constantly, providing sufficient flexibility 
to procure additional debt capital – for example, for the 
acquisition of land.

Cash flow from financing activities rose to €18.2 mil-
lion in the financial year 2017 (2016: €8.5 million), which 
was primarily due to inpayments relating to new borro-
wings. These exceeded the outpayments from repay-
ments and the outpayments for interest. 
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Payments due for project-related financing are shown in 
the following table:

in € million 2017 2016

Due to 31.12.2018  
(2016: due to 31.12.2017)

134.2 57.8

Due to 31.12.2019  
(2016: due to 31.12.2018)

61.7 109.3

Due to 31.12.2020  
(2016: due to 31.12.2019)

10.3 42.6

The individual project-related financing of Instone Real 
Estate was negotiated with multiple financial institutions 
and was subject to varying terms and conditions. For a 
draw-down of funds under fixed-rate loans or term loans, 
different amounts and frequencies have been agreed. 
The 2017 interest rate conditions were at the level of the 
previous year.

Funds required at short notice can be procured using 
overdraft facilities that have been agreed with the indi-
vidual banks. To compensate for interest, any payments 
already received go to these overdraft facilities which the 
purchasers of our properties pay into separately managed 
omnibus accounts dedicated to purchase price payments. 
If required, these overdraft facilities can be converted into 
fixed-rate loans or term loans.

The cash flow from investing activities in the financial 
year 2017 sank slightly to a cash outflow of €22.7 million 
(2016: cash outflow of €21.8 million). It was in principle 
defined by the exercise of the third tranche of the call and 
put option by the former controlling shareholder of Instone 
Real Estate Development GmbH, Hochtief Solutions AG. 
It led to a cash outflow of €22.5 million. 

During the year under review, we invested €0.5 million 
(2016: €0.4 million) in property, plant and equipment. The 
key investments were technical and other office equip-
ment.

The net cash flow from operating activities of Instone 
Real Estate of €-34.5 million in the financial year 2017 

(2016: €87.7 million) was characterised by the increase 
in cash outflow from new investing in land for project 
developments: The increase in inventories of unfinished 
products as well as the decrease in the volume of recei-
vables resulted in an aggregate cash outflow of €106.5 
million in the year under review (2016: €41.5 million).  
This resulted from investments in land as well as project- 
related activities in 2017 and in previous years.

The inflow of upfront payments of €68.8 million had a 
positive effect on the cash flow from operating activities in 
the financial year 2017. 

The depreciation of fixed assets of €0.4 million (2016: 
€0.4 million), the increase of provisions by €12.5 million 
from €15.0 million in 2016, the decrease of deferred tax 
liabilities and increase of deferred tax assets by €15.7 
million from €12.9 million in 2016 and the increase of re-
valuations of interest held at equity by €1.0 million (2016: 
€-1.3 million) in the financial year 2017 were cash neutral. 
Non-cash expenditures in connection with the consolidati-
on of the subsidiaries increased cash flow from operating 
activities in the financial year 2017 by €31.2 million (2016: 
€23.5 million). 

As at 31 December 2017, financial resources had decrea-
sed to €73.6 million (2016: €112.5 million). This included 
resources that were not related to the ongoing financing 
(free cash) in the total amount of €58.7 million (2016: 
€91.1 million).

Following the successful extension of certain guaran-
tee facility agreements with renowned credit insurers, 
financing for Instone Real Estate was further secured and 
diversified.

As at 31 December 2017, a €185.2 million surety line of in-
surances was available (2016: €185.0 million). An amount 
of €99.4 million was drawn under such a surety line (2016: 
€102.7 million). This provided flexibility for further invest-
ments in the financial year 2018. Project-related financing 
agreements supplied further €16.7 million surety volumes 
(2016: €137.8 million), of which €1.4 million (2016: €2.3 
million) was being used as at 31 December 2017.
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B.5.3 RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

For the financial year 2017, the operating performance of 
Instone Real Estate decreased to €319.9 million (2016: 
€362.5 million). Due to a decline in construction work for 
project developments, the cost of materials went down to 
€244.8 million (2016: €293.7 million). This corresponded 
to 76.5% of the operating performance (2016: 81.0%). In 
the year under review, changes in inventories were lower 
than in the previous year due to deliveries of products to 
customers. The production costs of projects under const-
ruction have only partially compensated for this reduction 
as fewer projects are under construction. The operating 
perfomance in 2017 was negatively affected by the amor-
tisation of the step-up of the purchase price allocation 
of Instone Real Estate Development GmbH and Instone 
Real Estate Leipzig GmbH in the amount of €23.1 million 
(2016: €49.9 million).

The decrease of cost of materials in 2017 by €48.9 million 
to €244.8 million (2016: €293.7 million) corresponded 
mainly to the decrease of the consolidated operating 
performance. This decrease was due to a decline in 
construction work for multi-annual project developments 
compared to the previous year. 

Staff costs increased by €14.3 million to €49.5 million in 
2017 (2016: €35.2 million). This increase was primarily 
due to expenses for payments in connection with a long-
term incentive scheme in the financial year 2017.

Other operating income of €5.4 million (2016: €8.3 million) 
essentially included the one-off refund for the sale of 
voting rights and for a better fortunes clause – in total 
€2.7 million (2016: €0.0 million) – as well as €0.9 million 
income from the reduction of impairment and the reversal 
of provisions (2016: €1.4 million). 

Other operating expenses of €41.5 million (2016: €42.4 
million) decreased slightly by €0.9 million. The reduction 
of commission fees and other distribution costs by €5.7 
million was primarily the result of the lower volume of sa-
les contracts in 2017. This effect was partially offset both 
by the €4.0 million rise in business consulting, attorneys’ 
and notaries’ fees mainly relating to the planned private 

placement and the Company’s listing on the Frankfurt 
Stock Exchange and other overhead costs.

In 2017, the result from €0.2 million equity-method 
investments (2016: €1.3 million) included the €0.9 million 
decrease in value of Projektentwicklungsgesellschaft 
Holbeinviertel mbH & Co. KG, Frankfurt am Main (2016: 
increase of €1.4 million). 

From the effects shown, essentially due to the higher 
staff costs, the consolidated result of operating activities 
(EBITDA) in the financial year 2017 declined significantly 
by €11.7 million and resulted in a loss of €10.4 million 
(2016: profit of €1.3 million).

The 2017 financial result improved to €-20.4 million (2016: 
€-24.8 million). A decisive contributing factor was the 
reduction of interest costs by €3.7 million. Further impro-
vement in the financial result is attributable to an increase 
in interest income and reductions in interest components 
from the increase in provisions.

As at 31 December 2017, earnings before tax resulted 
in a loss of €31.2 million (2016: loss of 24.0 million). This 
higher loss compared to the previous year is mainly due 
to the higher staff costs for payments in connection with a 
long-term incentive scheme. The lower financing costs as 
well as the lower balance of operating performance and 
cost of materials could partly mitigate this effect.

In the financial year 2017, €0.2 million tax income (2016: 
€1.8 million) slightly improved the consolidated result. 
The release of deferred tax liabilities mainly due to the 
write-down of the revaluation of inventories from the first-
time consolidation of Instone Real Estate Development 
GmbH and Instone Real Estate Leipzig GmbH resulted 
in a profit of €15.3 million (2016: €12.6 million). This was 
offset by €15.1 million expenses from corporate income 
taxes and trade taxes (2016: €10.8 million) due to the 
taxation of the higher positive results in the subsidiaries.

Earnings after tax of Instone Real Estate totalled €-31.0 
million (2016: €-22.2 million); due to the effects shown, 
they were significantly lower than in the previous year 
mainly to the higher staff costs.
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The impact on equity by the 2017 loss of €31.0 million was 
offset by the contribution from shareholders in equity with 
a profit of €32.3 million by the cost-sharing and indemnifi-
cation agreements from shareholders in favour of Instone 
Real Estate Group N.V.

B.5.4 �OTHER FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE  
INDICATORS

In 2017, volume of sales contracts decreased to €359.1 
million (2016: €519.3 million), the number of sales cont-
racts including residential units sank to 826 (2016: 1,129). 
This decrease was justified by a postponement of sales 
launches and of two block sales.

For the year under review, Instone Real Estate generated 
a total amount of revenue and changes in inventories 
worth €319.9 million (2016: €362.5 million) – including a 
€94.8 million share for land plot purchases (2016: €127.8 
million); therefore €225.1 million (2016: €234.7 million) 
were attributed to project implementation.

The volume of newly internal acquisition permits reached 
€506.1 million in 2017 (2016: €878.9 million). This lead to 
a project portfolio corresponding to an aggregate expec-
ted sales volume of €3.4 billion as at 31 December 2017.



IRE_G Group Financial Statements 2017 

21

E.
 O

TH
ER

 IN
FO

R
M

AT
IO

N
 

D
. �C

O
R

PO
R

AT
E 

 
G

O
VE

R
N

A
N

C
E

C
. �C

O
N

SO
LI

D
AT

ED
  

FI
N

A
N

C
IA

L 
ST

AT
EM

EN
TS

B
. �G

R
O

U
P 

M
A

N
A

G
EM

EN
T 

 
R

EP
O

R
T

A
. I

N
TR

O
D

U
C

TI
O

N
 

B
. �G

R
O

U
P 

M
A

N
A

G
EM

EN
T 

 
R

EP
O

R
T

The risk policy of Instone Real Estate has the aim of ad-
vancing the Group’s successful development and profita-
bility in the long term. Our sophisticated risk management 
system is key to achieving this goal. It employs proactive 
risk control to minimise potential impacts.

B.6.1 RISK MANAGEMENT SYSTEM

Instone Real Estate has installed a risk management 
system which identifies potential risks, assesses the 
risks identified and mitigates these. This particularly 
applies to risks whose effects could jeopardise the 
continued existence of Instone Real Estate as a going 
concern. We continued to apply our proven risk ma-
nagement system throughout the financial year 2017. 
Moreover, we extended the risk management system to 
include the Instone Real Estate Leipzig GmbH (for-
merly GRK-Holding GmbH). In general, the aim of the 
Group is to recognise risks and secure them at an early 
stage. However, some industry-standard risks (i.e. risks 
of delay in permission of building rights) must be taken 
that can not be secured. Their successful handling in 
the past has given the Group advantages over compe-
titors.

Together with external partners we continue to work 
towards optimising this system. All applicable internal 
regulations, rules of procedure and arrangements that 
vouch for a Group-wide standard, structured approach 
to risks are regularly subjected to an internal review. In 
2017, for example, we continued with the evaluation of all 
applicable internal regulations. This review and evaluation 
is an ongoing and continuous process. In 2017, we also 
completely revised some of the Company’s guidelines. 
Moreover, based on the rules of procedure for the Ma-
nagement Board of Instone Real Estate – and taking into 
consideration current laws and relevant case law – we 
further developed the decision-making policy that applies 
to the entire Group. This essentially governs the material 
process flows and decision-making approvals within the 
entire Group that are subject to approval.

Central risk-controlling elements include internal approval 
processes for critical decisions, and the dual-control prin-
ciple. The powers of the individual decision-making levels 

are clearly defined by the policies on decision-making. 
For example, each new project, including the date of its 
sales start, must be approved by the Management Board. 
Beforehand, Instone Real Estate’s acquisition projects 
must undergo an intensive selection process which al-
ways also involves the Management Board. Upon release 
of the project, requirements specific to the project are 
automatically issued to mitigate risks. Material changes or 
digressions of the projects from approved specifications 
or parameters must be laid out in detail and are discussed 
during the scheduled monthly forecast and results mee-
tings with the Management Board.

We raise and evaluate opportunities and risks at project 
level monthly and summarise them in reports. This cons-
titutes the foundation on which talks are held each month 
within the project team, as well as forecast and results di-
scussions with the Management Board. All risks related to 
approved projects as well as tied to imminent acquisitions 
and the respective measures to mitigate risks are defined 
during these meetings.

During the financial year 2017, the Compliance System 
which was developed in 2015 and was specifically tailored 
to the needs of Instone Real Estate, was driven forward. 
It explicitly targets the Company’s risk fields that are the 
direct result of developing residential property. It provides 
additional support to our employees in handling laws, 
regulations, decrees and other requirements. For the 
first time we used an eLearning system in 2017 to train 
our employees in compliance and data protection. This 
system enables us to provide our employees with current 
general and task-specific information. 

The Compliance System was expanded in the beginning 
of 2018 in preparation for the private placement and the 
Listing on Frankfurt Stock Exchange. Among other things, 
an internal compliance hotline has been set up where 
employees can anonymously address any violations or 
grievances at Instone. Furthermore, an organisational 
structure for ad hoc announcements and other informati-
on requiring disclosure was implemented in order to meet 
the requirements of capital market compliance, in particu-
lar to fulfil the post-admission obligations which apply to 
the Company since the listing of its shares.

B.6 RISK REPORT 
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We believe that our overall risk management system (as 
discussed above and in chapters B.6.2, B.6.3 and C.2.4 
of this report) also encompassed, and sufficiently safe-
guarded the integrity of, our financial reporting. However, 
during the fiscal year ended 31 December 2017, we did 
not have a specific formal risk management and control 
system relating to the process of financial reporting by the 
Company and our subsidiaries whose financial informati-
on is included in our consolidated financial statements.

B.6.2 �IN-CONTROL AND RESPONSIBILITY  
STATEMENTS

On the basis of reports and information provided to our 
Managing Directors, our Management Board is of the 
opinion that:

a.	this report provides sufficient insight into any failings in 
the effectiveness of the Company’s risk management 
and control systems;

b.	the Company’s risk management and control systems 
provide reasonable assurance that the Company’s 
financial reporting does not contain material inaccura-
cies;

c.	based on the Company’s state of affairs as at the date 
of this report, it is justified that the Company’s financial 
reporting is prepared on a going concern basis; and

d.	this report states those material risks and uncertainties 
that are relevant to the expectation of the Company’s 
continuity for a period of twelve months after the date of 
this report.

Furthermore, our Management Board confirms that:

a.	to the best of their knowledge, the statutory annual ac-
counts included in this report give a true and fair view of 
the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss 
of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries taken 
as a whole; and

b.	this report includes a fair review concerning the 
financial position, on the balance sheet date, and the 

development and performance of the business of the 
Company and its consolidated subsidiaries as a whole, 
together with a description of the principal risks and 
uncertainties that they face.

B.6.3 RISKS
 
Material threats from Instone Real Estate’s operating acti-
vities result primarily from potential changes in the market 
situation:

•	 revenue risks due to a market-related reduction in de-
mand and any potential-related decline in prices

•	 revenue risks due to changes in demand implying that 
the planning concept may no longer adequately cater to 
market requirements

•	 cost risks from higher purchase prices (price increases 
for the contract work)

•	 cost risks from unplanned costs in relation to the resto-
ration of listed buildings

•	 interest and financing risks (for example, increase in the 
level of interest rates)

•	 performance delivery risks due to delays in applying 
building rights

•	 litigations

Additionally, there are potential risks that could be trigge-
red internally:

•	 cash flow bottlenecks

•	 loss of knowledge/loss of qualified personnel

•	 loss of reputation following the integration of the formart 
and GRK trademarks, into the new umbrella trademark, 
Instone Real Estate

We deem the revenue risk as result of a decline in demand 
to be very low under current general market conditions.
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Our risk management ensures that during the approval 
process and sales release procedure for projects, the 
planned sales proceeds and the speed of marketing 
activities are critically examined and questioned by the 
Management Board. By establishing a pre-sales rate, 
we can test the planned purchase prices and the project 
development concept on the market. Should this result 
in either the concept not being accepted by the market 
or the anticipated sales prices not being achievable, the 
project undergoes a readjustment and a renewed review. 
At the same time this allows us to identify and exploit 
opportunities for increasing the purchase price.

We lower cost risks by entering into long-term partners-
hips with our subcontractors and retaining contractors as 
early as possible for key contract work. Moreover, product 
standards undergo an ongoing development to achieve 
a very high cost certainty for the individual projects. The 
Project Service department is tasked with costing for all 
branches and in doing so can rely on experience gained 
from all projects throughout Germany. Likewise, we re-
gularly prepare a costing analysis from figures based on 
experience gathered from projects already implemented, 
to test the cost approach recurrently. We deem the impact 
of cost risks at a medium level.

The restoration of listed buildings involves specific risks 
from unplanned costs. In acquiring the GRK Group in 2015 
we gained specific know-how in relation to this on the one 
hand; on the other, these specific cost risks are included 
in the context of our project planning and calculation. The 
impact of this risk is deemed as low.

The projects are financed via bank loans and a propor-
tionate share of equity. The current low level of interest 
rates makes it possible for us to finance the project’s 
cost effectively. A significant rise in interest rates at 
short notice is currently not foreseeable. For longer-term 
projects, we calculate with higher interest rates based 
on the principle of prudence. To preferably ensure high 
certainty concerning interest rates for our projects, 
we ask that banks, at the time of enquiring about the 
financing of investments, in addition to their financing 
terms, also provide so-called term sheets, or request 
completely prepared and arranged financing contracts. 

The resulting financing conditions, especially the rate 
of interest, are taken into consideration in the projects’ 
profitability analyses. For further explanations on how 
we manage cash flow, interest and default risks, we 
refer to the explanations in the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements. As a result and in connection with 
current market invorimentes, Instone Real Estate asses 
the risk as low.

To secure the Company’s solvency, we continuously mo-
nitor our cash flow based on the individual projects. Even 
cash flow forecasts of relevant acquisition projects are 
taken into consideration in the cash flow planning at an 
early point in time following the prior approval by the Ma-
nagement Board. Instone Real Estate’s business model 
greatly limits default risk. We can recognise potential cash 
flow bottlenecks at an early stage and avoid these by pro-
cessing cash flow forecasts from the individual projects, 
organising the cash flow planning at a higher level and 
continually monitoring the relevant cash flows.

Other risks concerning our projects, for example vanda-
lism or fire, are insured accordingly (liability insurance, 
contractor’s all risk insurance, insurance against fire du-
ring the construction phase). Beyond this, we have taken 
out additional Group-wide insurance policies to avoid any 
potential damage for Instone Real Estate.

In order to mitigate performance delivery risks due to 
delays in applying building rights, Instone Real Estate 
relies on its strong regional network and expertise for a 
thorough analysis of remaining zoning or planning issues. 
The Company only acquires land plots and properties 
that it considers highly likely to be granted the required 
planning permission in the near future, generally following 
pre-discussions with local building authorities. This risk is 
rated medium.

Instone Real Estate mitigates litigation risks by using 
standard terms and conditions in the agreements with 
purchasers, architects, construction companies and using 
a standard sales contract with its customers. Additionally, 
potential litigation risks are identified and analysed in ac-
cordance with our Group-wide Compliance System. The 
impact of this risk is evaluated as low for the Group.
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The loss of reputation and image following the merger of 
the formart and GRK trademarks into the new umbrella 
trademark, Instone Real Estate, has not had any significant 
impact on our operating activities (as originally assumed). 
Maintaining the good name was therefore the focus of our 
interest. The brand launch was therefore accompanied by 
a broad kick-off campaign. Our ‘Gemeinsam geht mehr’ 
(Achieving more together) motto highlights the values of 
our new umbrella brand. With our powerful new brand, we 
emphasise the aspects of experience, trust, and fairness. 

Additionally, our employees are the flagship of the entire 
Group and form the link to customers and business 
partners. The specific targeting and development of qua-
lified personnel helps us to ensure that we always place 
employees with outstanding training in positions that suit 
their profile. This is the best approach to developing the 
image of the Instone Real Estate trademark and to retain 
sufficiently qualified key personnel. We deem the impact 
of this risk at a low level.

In summary, this results in a risk sphere that is common 
for the business field. By reviewing risks early and dealing 
with them openly, we can act early to mitigate them. The 
residual risks are minor and do not have any major impact 
on Instone Real Estate’s continued existence.

None of the risks described above influenced the finan-
cial position of the financial year 2017 significantly and 
therefore no remedial measures to the risk management 
system were necessary. It is not possible to estimate the 
possible consequences of significant risks that may mate-
rialise in the future and that may not be controlled by our 
risk management system.
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Instone is one of the largest housing project developers in 
Germany (number 2 company in the residential segment 
according to the bulwiengesa AG project developer study 
2017/2018).It's focus is on trading development – i.e. the 
development of properties intended for sale – as well as 
condominiums.

Instone has eight locations and realises projects through
out Germany. All target cities defined have a higher- 
than-average housing demand and a below-average risk 
in German-wide comparison.

Our current strategy of investing in inner-city and subur-
ban locations of A-cities as well as in other target cities 
offers good long-term market opportunities. Therefore, 
we continue to invest in large-scale realisations combined 
with rental housing construction to develop attractive 
urban neighborhoods.

In addition to investing in new properties for the project 
business, we do not plan any significant investments 
in long-term assets for the year 2018. We also plan to 
expand our financing activities to include project-related 
financing. Changes to the company's finances are not 
planned.

As in previous years, we will not incur any significant 
expenses for research and development in 2018.

For 2018, we do not expect any significant changes in the 
number of personnel.

For the financial year 2018, we expect the volume of 
concluded sales contracts to increase to more than €500 
million based on projects available for sale or ready for 
the start of the marketing phase. 

Based on the planned handovers for 2018, we expect an 
operating performance of more than €500 million and an 
adjusted EBT between €25 million and €30 million. We 
expect better operating results for the future as the effects 
of PPA will not impact future results as much compared to 
previous years.

B.7 OUTLOOK



IRE_G Group Financial Statements 2017 

26

E.
 O

TH
ER

 IN
FO

R
M

AT
IO

N
 

D
. �C

O
R

PO
R

AT
E 

 
G

O
VE

R
N

A
N

C
E

C
. �C

O
N

SO
LI

D
AT

ED
  

FI
N

A
N

C
IA

L 
ST

AT
EM

EN
TS

B
. �G

R
O

U
P 

M
A

N
A

G
EM

EN
T 

 
R

EP
O

R
T

A
. I

N
TR

O
D

U
C

TI
O

N
 

B
. �G

R
O

U
P 

M
A

N
A

G
EM

EN
T 

 
R

EP
O

R
T

On 22 January 2018, Instone Real Estate published the 
press release about the planned listing of its shares on 
the regulated market of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange 
(Prime Standard) in 2018. As part of the planned pre-
vious private placement, both new and existing shares 
were planned to be offered. As a result of a capital 
increase, new shares were planned to be issued with 
gross proceeds to the Company, and existing shares 
were planned to be offered by the Company’s sharehol-
ders, funds launched by ActivumSG Capital Manage-
ment Limited.

On 13 February 2018, part of the Company’s share 
premium was converted into share capital, thereby 
increasing the Company’s share capital from €8,386.00 
to €50,316.00 and, following the effectiveness of the 
conversion of the Company into a public limited liability 
company (naamloze vennootschap) and the change of its 
name which took place in this context, from €50,316.00 
to 29,988,336.00. On the same day, a further capital in-
crease took place according to which €7,000,000.00 new 
shares were issued with a par value of €1.00 each. These 
measures together resulted in an increase of the Compa-
ny’s share capital to €36,988,336.00.

On 13 February 2018, the Placement was completed, and 
on 15 February 2018 the Company’s shares were listed 
on the regulated market (Prime Standard) of the Frankfurt 
Stock Exchange. 

In the Placement, a total of 19,900,000 shares were 
placed with institutional investors. The placed shares con-
sisted of 7,000,000 new shares from the capital increase 
and 12,900,000 existing shares held by the Company’s 
shareholders Coöperatieve Activum SG Fund III Invest-
ments U.A., Coöperatieve Formart Investments U.A. and 
Coöperatieve Activum SG Fund V, including additional 
shares from an over-allotment option. The placement 
price for the shares of the Company was €21.50.

Around €56 million of the net proceeds from the capital 
increase were used to fully repay an existing shareholder 
loan. With the remaining approximately €86.0 million, 
the Company plans to finance the acquisition and de-
velopment of new housing projects and other corporate 

expenses. One portion of this remaining capital was also 
used to repay an intercompany loan.

The free float on 23 April 2018 was around 50.4%. The 
remaining shares were still held by Coöperatieve Activum 
SG Fund III Investments U.A., Coöperatieve Formart 
Investments U.A. and Coöperatieve Activum SG Fund V.

In addition, certain of the Company’s organisational 
documents were revised (and additional internal rules 
were adopted) so that its internal organisation became 
suitable for a listed company; also, a Supervisory Board 
(the “Supervisory Board”) and certain Supervisory Board 
committees were established.

The Supervisory Board is composed of the following five 
members: 

Stefan Brendgen, born in 1964 in Mönchengladbach, 
Germany, as chairman of the Supervisory Board and 
chairman of the nomination committee.
Stefan Mohr, born in 1967 in Frankfurt am Main, Germany, 
as deputy chairman of the Supervisory Board.
Marija Korsch, born in 1948, in Zadar, Croatia, as mem-
ber of the Supervisory Board.
Dr. Jochen Scharpe, born in 1959 in Werdohl, Germany, 
as member of the Supervisory Board and chairman of the 
audit committee.
Richard Wartenberg, born 1968 in Stuttgart, Germany, 
as member of the Supervisory Board and chairman of the 
remuneration committee.

Furthermore, as our business activities and properties 
are geographically concentrated in Germany, we have 
filed with the Dutch trade registry, on 9 February 2018, 
a proposal to convert the Company into a German stock 
corporation (Aktiengesellschaft), governed by the laws of 
the Federal Republic of Germany and having its registe-
red seat in Essen, Germany (the “AG Conversion”). The 
resolution to convert the Company into a German stock 
corporation is expected to be proposed to the Company’s 
general shareholders meeting (the “General Meeting”) 
by the Management Board and the Supervisory Board, 
subject to certain conditions (as specified in the proposal) 
having been met.

B.8 SUPPLEMENTARY REPORT
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On 29 March 2018, Instone Real Estate Leipzig GmbH re-
paid a €22.6 million bank loan for the corporate financing 
of the Company.

There are no other events which might influence the 
Company’s outlook and which are not discussed in the 
statutory annual accounts included in this report. 
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This consolidated financial statements is after proposed result appropriation.

C.1.1 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2017 

in euros Notes 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Assets
Non-current assets

Intangible assets 1 0.00 8.00

Property, plant and equipment 2 1,597,348.91 1,543,362.11

Equity-method investments 3 396,411.37 1,427,150.05

Other financial assets 6 333,461.79 667,726.79

Financial receivables 8 683,029.91 683,029.91

Other receivables 10 1,021,934.00 0.00

4,032,185.98 4,321,276.86
Current assets

Inventories 7 659,443,925.77 542,687,177.03

Financial receivables 8 32,360,116.92 168,246.20

Trade receivables 9 4,217,263.67 19,603,414.27

(thereof percentage-of-completion receivables) 0.00 (3,357,819.82)

Other receivables and other assets 10 15,452,214.48 5,589,246.00

Current income tax assets 11 80.15 314,337.51

Cash and cash equivalents 12 73,623,790.63 112,547,605.13

785,097,391.62 680,910,026.14
Total assets 789,129,577.60 685,231,303.00

Equity and liabilities
Equity 13

Share capital 8,386.00 8,386.00

Capital reserve 85,378,772.19 37,394,560.00

Retained earnings / loss carryforwards -34,329,443.13 -35,498,616.07

Accumulated other comprehensive income  -348,034.29 -1,251,875.31

Equity attributable to shareholders 50,709,680.77 652,454.62

Non-controlling interests 1,510,330.54 2,031,746.83

Total equity 52,220,011.31 2,684,201.45

Non-current liabilities
Provisions for pensions and similar obligations 14 4,181,464.00 4,148,226.77

Other provisions 15 1,330,363.61 12,428,181.41

Financial liabilities 16 241,006,984.23 300,869,506.09

Deferred tax liabilities 17 7,669,307.28 23,413,968.72

 254,188,119.12 340,859,882.99
Current liabilities

Other provisions 15 49,158,905.81 25,554,997.62

Financial liabilities 16 134,671,758.77 81,635,041.18

Trade payables 18 275,691,919.20 215,163,933.39

Other liabilities 19 9,406,314.15 13,126,356.97

Income tax liabilities 20 13,792,549.24 6,206,889.40

482,721,447.17 341,687,218.56
Total equity and liabilities 789,129,577.60 685,231,303.00

C. �CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL  
STATEMENTS

C.1 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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C.1.2 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS FOR THE YEAR 2017 

in euros Notes 2017 2016

Revenue 21 199,699,960.88 203,611,050.80

Changes in inventories 22 120,207,157.69 158,915,328.23

319,907,118.57 362,526,379.03
Other operating income 23 5,381,094.47 8,332,350.46

Cost of materials 24 -244,818,533.07 -293,683,570.61

Staff costs 25 -49,530,637.93 -35,180,814.54

Other operating expenses 26 -41,472,814.36 -42,386,249.68

Income from associated affiliates 27 234,631.75 1,333,076.56

Other income from investments 28 -61,233.14 312,175.12

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortizati-
on (EBITDA)

-10,360,373.71 1,253,346.34

Depreciation and amortisation 29 -437,703.92 -440,574.19

Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT) -10,798,077.63 812,772.15
Finance income 595,011.97 133,215.23

Finance costs -20,965,143.00 -25,029,828.20

Reversal of impairment losses of long-term securities 18,004.26 113,523.64

Finance result 30 -20,352,126.57 -24,783,089.33
Earnings before tax (EBT) -31,150,204.20 -23,970,317.18
Income taxes 31 190,661.12 1,769,546.94

Earnings after tax (EAT) -30,959,543.08 -22,200,770.24

Attributable to:
Shareholders of the Group -31,088,126.79 -22,409,509.42

Non-controlling interests -128,583.71 -208,739.18

-30,959,543.08 -22,200,770.24

in euros Notes 2017 2016

Earning per share (basic and diluted) 32 -0.84 -0.61

C.1.3 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 2017 

in euros 2017 2016

Earnings after tax -30,959,543.08 -22,200,770.24
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Actuarial gains/losses on defined benefit obligation 1,317,725.39 -1,368,353.35

Income tax effect -413,884.37 210,289.91

Other comprehensive income for the year 903,841.02 -1,158,063.44
Total comprehensive income for the year -30,055,702.06 -23,358,833.68 

Attributable to:
Shareholders of the Group -30,184,285.77 -23,567,572.86

Non-controlling interests 128,583.71 208,739.18

-30,055,702.06 -23,358,833.68
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C.1.4 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR 2017 

in euros Notes 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Consolidated earnings -30,959,543.08 -22,200,770.24

± Depreciation and amortisation 437,703.92 440,574.19

± Increase/decrease of provisions 12,539,327.62 15,025,181.40

± Increase/decrease of deferred taxes -15,744,661.44 -12,872,946.74

± Decrease/increase of equity carrying amounts 1,018,238.68 -1,333,076.56

± Decrease/increase of other financial assets 250,000.00 0.00

± Other non-cash income and expenses 31,201,176.31 23,501,085.61

± Profit/loss on disposals of property, plant and equipment 0.00 21,757.49

± Decrease/increase of inventories, trade receivables and 
other assets

-112,345,425.26 -25,646,410.47

± Increase/decrease of trade payables and other liabilities 83,365,318.77 116,912,000.69

= Cash flow from operating activities -30,237,864.48 93,847,395.37
- Income taxes paid -4,236,469.06 -6,182,870.08

Net cash flow from operating activities -34,474,333.54 87,664,525.29

+ Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment 0.00 15,700.00

- Purchase of property, plant and equipment -491,684.72 -371,516.69

+ Proceeds from disposals of intangible assets 2.00 0.00

+ Proceeds from disposals of non-current financial assets 0,00 259,822.26

- Payments for acquisitions of shares in consolidated 
companies

-22,839,425.33 -21,968,654.32

+ Receipts from the disposal of subsidiaries 121,765.00 155,000.00

- Acquistions of non-consolidated subsidiaries -25,000.00 -27,500.00

+ Interest received 572,428.20 113,921.07

= Cash flow from investing activities -22,661,914.85 -21,823,227.68

- Payout to non-controlling interests -650,000.00 0.00

+ Cash proceeds from borrowings -121,877,369.09 64,428,248.08

- Cash repayments of borrowings -88,304,688.32 -38,343,065.80

- Interest paid -14,735,246.88 -17,581,570.11

= Cash flow from financing activities 18,187,433.89 8,503,612.17

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents -38,948,814.50 74,344,909.78
± Net foreign exchange differences and changes in group 

structure
25,000.00 2,302,284.85

+ Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 112,547,605.13 35,900,410.50

= Cash and cash equivalents at the end of period 12 73,623,790.63 112,547,605.13
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C.1.5 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR 2017 

in euros Notes Share capital Capital reserve

Retained 
earnings/loss 

carryforwards

Accumulated 
other compre- 

hensive income

Equity 
attributable to 
shareholders

Non- 
controlling 

interests Total

1 January 2016 8,386.00 37,394,560.00 -13,122,992.00 -93,811.87 24,186,142.13 11,484,048.46 35,670,190.59

Earnings after taxes 0.00 0.00 -22,409,509.42 0.00 -22,409,509.42 208,739.18 -22,200,770.24

Changes in actuarial 
profits and losses

0.00 0.00 0.00 -1,158,063.44 -1,158,063.44 0.00 -1,158,063.44

Total comprehensive 
income

0.00 0.00 -22,409,509.42 -1,158,063.44 -23,567,572.86 208,739.18 -23,358,833.68

Additional non-controlling 
interests which emerged 
in the course of 
purchasing GRK Holding 
GmbH

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 -9,627,155.46 -9,627,155.46

Change in group structure 0.00 0.00 33,885.35 0.00 33,885.35 -33,885.35 0.00

31 December 2016 /  
1 January 2017

8,386.00 37,394,560.00 -35,498,616.07 -1,251,875.31 652,454.62 2,031,746.83 2,684,201.45

Earnings after taxes 0.00 0.00 -31,088,126.79 0.00 -31,088,126.79 128,583.71 -30,959,543.08

Changes in actuarial 
profits and losses

0.00 0.00 0.00 903,841.02 903,841.02 0.00 903,841.02

Total comprehensive 
income

0.00 0.00 -31,088,126.79 903,841.02 -30,184,285.77 128,583.71 -30,055,702.06

Contribution to capital 
reserve

0.00 47,959,212.19 0.00 0.00 47,959,212.19 0.00 47,959,212.19

Change in group structure 0.00 25,000.00 0.00 0.00 25,000.00 0.00 25,000.00

Payout to non-controlling 
shareholders

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 -650,000.00 -650,000.00

Contribution from 
shareholders 

0.00 0.00 32,257,299.73 0.00 32,257,299.73 0.00 32,257,299.73

0.00 47,984,212.19 32,257,299.73 0.00 80,241,511.92 -650,000.00 79,591,511.92

31 December 2017 13 8,386.00 85,378,772.19 -34,329,443.13 -348,034.29 50,709,680.77 1,510,330.54 52,220,011.31
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C.2.1 ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

General principles 
The company Formart Holding B.V. was formed on 16 Ap-
ril 2014 in Amsterdam, the Netherlands, and registered in 
the Dutch Commercial Register under number 60490861 
at the main registered place of business Amsterdam, the 
Netherlands. The Company’s place of effective manage-
ment is Baumstraße 25, 45128 Essen, Germany. With ef-
fect from 9 June 2017, Formart Holding B.V., Amsterdam, 
the Netherlands, was renamed into Instone Real Estate 
Group B.V., Amsterdam, the Netherlands (“Instone Real 
Estate” or “Company”). On 15 February 2018, the Compa-
ny was listed in the Prime Standard of the Frankfurt Stock 
Exchange. In connection therewith, the Company was 
converted into a public limited liability company (naamloze 
vennootschap) and renamed Instone Real Estate Group 
N.V.

The Company invests in subsidiaries whose principal 
activity consists of the acquisition, development, const-
ruction, letting, management and sale or other utilisation 
of land and buildings and equity interests in other compa-
nies operating in this business sector. 

In October 2014, Instone Real Estate Group N.V. acquired 
76.0% of the limited partnership interests in Instone Real 
Estate Development GmbH (formerly: formart GmbH & 
Co. KG) from Hochtief Solutions AG, Essen, Germany. 
Consequently, Hochtief Solutions AG continued to hold 
24.0% of the limited partnership interests as a minority 
shareholder in October 2014. After the limited partnership 
interest was increased by way of special legal successi-
on in October 2015 by approx. 6.2%, in October 2016 by 
approx. 6.2% and in February 2017 by approx. 11.6%, 
Instone Real Estate Group N.V. now holds 100.0%. After 
the contribution was reduced by approx. 6.2% in October 
2015, in October 2016 by approx. 6.2% and in Febru-
ary by approx. 11.6%, Hochtief Solutions AG now holds 
0.0%. Instone Real Estate Development GmbH develops 
residential condominium units for owner-occupiers and 
investors.

In December 2015, 94% of the shares in Instone Real 
Estate Leipzig GmbH, (formerly GRK-Holding GmbH), 

Leipzig, Germany, and its subsidiaries and equity inte-
rests as well as 6% each of the shares in OPUS Wohnbau 
GmbH (GRK Group) and GRK REVION Hamburg GmbH 
were transferred to Instone Real Estate Group N.V., 
Amsterdam, with effect from 31 December 2015. The Ins-
tone Real Estate Leipzig GmbH is operating mainly in the 
field of development and restoration of buildings under 
monument protection and the repurposing of specialty 
properties.

These consolidated financial statements are prepared 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union 
(IFRS-EU) and the requirements of Part 9 of Book 2 of the 
Dutch Civil Code.

In addition to the consolidated statement of profit or loss, 
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the 
consolidated statement of financial position and the con-
solidated statement of cash flows, a statement of changes 
in equity is presented.

To enhance the clarity of presentation, several items of 
the consolidated statement of financial position and of the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss are combined to 
one. These items are broken down into their constituents 
and commented on elsewhere in these notes. The conso-
lidated statement of profit or loss is presented using the 
nature of expense method.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in euro.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepa-
red on the historical cost basis as a principle.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on 
the going concern basis. The negative results and cur-
rently low equity ratio is of only temporary nature. In 2017, 
the results were affected by the amortisation effects from 
purchase price allocation (PPA) both for the formart ac-
quisition and for the GRK acquisition. Further, the impact 
of these amortisation effects will get lower and the profits 
from project development will not be netted off anymore 
as a result of the PPA effects. Additionally, the change in 
customer contracts for projects the marketing of which 

C.2 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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commenced on or after 1 August 2015 will result in a rea-
lisation of profits in later periods. This will also strengthen 
the equity ratio.

The financial statements were approved by the Ma-
nagement Board of Instone Real Estate Group N.V. and 
authorised for issue on 7 May 2018.

Basis of consolidation
The financial statements of Instone Real Estate Group 
N.V. and its subsidiaries have been included in these 
consolidated financial statements. Control occurs if Instone 
Real Estate as investor has the current ability to direct the 
relevant activities of the subsidiary. Relevant activities are 
activities that significantly affect the returns. Furthermore, 
Instone Real Estate must participate in these returns in the 
form of variable returns and must be able to influence them 
in its favour with the existing possibilities and rights. As a 
rule, control occurs if a direct or indirect majority of the vo-
ting rights are held. In structured enterprises, control may 
result from contractual arrangements. Material investments 
in associates are accounted for using the equity method 
of accounting. Companies will be deemed associates if 
Instone Real Estate has a significant influence based on a 
proportion of voting rights between 20% and 50% or based 
on contractual arrangements.

At 31 December 2017, in addition to Instone Real Estate 
Group N.V. a total of 16 (prior year: 16) German subsidia-
ries, one (prior year: one) Luxembourg subsidiary and one 
(prior year: one) Austrian subsidiary had been included in 
the present consolidated financial statements by way of 
full consolidation.

Four (in the prior year: seven) subsidiaries are of min-
or importance to the net assets, financial position and 
results of operations of Instone Real Estate and have 
not been consolidated. Their revenue in 2017 accounted 
for less than one percent of Instone Real Estate’s total 
revenue.

Two (prior year: three) German companies have been in-
cluded using the equity method. The group of companies 
to be included using the equity method has not changed 
in the reporting year.

Due to their minor overall significance, three (prior year: 
five) companies have not been included in the conso-
lidated financial statements on the basis of the equity 
method.

With effect from 28 February 2017, the Instone Real 
Estate Group N.V. exercised a granted call and put 
option relating to ownership interests in Instone Real 
Estate Development GmbH and bought 11.6% of the 
ownership interests in Instone Real Estate Development 
GmbH from Hochtief Solutions AG at a purchase price of 
€22,508,243.41. Instone Real Estate Group N.V. increa-
sed its ownership interest in Instone Real Estate Develop-
ment GmbH from 88.4% to 100.0%. 

For an overview of subsidiaries, associates and other 
participating interests of Instone Real Estate please refer 
to chapter C.2.5 “Subsidiaries, associates and other parti-
cipating interests”.

Business combinations
The Group accounts for business combinations using 
the acquisition method when control is transferred to the 
Group. The consideration transferred in the acquisition is 
generally measured at fair value, as are the identifiable 
net assets acquired. Any goodwill that arises is tested an-
nually for impairment. Any gain on a bargain purchase is 
recognised in profit or loss immediately. Transaction costs 
are expensed as incurred, except if related to the issue of 
debt or equity securities.

The consideration transferred does not include amounts 
related to the settlement of pre-existing relationships. 
Such amounts are generally recognised in profit or  
loss.

Any contingent consideration is measured at fair value at 
the date of acquisition. If an obligation to pay contingent 
consideration that meets the definition of a financial ins-
trument is classified as equity, then it is not remeasured 
and settlement is accounted for within equity. In all other 
respects, other contingent consideration is measured at 
fair value at each balance-sheet date, and subsequent 
changes of the fair value of contingent considerations are 
recognised in profit or loss.
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Acquisition of non-controlling interests
Non-controlling interests are measured at their proportio-
nate share of the acquirer’s identifiable net assets at the 
date of acquisition.

Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do 
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity 
transactions.

Segment reporting
Segment reporting in accordance with IFRS 8 is based 
on the management approach and is therefore consis-
tent with the management and reporting system used 
by Instone Real Estate for its segments. Instone Real 
Estate operates only in one business segment and one 
geographical segment and generates its revenue and 
holds its assets mainly in Germany. Therefore, Instone 
Real Estate did not prepare a segment report. Internal 
reporting is also based on the IFRS accounting  
figures. Non-current assets of the Group are mainly 
located in Germany.

Consolidation policies
The financial statements of the entities included in the con-
solidation are prepared using uniform accounting policies.

Expenses and income as well as liabilities between con-
solidated companies are eliminated. Intra-group interme-
diary results are eliminated to the extent that they are not 
of minor significance. Any impairment losses recognised 
for consolidated companies in their separate financial 
statements are reversed.

The same consolidation policies also apply to interests in 
equity-accounted investees. They comprise both associa-
tes and joint ventures of the Group.

The financial statements of all equity-accounted inves-
tees are prepared in accordance with consistent Group 
accounting policies.

Foreign currency translations
All fully consolidated entities and equity-accounted inves-
tees prepare their separate financial statements in the 
currency euro, which at the same time corresponds to the 

functional currency in which these consolidated financial 
statements are presented.

Exchange differences from the settlement of monetary 
items in foreign currencies during the year as well as the 
measurement of open foreign currency positions at the rate 
on the balance sheet date are realised in profit or loss.

Accounting policies
Goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries is mea-
sured at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

Intangible assets are accounted for at cost. They inclu-
de exclusively software for commercial and technical 
applications. Intangible assets are generally written off 
using the straight-line method over three to five years. 
The useful lives and amortisation methods are reviewed 
each year.

Property, plant and equipment are accounted for at amor-
tised cost. Only amounts directly attributable to an item 
of property, plant and equipment are included in its cost. 
Items of property, plant and equipment are generally writ-
ten off on a straight-line basis over three to eight years. 
The useful lives and amortisation methods are reviewed 
annually.

Impairment losses are recognised for intangible and tan-
gible if their recoverable amount falls below their carrying 
amount. If the reason for an earlier impairment loss does 
no longer exist, such reductions are reversed to amorti-
sed cost.

Equity-method investments are accounted for at cost, in 
subsequent periods they are accounted for at the amorti-
sed pro-rata net assets. The full carrying amount is tested 
for impairment annually, withdrawals and all other chan-
ges in equity are increased or decreased. Equity-method 
investments are subject to impairment if their recoverable 
amount falls below their carrying amount.

Interests in non-consolidated subsidiaries recognised as 
other financial assets, other interests and the non-current 
equity securities exclusively fall into the measurement 
category “available for sale”. They are measured at fair 
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value, provided that this value can be determined reliably. 
Due to the lack of observable market transactions, the 
fair value is determined using the discounted cash flow 
method. Where the fair value cannot be reliably deter-
mined, the financial assets are recognised at cost (less 
value impairment). They are recognised for the first time 
on the date of performance. Unrealised profits or losses 
are recognised in consideration of deferred tax in the  
changes in equity without affecting profit or loss and will 
be reflected through profit or loss only when sold. If there 
are objective indications of impairment losses of an asset 
it will be written down through profit or loss.

Other financial assets are measured at cost. An impair-
ment loss is recognised if there is any objective material 
evidence that the other financial asset may be impaired.

The receivables include financial receivables, trade 
receivables and other receivables. Receivables and 
other assets are measured at amortised cost, using the 
effective interest rate method (accounting for factors 
such as premiums and discounts). An impairment loss is 
recognised if there is any objective material evidence that 
a financial asset may be impaired. Impairment losses are 
recognised according to actual default risk.

Long-term loans included in financial receivables are 
stated at amortised cost. Loans yielding interest at normal 
market rates are reported at nominal amounts.

Receivables or payables from specifically negotiated 
construction contracts are reported in inventories, trade 
receivables and trade payables. In principle, they are 
accounted for using the completed contract (CC) method. 
Under application of the CC method, the costs for land 
and the cumulative construction costs were recognised as 
an asset in inventories and the progress payments recei-
ved were recognised as trade liabilities. In principle, sales 
revenue is recognised  after transfer of the contractual 
object to the customer. In the case of contracts for newly 
developed residential quarters and apartment buildings, 
the handover and thus the revenue recognition is bound to 
the full payment and the recording of the acceptance and 
handover by the customer. For contracts on refurbishment 
of monument-protected properties, the handover and thus 

the revenue recognition is bound to the payment up to the 
rate of readiness for occupancy and the recording of the 
acceptance and handover by the customer.

With some old contracts, receivables or payables are 
accounted for using the PoC method. If the usual pre-mar-
keting rate of 30% is reached, the construction starts for 
specifically negotiated construction contracts and the 
PoC method is applied in accordance with IAS 11. Here 
the proportionate result of the PoC method is determined 
depending on the construction progress and the marke-
ting progress. If cumulative work done (contract costs 
and contract net profit) of contracts in progress exceeds 
progress payments received, the construction contract is 
recognised as an asset in PoC receivables. If a negative 
balance results after deducting progress payments, it is re-
cognised as an obligation under a construction contract on 
the liabilities side as liabilities from PoC. Expected contract 
losses are accounted for on the basis of identifiable risks 
and immediately fully included in the contract net profit. For 
completed construction contracts, the contractual pro-
ceeds and adjustments as well as addenda are recognised 
as contract proceeds in conformity with IAS 11. 

Receivables and liabilities from construction contracts are 
realised within one business cycle of Instone Real Estate. 
Consequently, they are recognised as current assets or 
liabilities, even if the realisation of the whole construction 
contract takes a period of more than one year.

Deferred taxes are arising from temporary differences 
between the IFRS and tax accounts of the individual entities 
and as result of consolidation processes. Deferred tax as-
sets are also recognised for tax refund entitlements resulting 
from the anticipated use of existing tax loss carryforwards in 
subsequent years. Deferred taxes are to be capitalised if it 
is sufficiently certain that related economic advantages can 
be used. Their amount is measured on the basis of the tax 
rates that apply or are expected to be applied in the individu-
al countries at the time of realisation. In the Group, the trade 
tax rates attributable to the individual entities are taken as a 
basis. For all other purposes, deferred taxes are measured 
on the basis of the tax regulations in force or enacted at the 
reporting date. Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabili-
ties are offset per entity or per tax group.
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Inventories are assets under construction (work in progress). 
Inventories are recognised at cost. Cost comprises the pro-
duction-related full cost. Borrowing costs for inventories that 
are qualifying assets are capitalised as part of cost. Should 
the recoverable amount be lower than the capitalised cost at 
a given balance sheet date, such lower recoverable amount 
will be recognised. Should the recoverable amount of such 
inventories subsequently increase, the resulting gain must 
be recognised. This is done by reducing materials expense.

The inventories of individual major project development 
measures are broken down into several partial project 
development measures for reasons of commercial presen-
tation. The breakdown does not affect measurement. In the 
Group, the respective total project is treated as a special 
form of measurement unit in current assets. The risks of 
individual partial project measures may be compensated by 
the opportunities within other partial projects. An exceeding 
requirement for impairment  
is reflected by measuring a provision for contingent losses.

Cash and cash equivalents exist as cash-in-hand and bank 
balances.

Provisions are measured for any legal or factual liabilities in 
relation to third parties existing on the financial statement 
date which are resulting from past transactions that are likely 
to lead to an outflow of resources the amount of which may 
be reliably estimated. The provisions are recognised with 
their expected settlement amount and not netted with refund 
claims.

All non-current provisions are accounted for with their 
expected settlement amount discounted to the financial 
statement date. Furthermore, any cost increases expected 
to be incurred by the settlement date are to be taken into 
account in the calculation of this amount. 

As a principle, provisions are reversed against the expense 
item for which they are made.

Provisions for pensions and similar obligations are reco-
gnised for defined benefit plans. They include obligations 
of the entity for current and future benefits to entitled acti-
ve and former employees and their surviving dependants. 

The obligations primarily relate to pension benefits. The 
individual commitments are measured based on the 
length of service and salaries of the employees.

For the measurement of provisions for defined benefit 
plans the actuarial present value of the respective obliga-
tion is taken as basis. It is determined using the projected 
unit credit method. This projected unit credit method not 
only includes the pensions and accrued benefits known 
on the reference date but also salary and pension increa-
sed to be expected in the future. This calculation is based 
on actuarial reports in consideration of biometric calcula-
tion methods (mainly the “2005 G Reference Tables” by 
Klaus Heubeck). The provision results from the balance 
of the actuarial present value of the obligation and the 
fair value of the plan assets required to cover the pension 
obligation. The service cost is included in the personnel 
expenses. The net interest income is a component of the 
financial income.

Profits and losses from remeasured net liabilities or net 
assets are recognised fully in the period during which 
they arise. They are recognised in equity without affecting 
profit or loss and not included in the consolidated statem-
ent of profit or loss. Also, in the subsequent years they will 
not be recognised in profit or loss.

For defined contribution plans, Instone Real Estate does 
not incur any further obligations exceeding the payment 
of contribution to special-purpose funds. The contribution 
payments are stated in the personnel expenses.

Income tax liabilities include obligations from current 
income tax. Liabilities for income tax are offset with the 
corresponding tax refund entitlements if they exist in the 
same jurisdiction and are identical in terms of nature and 
maturity.

All other provisions take adequate account of all di-
scernible risks and other contingent liabilities. They are 
recognised at the amount necessary according to prudent 
commercial judgement to settle future payment obliga-
tions of the Group. In this connection the amount resulting 
as most likely when examining the individual case will be 
recognised.
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Non-current liabilities, to the extent that they are not of 
minor significance, are accounted for with their settlement 
amount discounted to the financial statement date. The 
settlement amount also includes cost increases to be 
taken into account on the financial statement date.

Non-derivative financial liabilities (including trade payab-
les) within the scope of IAS 39 are measured at amortised 
cost, using the effective interest rate method. Initial mea-
surement is performed at fair value, including transacti-
on costs. In the subsequent measurement the residual 
value is adjusted by the premium write-ups and discount 
write-downs remaining until maturity. The premium or 
discount is recognised in the financial result over their 
duration.

Contingent liabilities are possible obligations in relation 
to third parties based on past events which cannot be 
fully controlled by the entity, or current obligations in 
relation to third parties that are unlikely to lead to an 
outflow of resources or the amount of which cannot be 
stated with sufficient reliability. As a principle, contingent 
liabilities are not recognised in the statement of financial 
position.

Estimate and assumptions
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements 
requires estimates and assumptions that may affect the 
application of accounting principles in the Group, the reco-
gnition and measurement. The estimates and assumptions 
are based on experience from the past and other knowled-
ge gained of transactions to be accounted for. The actual 
amounts may vary from these estimates and assumptions.

Estimates and assumptions are necessary in particular in the 
measurement of inventories and amounts due from custo-
mers for contract work (CC), purchase price allocations, the 
recognition and measurement of deferred tax assets, the 
recognition of provisions for pensions and other provisions.

NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS 

Accounting standards implemented in 2017
The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) 
made various changes to existing IFRS in the last years, 

along with the publication of new IFRS and interpreta-
tions from the IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRS IC). 
Furthermore, the IASB published changes to existing 
standards in the scope of the Annual Improvements Pro-
ject (AIP). The primary target of the collective standards 
is to clarify inconsistencies and phrasings.

The following changes to standards that were to be newly 
applied as of the financial year 2017 did not affect these 
consolidated financial statements, apart from possible 
supplementary information in the notes:

•	 changes to IAS 7 “Statement of cash flows – disclosure 
initiative”

•	 changes to IAS 12 “Income taxes – recognition of defer-
red tax assets for unrealised losses”

Already published accounting standards and 
interpretations – not yet implemented
In addition to the above mandatory IFRS, the IASB 
published further changed IAS and IFRS that are to be 
applied mandatorily only at a later time. Various standards 
for this have already gone through the recognition in EU 
law (“Endorsement”) for European application. Voluntary 
early adoption of these standards is expressly permitted 
or recommended. Instone Group does not use these 
option rights. These standards will be implemented in the 
consolidated financial statements at the time of mandato-
ry application.

Already transferred to EU law
(in brackets: time of mandatory first application):
•	 Changes to IAS 40 “Transfers of Investment Property” 

(1 January 2018)
•	 Changes to IFRS 2 “Classification and Measurement of 

Share-based Payment Transactions” (1 January 2018)
•	 IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (1 January 2018)
•	 IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” with 

separate clarifications (1 January 2018)
•	 IFRS 16 “Leases” (1 January 2019)
•	 Annual improvement to IFRS: Cycle 2014 – 2016  

(effective from 1 January 2017)
•	 Change to IFRS 4: Application of IFRS 9 “Financial  

Instruments” together with IFRS 4 “Insurance Cont-
racts” (1 January 2018)
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•	 IFRIC Interpretation 22 “Foreign Currency Transactions 
and Advance Consideration” (1 January 2018)

Not yet transferred into EU law
(in brackets: IASB date of initial application):2

•	 Changes to IAS 28 “Long-term Interests in Associates 
and Joint Ventures” (1 January 2019)

•	 IFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts” (1 January 2021)
•	 Annual improvement to IFRS: Cycle 2014 – 2016 

(effective from 1 January 2018)
•	 Annual improvement to IFRS: Cycle 2015 – 2017 

(1 January 2019)
•	 IFRIC Interpretation 23 “Uncertainty over Income Tax 

Treatments” (1 January 2019)

The following accounting standards not relevant for the 
Instone Group. 

•	 Changes to IAS 40 “Transfers of Investment Property” 
(1 January 2018)

•	 Changes to IFRS 2 “Classification and Measurement 
of Share-based Payment Transactions” (1 January 
2018)

•	 IFRIC Interpretation 22 “Foreign Currency Transactions 
and Advance Consideration” (1 January 2018)

The following will explain the accounting standards that 
are relevant for the Instone Group. The other new and  
changed standards are not expected to have any essen-
tial effect on the consolidated financial statements, apart 
from new or modified information in the notes.

IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”
The main impact of IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” is 
shown below:

Classification and Measurement
In particular, IFRS 9 contains a new approach to the 
classification and measurement of financial assets and 
financial liabilities that reflects both the business model in 
which the assets are held and the characteristics of their 
cash flows. The criteria determine whether the instrument 
in the subsequent measurement is to be measured at cost 
or fair value. Whenever financial investements are cate-
gorised as equity instruments, Instone Real Estate will 

exercise an irrevocable option to state future changes to 
the fair value under other comprehensive income in equi-
ty. Gains or losses recognised in other comprehensive 
income are never reclassified from equity to the income 
statement when disposed of. In general, the new classifi-
cation and measurement requirements will not have any 
material impact.

IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”
In May 2017, the IASB published IFRS 15 “Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers”. The standard introduces 
an industry-independent and principle-based five-step 
model for the recognition of revenue earned from a 
contract with a customer. The standard does not affect 
the collection of revenue that results in connection with 
financial instruments within the scope of IAS 39/IFRS 9. 
Collection of revenue from leasing agreements subject 
to the scope of application of IAS 17/IFRS 16 shall be 
excluded as well.

According to IFRS 15, revenue is recognised at the 
amount of the consideration that an entity can expect 
in return for transfer of goods or services to a custo-
mer (transaction price). Revenue is realised when the 
customer receives the power to dispose of the goods 
or services. IFRS 15 further includes specifications on 
recognition. The new standard also demands disclosure 
of some quantitative and qualitative information in order 
to enable potential addressees of the financial statements 
to understand the type, amount, time of occurrence and 
uncertainty of revenue and cash flows from contracts with 
customers. The new standard for revenue will replace any 
provisions currently applicable on revenue recognition 
and the associated interpretations according to IFRS. 
For financial years that commence on or after 1 January 
2018, either a full retrospective approach or a modified 
retrospective approach can be used. 

To assess the effects of applying IFRS 15, the Group has 
commissioned an expert opinion from an external auditing 
and consulting company. The subject of the evaluation 
is whether the valuation of contracts with customers in 
future project developments of the Instone Real Estate 
Group N.V. in accordance with IFRS 15 is covered by a 
period-related revenue recognition, which leads to an 

2	 | 	The EU decided to not transfer the interim standard IFRS 14 “Regulatory Deferral Accounts” (1 January 2016) into European law and to wait 
until the standard is finally adopted.
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early realisation of revenue and earnings. According 
to the current state of the examination, the retrospecti-
ve application of IFRS 15 and the associated possible 
application of a period-related revenue recognition for 
the financial years ending before 1 January 2018 will 
result in an increase in the opening balance of equity at 
the time of first application on 1 January 2018 of approx. 
€28.8 million.

IFRS 16 “Leases”
In January 2016, the IASB published the new stan-
dard IFRS 16 “Leases”. IFRS 16 replaces the previous 
standard on the recognition of leases (IAS 17) and the 
interpretations IFRIC 4, SIC-15 and SIC-27. The stan-
dard is mandatory as of 1 January 2019. Voluntary early 
adoption is permitted, but only if IFRS 15 “Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers” is adopted at the same time. 
The essential changes due to IFRS 16 refer to disclosure 
requirements for lessees. The differentiation by Operate 
Lease and Finance Lease for the lessee is removed. For 
all leases, assets have to be recognised for the usage 
rights acquired (the “Right-of-Use approach”) and liabi-
lities for the payment obligations incurred by the lessee. 
Simplified application is permitted for “low-value” leases 
and short-term leases with a term of up to one year. For 
low-value leases, this simplification even applies if they 
are to be classified as material in total. The simplified 
application comprises an option right for application of the 
recognition and disclosure requirements of IFRS 16.

The disclosure requirements for lessors were only slightly 
changed and mostly continue to correspond to the previ-
ous provisions of IAS 17. The changed disclosure require-
ments for leases in which Instone Group is the lessee will 
affect the consolidated financial statements. In particular, 
rights of use for leased vehicles or real property will be 
capitalised. Additionally, the type of expenses connected 
to these leases will change, since IFRS 16 replaces the 
recognition of expenses for operating leases on a stra-
ight-line basis by a depreciation expense for right-of-use 
assets and interest expenses for debt from the lease. In-
stone Group has completed its initial assessment of pos-
sible effects on its consolidated financial statements, but 
the detailed evaluation has not yet been completed. The 
actual effects depend on the interest rate to be applied as 

of 1 January 2019, the composition of the leasing portfolio 
or the assessment of the exercise of extension options. 
Major effects on the consolidated financial statements are 
not expected.

C.2.2 �NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 
OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Acquisition of subsidiaries
With effect from 28 February 2017, the Instone Real 
Estate Group N.V. exercised the third granted call and 
put option relating to ownership interests in Instone Real 
Estate Development GmbH and bought 11.6% of the 
ownership interests in Instone Real Estate Development 
GmbH from Hochtief Solutions AG at a purchase price of 
€22,508,243.41. Instone Real Estate Group N.V. increa-
sed its ownership interest in Instone Real Estate Develop-
ment GmbH from 88.4% to 100.0%. 

The call and put option has changed as in the table below:

in euros

Value call and put option as at 31 Dec. 2014 43,125,420.83
Interests 2015 1,550,349.98

Exercised put option 2015 -11,494,876.22

Value call and put option as at 31 Dec. 2015 33,180,894.59
Interests 2016 1,123,968.87

Exercised put option 2016 -11,925,801.62

Value call and put option as at 31 Dec. 2016 22,379,061.84
Interests 2017 129,181.57

Exercised call option 2017 -22,508,243.41

Value call and put option as at 31 Dec. 2017 0.00

Non-controlling interests
The non-controlling interests amounting to 
€1,510,330.54 relate to the entities west.side gmbH, Pro-
jekt Wilhelmstraße Wiesbaden GmbH & Co. KG, Instone 
Real Estate Leipzig GmbH, GRK REVION Hamburg 
GmbH and GRK Beteiligung GmbH.

In the year under review, a dividend to non-controlling 
shareholders has been paid in the amount €650,000.00 
(prior year 0.00). The earnings after tax attributable to 
non-controlling interests amount to €128,583.71 (prior 
year: €208,739.18)
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Instone Real Estate 
Leipzig GmbH

GRK REVION 
Hamburg GmbH

GRK Beteiligung 
GmbH

Ownership interest held by non-controlling interests in % 6,00% 47,00% 2,00%

in euros 31 December 2017 31 December 2017 31 December 2017
Non-current assets 34,808,515.06 0.00 7,875,208.55

Current assets 77,757,850.28 857,876.00 4,052.55

Non-current liabilities -10,233,060.21 0.00 0.00

Current liabilities -60,351,761.63 -798,359.57 -8,197,907.50

Net assets 41,981,543.50 59,516.43 -318,646.40
Net assets of non-controlling interests 2,464,033.28 29,651.08 880,703.82

Revenue 69,621,297.32 1,901,832.38 0.00

Profit 13,876,443.58 427,928.08 -145,494.87

Comprehensive income 13,876,443.58 427,928.08 -145,494.87

Profit attributed to non-controlling interests -120,129.12 0.00 0.00

Cash flows from operating activities 5,267,548.52 1,708,538.36 -8,187,717.26

Cash flows from investing activities 523,531.94 0.00 0.00

Cash flows from financing activities -7,524,343.54 -1,298,215.00 8,184,214.29

Net change in cash and cash equivalents -1,733,263.08 410,323.36 -3,502.97

Instone Real Estate 
Leipzig GmbH

GRK REVION 
Hamburg GmbH

GRK Beteiligung 
GmbH

Ownership interest held by non-controlling interests in % 6.00% 47.00% 2.00%

in euros 31 December 2016 31 December 2016 31 December 2016
Non-current assets 26,782,779.49 0.00 7,875,208.55

Current assets 85,595,307.82 1,694,788.77 7,555.52

Non-current liabilities -36,397,003.47 0.00 0.00

Current liabilities -48,308,699.17 -763,200.42 -8,055,915.60

Net assets 27,672,384.67 931,588.35 -173,151.53
Net assets of non-controlling interests 1,184,119.51 464,117.31 997,190.37

Revenue 93,454,347.52 9,226,383.49 0.00

Profit 21,280,466.70 1,599,721.48 -179,425.95

Comprehensive income 21,280,466.70 1,599,721.48 -179,425.95

Profit attributed to non-controlling interests 1,545,141.51 0.00 0.00

Cash flows from operating activities 28,576,961.48 2,524,155.66 -165,095.33

Cash flows from investing activities -6,070,188.00 0.00 0.00

Cash flows from financing activities -10,112,709.61 -2,374,881.64 172,650.85

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 12,394,063.87 149,274.02 7,555.52

Set out below is the summarised financial information for 
each subsidiary that has non-controlling interests that 

are material to the Group. The amounts disclosed for 
each subsidiary are before intercompany eliminations.
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in euros 2017 2016

Cost of acquisition or production 
Balance on 01 January 1,850,547.61 1,656,662.16

Additions 491,678.72 368,900.69

Disposals -521.22 -175,015.24

Balance on 31 December 2,341,705.11 1,850,547.61

Cumulative amortisation
Balance on 01 January 307,185.50 28,440.49

Additions 437,703.92 439,889.19

Disposals -521.22 -161,144.18

Reclassification to work in progress -12.00 0.00

Balance on 31 December 744,356.20 307,185.50
Carrying amounts 31 December 1,597,348.91 1,543,362.11

1.	 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets are not subject to any restrictions on 
their disposal.

2.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The breakdown of property, plant and equipment and their 
development in the financial year and the prior year are 
shown below. As in the prior year, also in 2017 property, 
plant and equipment are not subject to any restrictions on 
their disposal. 

in euros 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Associates
Projektentwicklungsgesellschaft Holbeinviertel mbH & Co. KG 347,635.48 1,364,367.36

Wohnpark Gießener Straße GmbH & Co. KG 48,775.89 50,710.07

396,411.37 1,415,077.43
Joint ventures
Wohnentwicklung Theresienstraße GmbH & Co. KG 0.00 12,072.62

0.00 12,072.62
Carrying amounts 396,411.37 1,427,150.05

3.	 EQUITY-METHOD INVESTMENTS

The equity-method investments are composed as follows: 
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in euros 31 December 2017 31. December 2016

Assets 3,804,734.26 5,926,075.30

Liabilities -2,758,937.37 -2,842,946.29

Net assets 1,045,796.89 3,083,129.01

in euros 2017 2016
Revenue 1,088,101.00 3,619,044.22

Profit or loss 918,219.35 2,771,085.05

4.	 ASSOCIATES

The table below shows the significant items of the state-
ment of financial position and statement of profit or loss of 
the equity-accounted associates: 

The profit or loss from equity-accounted associates does 
not include any impairment. As in the prior year, the inte-
rests in associates are not subject to any restrictions on 
their disposal.

The significant associates of Instone Real Estate are 
listed below:

Name Registered office of 
the entity

Business activity Ownership interest 
in %

Projektentwicklungsgesellschaft Holbeinviertel mbH & Co. KG Frankfurt am Main Project development 50%

Wohnpark Gießener Straße GmbH & Co. KG Frankfurt am Main Project development 50%
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The summarised finance information of the significant 
associates and the reconciliation with the equity-accoun-
ted carrying amount of the ownership interest are shown 
below:

Projektentwicklungsgesellschaft Holbeinviertel mbH & Co. KG

in euros 31 December 2017 31 December 2016
Current assets 3,363,598.82 5,440,697.27

Current liabilities -2,415,353.71 -2,458,988.40

Net assets 948,245.11 2,981,708.87
Ownership interest of the Group: 50.0 percent

Carrying amount of the ownership interest 347,635.48 1,364,367.36

in euros 2017 2016
Revenue 1,088,101.00 3,608,004.22

Net income for the financial year 922,087.70 2,765,551.46

Wohnpark Gießener Straße GmbH & Co. KG
in euros 31 December 2017 31 December 2016
Current assets 441,135.44 485,378.03

Current liabilities -343,583.66 -383,957.89

Net assets 97,551.78 101,420.14
Ownership interest of the Group: 50.0 percent

Carrying amount of the ownership interest 48,775.89 50,710.07

in euros 2017 2016
Revenue 0.00 11,040.00

Net income for the financial year -3,868.35 5,533.59
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5.	 JOINT VENTURES

The joint venture of Instone Real Estate in 2016 was:

This joint venture was liquidated as at 17 October 2017.

Name
Registered office of 
entitiy Business activity

Ownership interest 
in %

Wohnentwicklung Theresienstraße GmbH & Co. KG Munich Project development 50%

6.	 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

The other financial assets are as listed below. The 
non-consolidated subsidiaries were not impaired in the 
financial year. As in the prior year, other financial assets 
are not subject to any restrictions on their disposal. 

in euros 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Shares in affiliated companies, not included in the consolidated 
financial statements
Immobiliengesellschaft  C.S.C. S.A. 30,986.79 30,986.79

GRK Golf Masters GmbH 25,000.00 25,000.00

Instone Real Estate Assets GmbH 25,000.00 0.00

Uferpalais Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH 22,250.00 22,250.00

Wiesbaden Verwaltungs GmbH 17,500.00 17,500.00

ArtOffice GmbH 0.00 35,000.00

Warenhaus Flensburg Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH 0.00 25,000.00

formart Beteiligungsverwaltungsgesellschaft mbH 0.00 24,265.00

120,736.79 180,001.79
Ownership interests
Parkhausfonds Objekt Flensburg GmbH & Co. KG 149,100.00 149,100.00

CONTUR Wohnbauentwicklung GmbH 26,125.00 26,125.00

Projektverwaltungsgesellschaft SEVERINS WOHNEN mbH 25,000.00 25,000.00

formart Wilma Verwaltungsgesellschaft  mbH 12,500.00 12,500.00

TG Potsdam Projektentwicklungsgesellschaft mbH 0.00 250,000.00

Projektverwaltungsgesellschaft Mönchengladbach - Area of Sports mbH 0.00 12,500.00

WTS GmbH 0.00 12,500.00

212,725.00 487,725.00
333,461.79 667,726.79
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7.	 INVENTORIES

The development in inventories can be seen from the 
table below: 

in euros 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Work in progress 659,387,741.19 537,603,950.21

Finished goods 56,184.58 5,083,226.82

659,443,925.77 542,687,177.03

Work in progress is subject to restrictions in the amount of 
€358,923,007.18 (prior year: €254,344,289.48) as a result 
of the project financing by banks. 

Borrowing costs of €6,959,487.84 (prior year: €7,118,732.08) 
were capitalised under cost of production shown under 
inventories, which are resulting from project financing based 
on individual contracts with external lenders.

Inventories in an amount of €419,297,432.49 (prior year: 
€414,781,302.40) are expected to be recovered after 
more than twelve months. 

8.	 FINANCIAL RECEIVABLES

The non-current financial receivables amounting to 
€683,029.91 (prior year: €683,029.91) and the current 
financial receivables of €32,360,116.92 (prior year: 
€168,246.20) result from receivables from shareholder 
and associated companies.

For additional information we refer to the related party 
disclosure in section C.2.4.

in euros 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Amount due from customers for contract work (PoC) 0.00 13,637,818.91

Progress payments received 0.00 -10,279,999.09

0.00 3,357,819.82
Trade receivables 4,217,263.67 15,735,693.42

Trade receivables from non-consolidated subsidiaries 0.00 509,901.03

4,217,263.67 19,603,414.27

The total decline in the amount due from customers for 
contract work (PoC) is due to the change in customer 
contracts for projects of which the marketing commenced 
on or after 1 August 2015, requiring the application of the 
completed contract method.

9.	 TRADE RECEIVABLES
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No other receivables and other assets, except Bail "Stadt 
Leipzig" in amount of €1,021,934.00, are expected to be 
recovered after more than twelve months.

11.	INCOME TAX ASSETS

The current income tax assets in the amount of €80.15 
(prior year: €314,337.51) relate to receivables from fiscal 
authorities.

12.	CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents in the amount of 
€73,623,790.63 (prior year: €112,547,605.13) inclu-
de cash-in-hand and bank balances. Cash and cash 
equivalents are subject to restrictions in the amount of 
€14,903,272.21 (prior year: €21,478,007.06) as a result of 
the project financing by banks. 

13.	EQUITY

The share capital in the amount of €8,386.00 is held by the 
shareholder Coöperatieve Activum SG Fund III Investments 
U.A., Amsterdam, the Netherlands at a rate of 59.6%, by 
the shareholder Coöperatieve Formart Investments U.A., 
Amsterdam, the Netherlands at a rate of 33.3% and by the 
shareholder Coöperatieve Activum SG Fund V Investments 
U.A., Amsterdam, the Netherlands at a rate of 7.1% and are 

fully paid. The share capital is divided in a total of 8,386 sha-
res with a nominal value of €1.00 each. On 1 January 2016, 
Steffen Göpel held €886.00 of the shares. During 2017 
Coöperatieve Activum SG Fund V Investments U.A. bought 
these €886.00 shares from Steffen Göpel. Subsequently, 
Coöperatieve Activum SG Fund V Investments U.A. sold 
€295.00 to Coöperatieve Formart Investments U.A.

The capital reserve in the amount of €85,378,772.19 (prior 
year: €37,394,560.00) relates to additional contributions 
by shareholders as share premium on the share capital. 
In this context, the shareholder Coöperatieve Activum 
SG Fund III Investments U.A., Amsterdam, the Nether-
lands, passed a resolution and paid a share premium 
of €14,000,000.00 and the shareholder Coöperatieve 
Formart Investments U.A., Amsterdam, the Netherlands, 
a share premium of €7,000,000.00. According to a 
resolution passed on 1 December 2015, the shareholder 
Coöperatieve Activum SG Fund III Investments U.A., 
Amsterdam, the Netherlands paid €8,000,000.00 and 
the shareholder Coöperatieve Formart Investments U.A., 
Amsterdam, the Netherlands, €4,000,000.00, in total 
€12,000,000.00 as a share premium to Instone Real Esta-
te Group N.V., Amsterdam, the Netherlands. Upon contri-
bution of the 10.6% share of the share capital, the share 
premium between the nominal value of the shares amoun-
ting to €886.00 and the fair value of the shares amounting 
to €4,394,560.00 was allocated to the capital reserve in 

in euros 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Tax assets without income tax 3,154,916.78 2,820,963.90

Tax indemnification Hochtief Solutions AG 2,758,072.96 0.00

Capitalized transaction costs 2,532,633.69 0.00

Loans and receivables 2,467,867.03 510,168.81

Prepayments on land 2,251,500.00 750,000.00

Sale of voting rights "TG Potsdam" 1,700,000.00 0.00

Bail "Stadt Leipzig" 1,021,934.00 0.00

Prepaid expenses 587,195.71 869,077.00

Other 28.31 639,036.29

16,474,148.48 5,589,246.00

10.	OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS

The following table includes the non-current and current 
other receivables and other assets.
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2015. As a result of the contribution agreement dated 28 
December 2017, liabilities to the shareholders were par-
tially converted into equity and transferred to the capital 
reserve: the shareholder Coöperatieve Activum SG Fund 
III Investments U.A. for €28,594,808.13, the shareholder 
Coöperatieve Activum SG Fund V Investments U.A. for 
€5,067,000.00 and the shareholder Coöperatieve Formart 
Investments U.A. for €14,267,404.06.

The retained earnings/loss carryforwards as part of the 
generated equity of the Group comprise the earnings/
losses generated by the companies included in the Group 
financial statements.

Other significant effects in the retained erarnings/loss 
carryforwards include the contribution from sharehol-
ders in the amount of €32,257,299.73. This was a result 
of the indemnity of the Group from the costs relating to 
the planned private placement and the Company’s lis-
ting on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange by the sharehol-
ders.

The accumulated other comprehensive income of the 
shareholders’ equity are the changes in equity of the 
actuarial gains and losses from defined benefit plans in 
the amount of €903,841.02 (prior year: €-1,158,063.44).  

in euros 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Amount before tax 1,317,725.39 -1,368,353.35

Income tax -413,884.37 210,289.91

Amount after tax 903,841.02 -1,158,063.44

Appropriation of result
According to the article 23 of the articles of association as 
of 9 June 2017, the shareholders decided to add the result 
for the year to the retained earnings/loss carryforwards. 
This proposal has been reflected in the stand-alone financi-
al statements and in the consolidated financial statements.

14.	�PROVISIONS FOR PENSIONS AND SIMILAR 
OBLIGATIONS

Within Instone Real Estate, the company pension 
schemes consist of both defined contribution plans and 
defined benefit plans. For defined contribution plans, the 
entity pays contributions to government or private pension 

insurance institutions based on statutory or contractual 
provisions or on a voluntary basis. The entity does not 
have any legal obligation to pay further contributions. In 
defined benefit plans, the obligation of the entity is to pay 
promised benefits to active and former employees, with 
these benefit plans being subdivided into benefit plans 
financed by provisions and financed by external sources.

The pension arrangements in Instone Real Estate consist 
of a Company-financed basic pension in the form of a 
modular defined contribution plan and a supplementary 
pension component linked to the Company performance. 
Under IAS 19, these commitments are categorised as 
defined benefit liabilities.

The income tax effects recognised directly in equity break down as follows:
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The average remaining service years of the active mem-
bers with benefit entitlements on the balance sheet date 
are 12.3 years (prior year: 12.6 years). 

Plan assets
The pension liabilities are largely funded by funds and to 
a minor extent by provisions. In the financial year, the 
funding by funds takes the form of a contractual trust 
arrangement (CTA), furthermore, there were agreements 
on deferred compensation (DC).

in euros 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Investment funds - quoted in an active market

CTA assets 5,013,020.77 4,870,917.53

DC assets 563,124.27 569,527.46

Current euro balances 372.96 252.24

5,576,518.00 5,440,697.23

Pension obligations under deferred employee compen-
sation arrangements are funded by the purchase of re-
tail fund units. The coverage of the obligations funded 
by the Helaba Pension Trust e. V. amounts to approx. 

51.3% (prior year: 50.8%); the overall coverage is  
57.1% (prior year: 56.7%). The coverage of the defined 
benefit obligations by plan assets is shown in the table 
below:

in euros 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Pension obligations covered by plan assets 8,943,041.00 8,769,507.00

Deferred Compensation covered by plan assets 814,941.00 819,417.00

9,757,982.00 9,588,924.00
Fair value of plan assets -5,576,518.00 -5,440,697.23

4,181,464.00 4,148,226.77

Composition of plan assets

Coverage of defined benefit obligations by plan assets

in euros 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Active members 6,277,427.00 6,468,394.00

of which dependent on final salary 0.00 786,408.00

thereof not dependent on final salary 6,277,427.00 5,681,986.00

Vested benefits 2,871,013.00 3,045,741.00

Current pensions 609,542.00 74,789.00

9,757,982.00 9,588,924.00

Number 31 December 2017 31 December 2016
Active members 193 200

Former members with benefit entitlements 78 63

Pensioners 4 2

The defined benefit pension liabilities in Instone Real Estate are made up as follows:
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Defined benefit obligations on 1 January 9,588,924.00 7,741,347.00

Current service cost 434,486.00 335,943.00

Interest expenses 164,646.00 187,274.00

Actuarial gains (-)/losses (+) arising from changes in demographic 
assumptions -529,036.00 1,513,548.00

Actuarial gains (-)/losses (+) arising from changes in financial  
assumptions 114,444.00 -189,188.00

Pension payments -15,482.00 0.00

Defined benefit obligations on 31 December 9,757,982.00 9,588,924.00

in euros 2017 2016
Plan assets on 1 January 5,440,697.23 5,299,719.00

Interest income from plan assets 135,820.00 140,978.23

Return on plan assets not included in net interest expenses or income 0.77 0.00

Plan assets on 31 December 5,576,518.00 5,440,697.23

The size of the pension provisions is determined on an 
actuarial basis which involves estimations. Specifically, 
the underlying actuarial assumptions of the calculation 
are shown below.

The discount factors are derived from the Mercer  
Pension Discount Yield Curve Approach (MPDYC) 

taking into account the company-specific duration of 
the pension liabilities. The underlying biometric morta-
lity assumptions are based on published country-spe-
cific statistics and experience. They were determined 
using the “2005 G Reference Tables” by Professor Dr. 
Klaus Heubeck.

Sensitivity analysis
The pension obligations in Instone Real Estate are expo-
sed to various risks. The main risks result from general 
changes in interest and inflation rates; there is no unusual 
risk inherent in the pension obligations.

Interest rate risk: The (notional) contributions are trans-
lated into benefits under a contribution-based pension 

scheme using a table of fixed interest rates, independent 
of the current market interest rate. Instone Real Estate 
thus bears the risk of general capital market interest rates 
with regard to the determination of benefits. Pension ob-
ligations have increased significantly in recent years due 
to the generally low level of capital market interest rates. 
The comparatively large impact is due to the relatively 
long term of the obligations.

The present value of the defined benefit obligations and 
the fair value of the plan assets break have changed as 
follows:

in % 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Discount factor 1.93 1.72

Salary increases 2.50 2.50

Pension increases for VO2000+ 1.00 1.00

Pension increases for other commitments 1.30 1.30

Inflation 1.30 1.30
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Inflation risk: By law, company pensions in Germany must 
be raised level with the inflation rate at least every three 
years. German company pension commitments under 
the 2000+ pension scheme rise at a fixed 1% annually, 
therefore there is only a minor inflation risk in the pension 
phase for longer-term pension commitments.

Longevity risk: As lifelong pensions are granted, the risk 
of pensioners living longer than actual projections predict 

will be borne by Instone Real Estate. The risk normally 
cancels out collectively across all pension plan members 
and only has an effect if general longevity is longer than 
expected.

The impact of the stated risks on the defined benefit 
obligations under a corresponding change in actuarial 
assumptions is shown in the sensitivity analysis shown 
below:

31 December 2017 31 December 2016

in euros Increase Decrease Increase Decrease
Discount rate  +0,50%/-0,50%  -1,120,744.00 1,324,314.00 -1,131,605.00 1,340,168.00

Salary increases +0.50%/- 0.50% 30,358.00 -29,252.00 34,483.00 -33,078.00

Pension increases +0.25%/-0,25% 167,760.00 -160,458.00 174,657.00 -167,015.00

Life expectancy + 1.00 year 286,041.00 n/a* 289,085.00 n/a*

* n/a not available

The expenses from defined benefit obligations is made up 
as follows:

in euros 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Current service cost 434,486.00 335,943.00

Interest expense for accrued benefits 164,646.00 187,274.00

Interest income from plan assets -135,820.00 -140,978.23

Net interest expense/income 28,826.00 46,295.77
Total amount recognised in profit or loss 463,312.00 382,238.77

The current service cost for the subsequent financial year 
is forecast at €435,030.00 (prior year: €434,486.00).
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15.	OTHER PROVISIONS

in euros 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Non-current

Employee-related provisions 726,760.91 11,684,728.71

Provisions for potential losses 356,252.70 356,252.70

Other provisions 247,350.00 387,200.00

1,330,363.61 12,428,181.41
Current

Employee-related provisions 34,115,069.49 5,996,752.00

Provision for tax 2,758,072.96 2,401,931.23

Warranty obligations 6,764,754.90 5,170,918.76

Litigation risks 3,181,480.00 2,909,330.00

Provision for work pending completion 0.00 4,839,008.73

Restructuring costs 0.00 258,000.00

Other provisions 2,339,528.46 3,979,056.90

49,158,905.81 25,554,997.62
Other provisions 50,489,269.42 37,983,179.03

The non-current employee-related provisions primarily 
relate to provisions for early retirement arrangements as 
well as long-service awards.

The current employee-related provisions mainly relate 
to provisions for long-service awards, early retirement 
arrangements.

Other current provisions include, without limitation, invest
ment risks, payments for damages and other contingent 
liabilities.

The development of other provisions can be seen from 
the table below:

in euros 1 Jan. 2017 Addition Reversal Reclassification Utilisation 31 Dec. 2017

Employee-related provisions 17,681,480.71 23,460,973.91 -120,361.78 -6,053,766.00 -126,496.44 34,841,830.40

Warranty obligations 5,170,918.76 1,813,057.37 -123,339.30 0.00 -95,881.93 6,764,754.90

Provision for potential losses 356,252.70 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 356,252.70

Provision for tax 2,401,931.23 2,758,072.96 0.00 -2,401,931.23 0.00 2,758,072.96

Litigation risks 2,909,330.00 1,240,860.00 -873,230.00 0.00 -95,480.00 3,181,480.00

Provision for work pending completion 4,839,008.73 0.00 -2,742.50 -4,836,266.23 0.00 0.00

Restructuring costs 258,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 -258,000.00 0.00

Other provisions 4,366,256.90 0.00 -979,196.47 -453,606.97 -346,575.00 2,586,878.46

37,983,179.03 29,272,964.24 -2,098,870.05 -13,745,570.43 -922,433.37 50,489,269.42

Employee-related provisions include commitments to 
employees in connection with long-term-incentive-plans 
relating to the planned private placement and the Compa-
ny’s listing on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange. 

For these long-term-incentive-plans, provisions in the 
amount of €34,092,319.49 (prior year: €11,678,445.03) were 
recognised. Those provisions are classified as current, due 
to the expected payment in the first quarter of 2018.
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16.	FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

in euros 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

non-current
Liabilities to banks 183,202,837.72 151,888,440.92

Liabilities to shareholders 57,804,146.51 96,570,637.02

Liabilities to third parties 0.00 52,410,428.15

241,006,984.23 300,869,506.09
current 

Liabilities to banks 134,204,629.20 45,273,651.44

Liabilities to third parties 447,129.57 36,341,389.74

Liabilities to shareholders 20,000.00 20,000.00

134,671,758.77 81,635,041.18
375,678,743.00 382,504,547.27

The non-current and current liabilities to banks consist of 
loans from various banks with fixed and variable interest 
rates. The terms of the bank liabilities are between one 
to five (prior year: one to three) years. Interest rates vary 
between 0.87% and 4.24% (prior year: 0.87% and 6.25%).

The Group’s liabilities to banks are generally not subject 
to covenants but are secured by land charges. 

The non-current financial liabilities to shareholders 
in the total amount of €57,804,146.51 (prior year: 
€96,570,637.02), of which an amount of €36,862,004.07 
(prior year: €61,668,979.07) belongs to Coöperatieve 
Activum SG Fund III Investments U.A., Amsterdam, and 
an amount of €18,318,252.03 (prior year: €30,730,489.53) 
to Coöperatieve Formart Investments U.A., Amsterdam, 
the Netherlands. Current financial liabilities include liabi-
lities to the shareholder Coöperatieve Activum SG Fund 
III Investments U.A., Amsterdam, the Netherlands, in the 
amount of €20,000.00 (prior year: €20,000.00).

In 2014, Instone Real Estate granted a call and put opti-
on for the remaining non-controlling interests in Instone 
Real Estate Development GmbH to the seller Hochtief 
Solutions AG. The call and put option has been exerci-
sed in three tranches only, starting with the first tranche 
which is exercisable 12 months from the “Closing Date”, 
the second tranche, which was exercisable 24 months 
from the “Closing Date”, and the third tranche, which was 
exercisable 36 months from the “Closing Date”. Interests 
are calculated based on an interest rate of 4%. With effect 
from 28 February 2017, the Instone Real Estate Group N.V. 
exercised the third (prior year: second) granted call and put 
option relating to ownership interests in Instone Real Estate 
Development GmbH and bought 11,6% (prior year: 6.2%) of 
the ownership interests in Instone Real Estate Development 
GmbH from Hochtief Solutions AG at a purchase price of 
€22,508,243.41 (prior year: €11,925,801.62). For further 
information regarding the development of the call and put 
option please refer to C.2.2 indention “Acquisition of subsi-
diaries”.

in euros 1 January 2017
Financing  

Cash Flows Non-cash changes 31 December 2017

shareholder 
contribution

capitalized 
interests

Fair value 
adjustments

Liabilities to banks 197.162.092,36 121.877.369,09 866.725,47 -2.498.720,00 317.407.466,92

Liabilities to shareholders 96.590.637,02 -47.959.212,19 9.192.721,68 57.824.146,51

Liabilities to third parties 88.751.817,89 -88.304.688,32 447.129,57

382.504.547,27 33.572.680,77 -47.959.212,19 10.059.447,15 -2.498.720,00 375.678.743,00
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17.	DEFERRED TAXES 

Deferred tax is measured on the basis of the individu-
al tax rates that apply to the individual countries and 
companies at the time of realisation or are expected to 
be applied. Deferred tax asset and deferred tax liabilities 
are offset per entity or per tax group. In all other respects, 
the provisions of tax law valid or adopted on the financial 
statement date are used to measure deferred tax.

Deferred tax assets on tax refund claims resulting from the 
expected use of existing tax loss carryforwards in subse-
quent years and whose realisation is sufficiently certain 
amount to €8,660,159.41 (prior year: €9,542,139.07).

There are loss carryforwards of our entities which do 
not relate to deferred tax assets: in Germany amoun-
ting to €8,297,743.44 (prior year: €11,079,500.89), in 
Luxembourg in the amount of €21,802,000.00 (prior 
year: €21,526,000.00) and in Austria in the amount of 
€31,086,846.74 (prior year: €28,384,164.00).

In principle, these loss carryforwards may be offset within 
each country with profits in the subsequent years. Accor-
ding to the current assessment we do not anticipate any 
use of these loss carryforwards.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities have chan-
ged as follows:

31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Deferred tax Deferred tax Deferred tax Deferred tax
in euros assets liabilities assets liabilities
Non-current assets 77,154.16 1,041,892.88 16,318.59 0.00

Current assets 5,199,349.94 22,985,180.99 220,341.10 25,130,257.11

Non-current liabilities 1,688,921.89 4,462,537.84 991,983.53 2,286,024.05
- Financial liabilities 0.00 3,508,207.68 0.00 2,213,838.11

- Pension provisions 1,495,571.57 0.00 754,967.29 0.00

- Provisions 193,350.32 20,950.47 237,016.24 0.00

- Other non-current liabilities 0.00 933,379.69 0.00 72,185.94

Current liabilities 14,321,642.15 2,830,712.94 1,646,999.76 412,832.11
- Other provisions 11,335,624.78 2,628,599.86 77,438.59 21,929.39

- Other current liabilities 2,986,017.37 202,113.08 1,569,561.17 390,902.72

21,287,068.13 31,320,324.65 2,875,642.98 27,829,113.27
Loss carryforwards 2,363,949.24 0.00 1,539,501.57 0.00

Gross amount 23,651,017.37 31,320,324.65 4,415,144.55 27,829,113.27

Balance -23,651,017.37 -23,651,017.37 -4,415,144.55 -4,415,144.55
Reported in the statement of financial position 0.00 7,669,307.28 0.00 23,413,968.72

18.	TRADE PAYABLES

in euros 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Trade payables 45,340,013.55 53,620,968.80

Progress payments received 230,351,905.65 161,519,425.41

275,691,919.20 215,140,394.21
Payables from non-consolidated subsidiaries 0.00 23,539.18

0.00 23,539.18

275,691,919.20 215,163,933.39
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19. OTHER LIABILITIES

in euros 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Current
Tax liabilities, others than income tax 1,031,941.53 918,151.36

Liabilities to employees 7,977,144.04 438,981.52

Social security liabilities 10,774.80 10,840.02

Liabilities due to purchase shares in GRK Holding 0.00 5,436,918.80

Liabilities to shareholders 0.00 2,481,863.01

Sundry other liabilities 386,453.78 3,839,602.26

9,406,314.15 13,126,356.97

Sundry liabilities include obligations outside of trade 
accounts payable.

20.	INCOME TAX LIABILITIES

The current income tax liabilities amounting to 
€13,792,549.24 (prior year: €6,206,889.40) relate to liabi-
lities to fiscal authorities.

C.2.3 �NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 
OF PROFIT OR LOSS

21.	REVENUE

The revenue is attributable to the following regions:

in euros 2017 2016

Germany 196,722,509.28 190,547,638.06

Rest of Europe 2,977,451.60 13,063,412.74

199,699,960.88 203,611,050.80

For the breakdown of total revenue by types, please see the table below:

in euros 2017 2016
Revenues from percentage of completion 0.00 78,934,258.71

Revenues from completed construction contracts 196,778,069.77 120,969,139.89

Other services 2,921,891.11 3,707,652.20

199,699,960.88 203,611,050.80
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22.	CHANGES IN INVENTORIES

The changes in inventory of the products in the amount 
of €120,207,157.69 (prior year: -€158,915,328.23) include 
cost of production for project developments.

In the year under review €120,496,982.15 (prior year: 
€130,230,298.30) of inventories are recognised as an 
expense.

23.	OTHER OPERATING INCOME

Other operating incomes complied as follows:

in euros 2017 2016

Demand from sale voting rights TG Potsdam 1,700,000.00 0.00

Bonus payment Hofgut Obermühle 1,044,743.70 0.00

Income from the reduction impairment 893,705.06 46,182.77

Income from the reversal of provisions 0.00 1,334,480.74

Reimbursement of planning services 0.00 1,600,000.00

Insurance reimbursements 0.00 48,822.46

Rental income 0.00 50,453.66

Profit of sale of tangible assets 0.00 15,700.00

Income from the settlement of legal disputes 0.00 1,553,669.02

Cost reimbursements 0.00 1,085,341.34

Other income 1,742,645.71 2,597,700.47

5,381,094.47 8,332,350.46

24.	COST OF MATERIALS

in euros 2017 2016

Cost of materials and supplies 120,872,761.97 165,266,771.38

Cost of purchased services 123,945,771.10 128,416,799.23

244,818,533.07 293,683,570.61

25.	STAFF COSTS

in euros 2017 2016

Wages and salaries 23,682,398.52 22,831,158.80

Long-term incentive 22,413,874.46 8,897,793.03

Social insurance, pensions and support 3,434,364.95 3,451,862.71

49,530,637.93 35,180,814.54

Employer's contributions paid to state pension insurance 
institutions in the reporting year amounted to 
€1,399,277.59 (prior year: €1,347,461.67). 

Expenditure on pensions totalled €425,896.00 (prior year: 
€335,943.00). This mostly comprises new entitlements 
accrued during the year under defined pension plans and 
payments into defined contribution pension schemes.
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The average number of employees breaks down as 
follows:

2017 2016

Number of employees including trainees and working students 301 292

All employees were employed outside the Netherlands.

26.	OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

in euros 2017 2016

Commission fees and other distribution costs 18,409,905.19 24,062,765.85

Rentals and lease rentals 4,615,339.83 3,131,925.32

Court costs, attorneys' and notaries' fees 3,983,640.76 2,256,615.89

Other overheads 2,314,863.79 0.00

Technical and business consulting 2,218,663.78 2,577,970.84

Litigation costs 1,112,796.54 1,267,585.70

Vehicle costs 970,786.36 351,662.24

Mail and funds transfer expenses 882,659.24 500,444.10

Insurances 785,901.49 606,038.81

Real estate tax, wealth tax and other taxes 771,424.75 460,618.14

Non-deductible VAT 703,426.11 0.00

Loss resultion from sale rental portfolio Steffen Göpel 697,073.55 900,780.77

Restructuring and adjustment costs 689,684.61 215,222.09

Advertising measures 483,947.01 623,421.08

Entertainment expenses 296,855.33 245,483.59

Stationery 217,131.70 217,690.04

Property levies 139,201.40 162,412.78

Operating costs 0.00 1,456,114.22

Management compensation 0.00 70,383.72

Travel expenses, transportation costs 0.00 731,225.22

Further education measures 0.00 344,408.75

Compensation during the construction period 0.00 800,783.83

Sundry other operating expenses 2,179,512.92 1,402,696.70

41,472,814.36 42,386,249.68

Sundry operating expenses mostly comprise order pro-
cessing, costs of materials for administrative purposes, 
costs of preparing the annual financial statements and 
other expenses not reported elsewhere.
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27.	INCOME FROM ASSOCIATED AFFILIATES

The income from associated affiliates can be made up as 
follows:

in euros 2017 2016

Share of profits and losses of equity-accounted interests
Wohnentwicklung Theresienstraße GmbH & Co. KG 427.38 -177.64

Wohnpark Gießener Straße GmbH & Co. KG -1,934.18 2,766.80

TG Potsdam Projektentwicklungsgesellschaft mbH -250,000.00 0.00

Projektentwicklungsgesellschaft Holbeinviertel mbH & Co KG -991,637.18 1,364,366.36

SEVERINS WOHNEN GmbH & Co. KG 0.00 -37,501.00

CONTUR Wohnbauentwicklung GmbH & Co. KG 0.00 3,622.04

-1,243,143.98 1,333,076.56
Profit distribution from equity-accounted interests 
Projektentwicklungsgesellschaft Holbeinviertel mbH & Co KG 1,477,775.73 0.00

1,477,775.73 0.00
234,631.75 1,333,076.56

28.	OTHER INCOME FROM INVESTMENTS

The other income from investments breaks down as 
follows:

in euros 2017 2016

Income from the sale of participating interests
DURST-BAU GmbH 371.51 0.00

Instone Real Estate Development GmbH 91.14 0.00

formart Immobilien GmbH, Essen, Germany 15,179.99 0.00

Projektverwaltungsgesellschaft Mönchengladbach - Area of Sport mbH -115.63 0.00

formart Beteiligungsverwaltungsgesellschaft mbH -780.19 0.00

Warenhaus Flensburg Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH -165,686.61 0.00

Wohnentwicklung Theresienstraße GmbH & Co. KG -9,839.79 0.00

ArtOffice GmbH 6,663.34 0.00

Area of Sports GmbH & Co. KG 0.00 36,000.00

Uferpalais Projektgesellschaft  mbH & Co. KG 0.00 13,029.94

RheinauArtOffice GmbH & Co. KG 0.00 -5,037.38

-154,116.24 43,992.56
Net income from non-consolidated subsidiaries and other participating interests
Domaine Etoile S.C.I. 92,883.10 0.00

92,883.10 0.00
Income from the sale of affiliated companies
Immobilière de Hamm S.à r.l. 0.00 278,182.56

Flensburg Kaufhaus GmbH & Co. KG 0.00 -10,000.00

0.00 268,182.56
-61,233.14 312,175.12



IRE_G Group Financial Statements 2017 

58

E.
 O

TH
ER

 IN
FO

R
M

AT
IO

N
 

D
. �C

O
R

PO
R

AT
E 

 
G

O
VE

R
N

A
N

C
E

C
. �C

O
N

SO
LI

D
AT

ED
  

FI
N

A
N

C
IA

L 
ST

AT
EM

EN
TS

B
. �G

R
O

U
P 

M
A

N
A

G
EM

EN
T 

 
R

EP
O

R
T

A
. I

N
TR

O
D

U
C

TI
O

N
 

C
. �C

O
N

SO
LI

D
AT

ED
  

FI
N

A
N

C
IA

L 
ST

AT
EM

EN
TS

29.	DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION

in euros 2017 2016

Tangible assets 437,703.92 439,889.19

Intangible assets 0.00 685.00

437,703.92 440,574.19

As in the prior year, there were no impairment losses on 
intangible and property, plant and equipment.

30.	FINANCIAL RESULT

in euros 2017 2016

Interest and similar income 595,011.97 133,215.23

Finance income 595,011.97 133,215.23
Interest and similar expenses -20,486,550.57 -23,519,342.37

Interest call and put option -129,181.57 -1,123,968.87

Interest components of increase in provisions -320,584.86 -340,221.20

Net interest expenses on pension obligations -28,826.00 -46,295.77

Finance cost -20,965,143.00 -25,029,828.21
-20,370,131.03 -24,896,612.98

Result from long-term securities 18,004.46 113,523.64
Financial result -20,352,126.77 -24,783,089.34

Interest and similar income or expenses consist of interest 
income or expenses on cash investments, interest-bea-
ring securities and other loans. Interest and similar inco-
me furthermore represent all profit shares and dividends 
from long-term and short-term securities. The resulting 
net interest result amounts to €-20,370,131.03 (prior year: 
€-24,896,612.97). 

In the financial year, interest income of €595,011.97 
was recorded for financial instruments not carried at fair 
value through profit or loss (prior year: of €133,215.23); 

interest expenses on such financial instruments were 
recorded in the amount of €20,615,732.14 (prior year: 
€24,643,244.24).

Net interest expenses on pension obligations in the 
amount of €28,826.00 (prior year: €46.295.77) include 
the annual interest on the net present value of pen-
sion obligations in the amount of €164,646.00 (prior 
year: €187,274.00), offset against interest income from 
plan assets in the amount of €-135,820.00 (prior year: 
€140,978.23) 
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31.	INCOME TAXES

in euros 2017 2016

Income taxes
Corporate income tax -7,410,497.52 -4,555,820.97

Trade income tax -7,654,253.78 -6,258,519.14

Current income taxes -15,064,751.30 -10,814,340.11
Deferred taxes 15,255,412.42 12,583,887.05

190,661.12 1,769,546.94

in euros 2017 2016

Income before taxes -31,150,204.20 -23,970,317.18
Theoretical tax expenses at 25.00% 7,787,551.05 5,992,579.30

Tax effects on 

Difference in tax rates 1,752,058.75 -685,991.44

Prior year adjustment 590,308,94 1,937,036.08

Non-tax-allowable expenses -6,130,041.17 -3,237,899.28

Non-tax-allowable income -7,555,376.91 102,287.39

Trade tax adjustments 0.00 848,681.86

Equity accounting of associates -2,067,147.83 131,834.75

Recognition and measurement of deferred tax assets -3,376,632.47 848,950.18

Adjustement of previously recognised deferred tax asset -281,861.68 -1,348,194.30

Tax differing result allocation 1,031,478.32 -1,031,478.32

Effects from consolidation 9,163,214.63 -1,577,732.58

Reduction of assessed property value 28,602.57 28,206.36

Transaction-related special effect -939,524.96 -167,027.13

Supplementary balance sheet effects 187,155.94 0.00

Others 875.94 -71,705.93

Current income taxes 190,661.12 1,769,546.94

The reconciliation of theoretical income tax to recognised income tax is as follows:

It is based on the individual tax rates that apply to the indi-
vidual countries and companies at the time of realisation 
or are expected to be applied. The Company’s tax rate of 
25.0% (prior year: 25.0%) was used as the expected tax 
rate. 

Unrecognised deferred tax assets for loss carryforwards 
mainly relate to the losses of the entity in Luxembourg as 
well as Instone Real Estate Leipzig GmbH.

32. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic and diluted earnigs per share are calculated by 
dividing the portion of net income attributable to Instone 
shareholders by the average numer of shares outstanding; 
treasury shares are not taken into account in this calculation. 
As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2017 no shares 
were outstanding, consequently the number of shares issu-
ed on 13 February 2018 were included in the calculation.

2017 2016

Earnings per share
Net income for Instone Real Estate Group N.V. shareholders (in euros) -31,088,126.79 -22,409,509.42

Number of shares outstanding in thousands (weighted average) 36,988 36,988

Basic and diluted earnings per share (in euros) -0.84 -0.61
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C.2.4 OTHER DISCLOSURES

Reporting on financial instruments
Financial instruments include financial assets and liabili-
ties as well as contractual claims and obligations relating 
to exchanges and transfers of financial assets. There are 
no derivative financial instruments.

Financial assets mostly comprise cash and cash equi-
valents, receivables and other financial investments. 
Financial liabilities are mostly current liabilities measured 
at amortised cost.

The financial instruments held are shown in the balance 
sheet. The maximum risk of loss or default is equal to 
total financial assets. Any such risk identified in respect of 
financial assets is accounted for with an impairment loss.

Risk management
All finance activities in Instone Real Estate are conducted 
on the basis of a Group-wide financial directive. This is 
supplemented by function-specific operating work guide-
lines on subjects such as collateral management. These 
policies include principles for dealing with the various 
classes of financial risk.

Trading, control and settlement activities are divided 
between front and back offices. This ensures effective 
risk management where monitoring and settlement of 
front office external trading activities are performed by a 
separate and independent back office. Furthermore, the 
dual control principle must be observed at minimum for 

all external trading transactions. Internal authorisations to 
give instructions are strictly limited in number and mone-
tary amount, are reassessed at regular intervals (at least 
once a year) and adjusted if necessary.

Management of liquidity risk
Instone Real Estate uses largely centralised liquidity 
structures to pool liquidity at Group level, amongst other 
things to avoid cash flow bottlenecks at the level of indi-
vidual entities. The central liquidity position is determined 
on a monthly basis and calculated in a bottom-up process 
over a rolling 12-months period. Liquidity budgets are 
supplemented with monthly stress testing.

The tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual ma-
turity for its non-derivative financial liabilities with agreed 
repayment periods. The tables have been drawn up based 
on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities on the 
date on which the Group can be required to pay. The tables 
include both interest and principal cash flow. Interest pay-
ments on variable rate items are translated uniformly using 
the last interest rate fixed prior to the balance sheet date. 

The maximum payments shown in the tables below are 
offset by contractually fixed receipts in the same peri-
ods that are not shown here (for example, from trade 
receivables), which cover the shown cash outflows to a 
considerable extent.

Maturity analysis of financial liabilities
The following table summarises the contractual payments 
relating to financial liabilities:

Carrying amount Cash-outflows

in euros 31 December 2017 2018 2019-2021 >2021
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Financial liabilities 375,678,743.00 201,049,202.01 170,640,571.58 20,159,352.02

Trade payables 275,691,919.20 275,691,919.20 0.00 0.00

651,370,662.20 476,741,121.21 170,640,571.58 20,159,352.02

Carrying amount Cash-outflows
in euros 31 December 2016 2017 2018-2020 >2020
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Financial liabilities 382,504,547.27 145,094,762.12 268,142,635.13 0.00

Trade payables 215,163,933.39 215,163,933.39 0.00 0.00

597,668,480.66 360,258,695.51 268,142,635.13 0.00
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Furthermore, Group liquidity is sufficiently secured, also 
based on the available cash in hand and bank balances 

as well as undrawn cash credit lines.
The table below shows the main liquidity instruments:

in euros 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Cash and cash equivalents 73,623,790.63 112,547,605.13

Credit line - amount unused 457,452,555.90 77,220,568.59

531,076,346.53 189,768,173.72

Management of default risks
Instone Real Estate is exposed to default risks from ope-
rations and from certain financing activities.

Instone Real Estate performs risk management for 
operations by continuously monitoring trade receivables 
at a branch level. If a specific default risk is detected, it is 
countered by recognizing an individual impairment to the 
extent necessary.

The maximum default risk exposure of financial assets is 
equivalent to their carrying amounts in the statement of fi-
nancial position. However, the actual default risk exposure 
is lower due to collateral given in favour of Instone Real 
Estate. The maximum risk exposure on financial guaran-
tees is the maximum amount that Instone Real Estate 
would have to pay. The maximum default risk for loan 
commitments is the amount of the commitment. Recourse 
to these financial guarantees and loan commitments is 
very unlikely at the time of reporting.

Instone Real Estate accepts collateral to secure con-
tract performance by subcontractors, subcontractors’ 
warranty obligations, and claims to remuneration. Such 
collateral includes, without limitation, guarantees relating 

to warranty obligations, contract performance, advance 
payments, and payment bonds. Acceptance of collateral 
is governed by an Instone Real Estate policy. It includes, 
without limitation, the contractual drafting, implementa-
tion and management of all agreements. The detailed 
instructions vary, depending on the country jurisdiction 
and current case law, for example. For default risks, Ins-
tone Real Estate examines the credit rating of the party 
providing the collateral for all guarantees accepted. Ins-
tone Real Estate engages external specialists (such as 
rating agencies) for assessing credit standings as far as 
possible. The fair values of accepted collateral are not 
disclosed as they cannot be measured reliably as a  
rule.

The age structure of financial assets that are past due is 
specific to the industry. Receipt of payment depends on 
order acceptance and invoice checking, which often takes 
a relatively long time.

Most of these past due unimpaired financial assets are 
due from contracting authorities with top credit ratings.

The following table shows the past due, unimpaired finan-
cial assets:

31 December 2017

in euros Up to 30 days 31 to 60 days 61 to 90 days Over 90 days
Trade receivables 3,587,563.19 42,316.31 22,396.04 459,419.56

31 December 2016
in euros Up to 30 days 31 to 60 days 61 to 90 days Over 90 days
Trade receivables 8,999,476.24 135,370.81 2,338,886.24 4,771,861.16

in euros 1 January 2016 Changes* 31 December 2016 Changes* 31 December 2017
Trade reivables 8,363,172.41 -2,032,946.35 6,330,226.06 -2,712,407.45 3,617,818.61

*Changes result from allocations, reversals, utilisations and changes in Group structure
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With regard to financial assets that are neither past due 
nor impaired, there are currently no indications of any 
need to recognise impairments for reasons relating to 
credit ratings.

Management of interest risks
The interest rate risk in Instone Real Estate mainly con-
sists of short- and long-term interest-bearing financial 
assets and liabilities due to fluctuations in market interest 
rates. Depending on the market situation, this risk is 
countered by a mix of fixed- and variable-interest financial 
instruments. The risk is not controlled separately, as the 
external borrowings are usually redeemed within a short 
time by payments of the acquirers.

Changes in the market interest rates of non-derivative 
financial instruments with a fixed interest rate have an im-
pact on the result only if they are recognised at fair value. 
For this reason, all fixed-interest financial instruments 
carried at amortised cost are not subject to interest rate 
risks as defined by IFRS 7.

As part of a sensitivity analysis, we examined the impact 
of the change in market interest rates in a range of 100 
basis points on the earnings after tax. In the financial 

year, a hypothetical increase/decrease in the market 
interest rate of 100 basis points, with other variables 
remaining constant, would result in lower/higher earnings 
after tax of €-1,812,431.26/ €+1,812,431.26 (prior year: 
€-1,257,767.56 / €+ 1,252,768.67). 

Capital risk management
Instone Real Estate manages its capital with the aim of 
ensuring that all Group companies can continue to opera-
te as a going concern. The Group keeps the cost of capi-
tal as low as possible by optimizing the balance between 
equity and debt as the need arises. These measures 
primarily serve to secure the best possible credit standing 
as well as to maximise shareholder returns.

The Group’s capital structure consists of the current and 
non-current liabilities less cash and cash equivalents 
recognised in the balance sheet and the shareholders’ 
equity. The Group’s capital structure is assessed at regu-
lar intervals, taking into account the risk-adjusted cost of 
capital.

The overall capital risk management strategy did not 
change in the year under review compared with the prior 
year.

in euros 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Trade reivables

Gross amount 9,568,191.34 13,444,235.54

Impairment -3,617,818.61 -6,330,226.06

Net amount 5,950,372.73 7,114,009.48

Individually impaired financial assets are shown below:
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Additional information on financial instruments
In the following, carrying amounts and fair values are 
shown for each class of financial instrument and carrying 
amounts for each IAS 39 category:

in euros
Available  

for sale
Loans and 

receivables
At (amortised) 

cost 
Total 

31 December 2017
Total fair value  

31 December 2017
FINANCIAL ASSETS 333,461.79 110,884,201.13 0.00 111,217,662.92 111,217,662.92
Other financial assets 333,461.79 0.00 0.00 333,461.79 333,461.79
Financial receivables 0.00 33,043,146.83 0.00 33,043,146.83 33,043,146.83
Non-current 0.00 683,029.91 0.00 683,029.91 683,029.91

Current 0.00 32,360,116.92 0.00 32,360,116.92 32,360,116.92

Trade receivables 0.00 4,217,263.67 0.00 4,217,263.67 4,217,263.67
Cash and cash equivalents 0.00 73,623,790.63 0.00 73,623,790.63 73,623,790.63

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 0.00 0.00 651,370,662.20 651,370,662.20 651,370,662.20
Financial liabilities 0.00 0.00 375,678,743.00 375,678,743.00 375,678,743.00
Non-current 0.00 0.00 241,006,984.23 241,006,984.23 241,006,984.23

Current 0.00 0.00 134,671,758.77 134,671,758.77 134,671,758.77

Trade payables 0.00 0.00 275,691,919.20 275,691,919.20 275,691,919.20

in euros
Available  

for sale
Loans and 

receivables
At (amortised) 

cost 
Total 

31 December 2016
Total fair value  

31 December 2016
FINANCIAL ASSETS 667,726.79 133,002,295.51 0.00 133,670,022.30 133,670,022.30
Other financial assets 667,726.79 0.00 0.00 667,726.79 667,726.79
Financial receivables 0.00 851,276.11 0.00 851,276.11 851,276.11
Non-current 0.00 683,029.91 0.00 683,029.91 683,029.91

Current 0.00 168,246.20 0.00 168,246.20 168,246.20

Trade receivables 0.00 19,603,414.27 0.00 19,603,414.27 19,603,414.27
Cash and cash equivalents 0.00 112,547,605.13 0.00 112,547,605.13 112,547,605.13

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 0.00 0.00 597,668,480.66 597,668,480.66 597,668,480.66
Financial liabilities 0.00 0.00 382,504,547.27 382,504,547.27 382,504,547.27
Non-current 0.00 0.00 300,869,506.09 300,869,506.09 300,869,506.09

Current 0.00 0.00 81,635,041.18 81,635,041.18 81,635,041.18

Trade payables 0.00 0.00 215,163,933.39 215,163,933.39 215,163,933.39

As current financial instruments have short remaining 
maturities, their carrying amounts correspond to market 
value as of the balance sheet date. Non-current securi-
ties in the “available-for-sale” category are measured at 
fair value through profit or loss; as such, their carrying 
amounts also correspond to fair value.

For other financial investments there are no reliable fair 
values. They are measured at cost within the “availab-
le-for-sale” category. There were no transfers between 
the categories of financial instruments, neither in the 
financial year nor in the prior year.

Additional information on financial instruments as 
of 31 December 2016
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Net result from financial instruments
The following table shows the net result from financial 
instruments by IAS 39 category:

in euros 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Available for sale 399,992.58 1,758,775.32

Loans and receivables 571,017.47 133,215.23

Liabilities at amortised cost -20,408,246.57 -24,643,311.23

-19,437,236.52 -22,751,320.68

The calculation of net profit from financial instruments 
includes interest income and expenses, impairments and 
impairment reversals, income and expenses from cur-
rency translation, dividend income, gains and losses on 
disposal, and other changes in the fair value of financial 
instruments recognised in income.

In the financial year, the change of impairments on trade 
receivables amounted to €-2,712,407.45 (prior year: 
€-2,032,946.35). 

Operating leases
The future minimum lease payments are as follows:

in euros 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Due within one year 2,749,154.10 2,594,408.40

Due in one to five years 5,323,370.42 5,555,692.42

Due after five years 1,405,847.00 747,099.00

9,478,371.52 8,897,199.82

Instone Real Estate as a lessee has concluded long-term 
leases on commercial properties and company cars.

Notes to the consolidated statement of cash flows
The consolidated statement of cash flows classifies cash 
flows into operating, investing, and financing activities. All 
non-cash income and expense and all income from asset 
disposals is eliminated in cash flow from operations.

Cash outflow from investing activities is marked pri-
marily by the acquisition of subsidiaries amounting to 
€22,839,425.33.

Cash and cash equivalents as of 31 December 2017 
exclusively comprised cash amounting to €73,623,790.63 
(prior year: €112,547,605.13), of which of €14,903,272.21 
(prior year: €21,478,007.06) was subject to restrictions.
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Related party disclosures
Significant related parties mostly include the significant 
equity-accounted entities and shareholders. Material 

transactions were entered into with significant related 
parties, which had an effect on the following items in the 
financial statements:

in euros 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Financial receivables
Coöperatieve Activum SG Fund III Investments U.A. 19,232,828.37 0.00

Coöperatieve Activum SG Fund V Investments U.A. 2,273,320.31 0.00

Coöperatieve Formart Investments U.A. 10,751,151.05 0.00

Steffen Göpel 0.00 480.11

32,257,299.73 480.11

Financial liabilities
Coöperatieve Activum SG Fund III Investments U.A. 38,631,264.34 61,668,979.07

Coöperatieve Formart Investments U.A. 19,192,882.17 31,557,777.20

Steffen Göpel 0.00 6,271,168.42

57,824,146.51 99,497,924.69

Other current liabilities
Steffen Göpel 0.00 4,739,845.29

Coöperatieve Activum SG Fund III Investments U.A. 0.00 1,661,576.76

0.00 6,401,422.05

Revenue
Steffen Göpel 0.00 849,000.00

0.00 849,000.00

Other operating expenses
Steffen Göpel 697,073.55 0.00

Coöperatieve Activum SG Fund III Investments U.A. 0.00 118,339.06

697,073.55 118,339.06

Interest
Coöperatieve Activum SG Fund III Investments U.A. 3,787,833.13 3,814,707.63

Coöperatieve Activum SG Fund V Investments U.A. 673,866.47 0.00

Coöperatieve Formart Investments U.A. 1,885,166.56 1,925,867.51

Steffen Göpel 221,965.11 241,084.44

6,568,831.27 5,981,659.58

The financial receivables to Coöperatieve Activum SG Fund III 
Investments U.A., Amsterdam, in the amount of €19,232,828.37, 
Coöperatieve Activum SG Fund V Investments U.A., 
Amsterdam, in the amount of €2,273,320.31 and Coöperatie-
ve Formart Investments U.A., Amsterdam, in the amount of 

€10,751,151.05 are interest-free and have a maturity of less 
than one year.

These financial receivables were a result of the indemnity 
of the Group from the costs relating to the planned private 

Relations to shareholders
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placement and the Company’s listing on the Frankfurt 
Stock Exchange by the shareholders.

The financial liabilities to Coöperatieve Activum SG 
Fund III Investments U.A., Amsterdam, in the amount of 
€36,882,004.07  and Coöperatieve Formart Investments 
U.A., Amsterdam, in the amount of €18,318,252.03 are 
interest-bearing at a rate of 7% and are due for repayment 
in December 2020. 

The financial liabilities to Coöperatieve Activum SG 
Fund III Investments U.A., Amsterdam, in the amount of 
€1,749,260.27 and Coöperatieve Formart Investments U.A., 
Amsterdam, in the amount of €874,630.14 are interest-bea-
ring at a rate of 6% and are due for repayment in May 2021.

As at 31 December 2017, shareholders of Instone Real 
Estate Group N.V. were Coöperatieve Activum SG Fund 

III Investments U.A., Amsterdam, with a share in the 
amount of 59.6%, Coöperatieve Activum SG Fund V 
Investments U.A., Amsterdam, with a share in the amount 
of 7.1%, Coöperatieve Formart Investments U.A., Amster-
dam, with a share in the amount of 33.3%.

ActivumSG Capital Management L.P., Jersey/UK, is the 
Group parent company for the largest group of entities in 
the ActivumSG Group and also the ultimate party for the 
group of entities in Instone Real Estate.

There is no allowance account for impaired receivables in 
relation to any outstanding balances, and no expense has 
been recognised in respect of impaired receivables due 
from related parties. For detailed terms and conditions of 
financial liabilities please refer to note 16. “Financial liabi-
lities”. Services were bought based on the prices in force 
and terms that would be available to third parties. 

in euros 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Financial receivables 
Projektverwaltungsgesellschaft Mönchengladbach - Area of Sports mbH 37,783.22 0.00

Uferpalais Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH 65,033.97 0.00

Contur Wohnbauentwicklung GmbH 0.00 148,500.00

Projektverwaltungsgesellschaft Severins Wohnen GmbH 0.00 19,746.20

102,817.19 168.246.20
Financial liabilities

Projektentwicklungsgesellschaft Holbeinviertel mbH & Co. KG 450,000.00 1,380,000.00

The financial receivables have a maturity of less than one 
year. 

The financial liabilities to Projektentwicklungsgesellschaft 
Holbeinviertel mbH & Co. KG, Frankfurt am Main, in the 
amount of €450,000.00 is interest-free and has a maturity 
of less than one year.

Relations to joint ventures
No other material transactions were entered into between 
Instone Real Estate Group N.V. or any Group company 
and Executive or related parties in the reporting period. 
There were no conflicts of interest involving Executives.

Compensation of key management
The compensation for the Management Board members 
for 2017 comprises
1.	 a fixed compensation
2.	 fringe benefits
3.	 a variable compensation
4.	 a long-term-incentive component divided in two com-

ponents:
4.a	 Pre-Placement STI
4.b	 Pre-Placement LTIP

5.	 a pension plan

Relations to associates
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1.	 The fixed compensation is paid in equal monthly 
amounts.

2.	 The fringe benefits comprise amounts to be recogni-
sed for tax purposes for private use of company cars 
and other non-cash benefits.

3.	 The one-year variable compensation is computed on 
the basis of the following equally weighted compo-
nents: adjusted free cash flow, consolidated earnings 
before taxes as compared to the plan for the actual 
year. 

4.a	 Under the Pre-Placement STI, the members of the 
Management Board reinvested certain amounts 
received, in addition to the total value of any amounts 
reinvested under the Pre-Placement STI with respect 
to the financial years 2015 to 2017. Thereafter, the 
value of the virtual shares will be subject to the Com-
pany’s share price performance to be determined 
based on the number of virtual shares multiplied with 
the share price at a given point in time. 

4.b	 The successful sale of shares by the shareholders in 
the Placement will constitute a trigger event under the 
long-term incentive plan previously agreed between 
the Company and the four members of the Manage-
ment Board. In accordance with addenda to the 
Pre-Placement LTIP agreements, all Pre-Placement 
LTIP Beneficiaries will receive the aggregate amounts 
payable under their respective Pre-Placement LTIP 
agreements upon settlement of the Private Place-
ment.

5.	 Some members of the Management Board have Com-
pany pension plans in the form of individual contractual 
pension arrangements that provide for a minimum 
pension age of 65. The amount of the pension is de-
termined as a percentage of fixed compensation, the 
percentage rising with the number of years in office. 
The maximum amount the Management Board mem-
ber can receive is 65% of his final fixed compensation. 
Surviving dependents receive 60% of the pension.

in euros Kruno Crepulja Oliver Schmitt Andreas Gräf Torsten Kracht Total

Current compensation
Fixed compensation 352,700.36 305,071.71 291,650.81 148,080.84 1,097,503.72

Fringe benefits 64,271.12 61,423.40 48,301.86 11,333.33 185,329.71

One-year variable compensation 136,778.21 102,597.48 118,293.10 140,000.00 497,668.79

Variable remuneration components 
with long-term incentive effect and 
risk character

Long-term incentive component 3,803,713.44 2,159,585.79 2,139,132.85 1,306,106.74 9,408,538.82

Pensions 
Pension expenses -40,272.00 -277,267.00 -53,324.00 0.00 -370,863.00

Total compensation 4,317,191.13 2,351,411.38 2,544,054.62 1,605,520.92 10,818,178.04

The total compensation in the amount of €10,818,178.04 
was partly paid by Instone Real Estate Devlopment 
GmbH in the amount of €1,067,074.58 and by Instone 
Real Estate Leipzig in the amount of €1,015,493.42.

The management appointed for the financial year 2016 
and until June 2017 did not receive any remuneration for 
the management activities in the financial year, neither in 
2017 nor in the prior year.

The Company and its subsidiaries did not make available 
any loans, advances and guarantees for the benefit of any 
member of key management.

Furthermore, there were no rights granted to the mem-
bers of key management to subscribe for, or otherwise 
acquire, shares in the capital of the Company or a sub-
sidiary, or depository receipts for such shares, as part of 
their compensation during 2017.

The remuneration of the Management Board in the year under review was as follows:
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in euros 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Financial statement audits 244,500.00 89,950.00

Other audit engagements 151,250.00 0.00
  395,750.00 89,950.00

in euros 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Financial statement audits 513,925.00 267,882.50

Other audit engagements 171,010.45 0.00

Other non-audit services 91,421.03 7,210.00

  776,356.48 275,092.50

Deloitte Accountants B.V., Amsterdam:

Deloitte GmbH, Munich:

Waiver of disclosure and preparation of the manage-
ment report in accordance with § 264 (3) HGB (Ger-
man Commercial Code) Instone Real Estate Develop-
ment GmbH (registered in Essen, Germany, under 
number HRB 28401) has fulfilled the conditions required 
by § 264 (3) HGB and is therefore released from the 
disclosure of its annual financial statements and the 
preparation of a management report.

EVENTS AFTER THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT DATE

On 22 January 2018, Instone Real Estate published the 
press release about the planned listing of its shares on 
the regulated market of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange 
(Prime Standard) in 2018. As part of the planned previous 
private placement, both new and existing shares were 
planned to be offered. As a result of a capital increa-
se, new shares were planned to be issued with gross 

proceeds to the Company, and existing shares were 
planned to be offered by the Company’s shareholders, 
funds launched by ActivumSG Capital Management 
Limited.

On 13 February 2018, part of the Company’s share 
premium was converted into share capital, thereby 
increasing the Company’s share capital from €8,386.00 
to €50,316.00 and, following the effectiveness of the 
conversion of the Company into a public limited liability 
company (naamloze vennootschap) and the chan-
ge of its name which took place in this context, from 
€50,316.00 to €29,988,336.00. On the same day, a 
further capital increase took place according to which 
€7,000,000.00 new shares were issued with a par 
value of €1.00 each. These measures together resul-
ted in an increase of the Company’s share capital to 
€36,988,336.00.

in euros 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Financial statement audits 758,425.00 357,832.50

Other audit engagements 322,260.45 0.00

Other non-audit services 91,421.03 7,210.00

1,172,106.48 365,042.50

Auditor’s fee 
The total fees for services provided by Deloitte Accoun-
tants B.V., Amsterdam, the Netherlands and Deloitte 
GmbH, Munich, Germany, were recognised as expenses 
as follows:
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On 13 February 2018, the Placement was completed, and 
on 15 February 2018, the Company’s shares were listed 
on the regulated market (Prime Standard) of the Frankfurt 
Stock Exchange. 

In the Placement, a total of 19,900,000 shares were 
placed with institutional investors. The placed shares 
consisted of 7,000,000 new shares from the capital 
increase and 12,900,000 existing shares held by the 
Company’s shareholders Coöperatieve Activum SG 
Fund III Investments U.A., Coöperatieve Formart Inves-
tments U.A. and Coöperatieve Activum SG Fund V, in-
cluding additional shares from an over-allotment option. 
The placement price for the shares of the Company was 
€21.50.

Around €56 million of the net proceeds from the capital 
increase were used to fully repay an existing shareholder 
loan. With the remaining approximately €86 million, the 
Company plans to finance the acquisition and develop-
ment of new housing projects and other corporate expen-
ses. One portion of this remaining capital was also used 
to repay an intercompany loan.

The free float on 23 April 2018 was around 50.4%. 
The remaining shares were still held by Coöperatieve 
Activum SG Fund III Investments U.A., Coöperatieve 
Formart Investments U.A. and Coöperatieve Activum SG 
Fund V.

In addition, certain of the Company’s organisational 
documents were revised (and additional internal rules 
were adopted) so that its internal organisation became 
suitable for a listed company; also, a Supervisory Board 
(the “Supervisory Board”) and certain Supervisory Board 
committees were established.

The Supervisory Board is composed of the following five 
members: 

Stefan Brendgen, born in 1964 in Mönchengladbach, 
Germany, as chairman of the Supervisory Board and 
chairman of the nomination committee.
Stefan Mohr, born in 1967 in Frankfurt am Main, Germany, 
as deputy chairman of the Supervisory Board.

Marija Korsch, born in 1948, in Zadar, Croatia, as mem-
ber of the Supervisory Board.
Dr. Jochen Scharpe, born in 1959 in Werdohl, Germany, 
as member of the Supervisory Board and chairman of the 
audit committee.
Richard Wartenberg, born 1968 in Stuttgart, Germany, 
as member of the Supervisory Board and chairman of the 
remuneration committee.

Furthermore, as our business activities and properties are 
geographically concentrated in Germany, we have filed with 
the Dutch trade registry, on 9 February 2018, a proposal to 
convert the Company into a German stock corporation (Ak-
tiengesellschaft), governed by the laws of the Federal Re-
public of Germany and having its registered seat in Essen, 
Germany (the “AG Conversion”). The resolution to convert 
the Company into a German stock corporation is expected 
to be proposed to the Company’s general shareholders 
meeting (the “General Meeting”) by the Management Board 
and the Supervisory Board, subject to certain conditions (as 
specified in the proposal) having been met.

On 29 March 2018, Instone Real Estate Leipzig GmbH 
repaid a bank loan for the corporate financing of the com-
pany in the amount of €22.6 million.

There are no other events which might influence the 
Company’s outlook and which are not discussed in the 
statutory annual accounts included in this report.
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C.2.5 SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND OTHER PARTICIPATING INTERESTS

Subsidiaries, associates and other participating interests as at 31 December 2017:

IFRS
Percentage 

of capital
Equity  

in euros

Net profit/loss  
of the year  

in euros
I. Affiliated entities which are included in the consolidated financial 
statements
Instone Real Estate Development GmbH, Essen, Germany 100.00 142,260,113.32 18,555,668.78

Durst-Bau GmbH, Wien, Austria 100.00 560,627.81 -894,548.26

formart Immobilien GmbH, Essen, Germany* 100.00 700,518.93 0.00

formart Luxemburg S.à r.l., Luxemburg, Luxemburg 100.00 2,866,119.22 2,161,383.34

Projekt Wilhelmstraße Wiesbaden GmbH & Co. KG, Frankfurt am Main, Germany 70.00 875,197.41 -281,995.10

west.side gmbH, Cologne, Germany 94.90 500,935.42 137,718.60

Instone Real Estate Leipzig GmbH, Leipzig, Germany 94.00 24,971,165.88 2,098,275.41

GRK Elsterlofts GmbH & Co.KG, Leipzig, Germany 100.00 63,396.89 76,078.37

GRK Beteiligung GmbH, Leipzig, Germany 98.00 498,716.92 -100,363.02

GRK REVION Hamburg GmbH, Leipzig, Germany 98.00 59,516.43 427,928.08

Instone Real Estate Capital GmbH & CO.KG,Leipzig, Germany 100.00 13,101,632.18 5,904,515.39

Instone Real Estate Verwaltungs GmbH, Leipzig, Germany 100.00 45,274.94 -433.41

Instone Real Estate Wohnbau GmbH, Leipzig, Germany 100.00 2,833,380.53 1,919,909.67

OPUS Wohnbau GmbH, Leipzig, Germany 94.00 565,739.68 -60,709.49

Parkresidenz Leipzig GmbH, Leipzig, Germany 100.00 8,749,986.44 -92,232.77

OPUS Beteiligung GmbH, Leipzig, Germany 100.00 -11,188.18 -9,084.68

Gartenhöfe GmbH, Leipzig, Germany 100.00 4,630,510.35 4,499,793.45

Instone Real Estate Landmark GmbH, Leipzig, Germany 100.00 -1,620,277.01 -191,508.24

II. Investments accounted for using the equity method
Projektentwicklungsgesellschaft Holbeinviertel mbH & Co. KG, Frankfurt am Main, 
Germany 50.00 948,245.11 922,087.70

Wohnpark Gießener Straße GmbH & Co. KG, Frankfurt am Main, Germany 50.00 33,062.95 -3,868.35

III. Other investments
CONTUR Wohnbauentwicklung GmbH, Cologne, Germany 50.00 46,221.78 -71,658.30

formart Wilma Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, Kriftel, Germany 50.00 40,396.18 2,117.10

Immobiliengesellschaft CSC Kirchberg S.à r.l., Luxemburg, Luxemburg 99.90 38,659.43 -7,203.79

Parkhausfonds Objekt Flensburg GmbH & Co. KG, Stuttgart, Germany 6.00 3,459,414.47 139,540.79

Projekt Wilhelmstraße Wiesbaden Verwaltung GmbH, Cologne, Germany 70.00 24,137.32 174.05

Projektverwaltungsgesellschaft SEVERINS WOHNEN mbH, Cologne, Germany 50.00 48,407.87 -6,593.84

Uferpalais Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, Essen, Germany 70.00 -38,601.77 -9,312.83

GRK Golf Masters, Leipzig, Germany 100.00 34,152.69 -21,652.69

* Profit transfer agreement
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Subsidiaries, associates and other participating interests as at 31 December 2016:

IFRS
Percentage 

of capital
Equity  

in euros

Net profit/loss  
of the year  

in euros
I. Affiliated entities which are included in the consolidated financial 
statements 
Instone Real Estate Development GmbH , Essen, Germany 82.2 142,939,611.41 4,187,343.17

DURST-BAU GmbH, Vienna, Austria 99.9 1,455,176.07 -2,289,509.70

formart Luxembourg S.à r.I., Luxembourg, Luxembourg 100.0 10,576,844.58 9,728,408.77

Instone Real Estate Management GmbH, Essen, Germany 100.0 -185,559.73 195,021.25

formart Immobilien GmbH, Essen, Germany* 100.0 700,518.93 0.00

Projekt Wilhelmstraße Wiesbaden GmbH & Co. KG, Frankfurt am Main, Germany 70.0 1,157,192.51 1,286,649.63

west.side gmbH, Cologne, Germany 94.9 363,216.82 158,998.54

Instone Real Estate Leipzig GmbH, Leipzig, Germany 94.0 22,287,993.94 16,254,806.17

Instone Real Estate Wohnbau GmbH, Leipzig, Germany 100.0 913,470.86 2,388,059.49

OPUS Wohnbau GmbH, Leipzig, Germany 94.0 626,449.17 -177,845.14

Gartenhöfe GmbH, Leipzig, Germany 100.0 156,896.91 449,057.57

Instone Real Estate Verwaltungs GmbH, Leipzig, Germany 100.0 45,708.35 -1,563.85

GRK Elsterlofts GmbH & Co. KG, Leipzig, Germany 100.0 587,318.52 506,181.64

GRK Beteiligung GmbH, Leipzig, Germany 98.0 714,957.43 125,064.26

OPUS Beteiligung GmbH, Leipzig, Germany 100.0 -2,103.50 -18,135.57

Parkresidenz Leipzig GmbH, Leipzig, Germany 53.9 9,840,976.03 -3,538,075.64

Instone Real Estate Capital GmbH & Co. KG, Leipzig, Germany 100.0 7,586,829.40 -14,759,198.96

GRK REVION Hamburg GmbH, Leipzig, Germany 53.0 931,588.35 1,599,721.48

GRK Golf Masters, Leipzig, Germany** 100.0 34,152.69 -21,652.69

Instone Real Estate Landmark GmbH 100.0 25,000.00 0.00

II. Equity-method investments
Projektentwicklungsgesellschaft Holbeinviertel mbH & Co. KG, Frankfurt am Main, 
Germany

50.0 2,981,708.87 2,765,551.46

Wohnentwicklung Theresienstraße GmbH & Co. KG i.L., Munich, Germany 50.0 24,645.26 -355.27

Wohnpark Gießener Straße GmbH & Co. KG, Frankfurt am Main, Germany 50.0 36,931.30 5,533.59

III. Other investments
ArtOffice GmbH, Cologne, Germany 100.0 41,663.34 -596.39

CONTUR Wohnbauentwicklung GmbH, Cologne, Germany 50.0 117,880.08 83,535.43

formart Beteiligungsverwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, Essen, Germany 100.0 23,484.81 -242.59

formart Wilma Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, Kriftel, Germany 50.0 38,279.08 7,767.71

Parkhausfonds Objekt Flensburg GmbH & Co. KG, Stuttgart, Germany 6.0 3,572,873.32 52,784.48

Immobiliengesellschaft CSC Kirchberg S.a r.I., Luxembourg, Luxembourg 99.9 103,863.22 59,161.89

Projektverwaltungsgesellschaft Mönchengladbach  - Area of Sports mbH, 
Dusseldorf, Germany

50.0 25,815.02 3.64

Projektverwaltungsgesellschaft SEVERINS WOHNEN mbH, Cologne, Germany 50.0 55,001.71 21,102.58

Uferpalais Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, Essen, Germany 70.0 -81,680.77 -114,276.66

Warenhaus Flensburg Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, Essen, Germany 100.0 -140,686.61 -1,570.41

WTS GmbH i.L., Munich, Germany 50.0 15,521.42 -474.69

TG Potsdam Projektentwicklungsgesellschaft mbH, Hannover, Germany** 10.0 0.00 0.00

* Profit transfer agreement

** Figures were not available at the time consolidated financial statements were prepared
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Approval and signing of the consolidated financial state-
ments. 

Essen, 7 May 2018

Signed
Management Board members
Kruno Crepulja, Oliver Schmitt, Andreas Gräf,  
Manfred Torsten Kracht

Signed
Supervisory Board members
Stefan Brendgen, Stefan Mohr, Marija Korsch,  
Dr. Jochen Scharpe, Richard Wartenberg
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This company financial statements is after proposed result appropriation.

C.3.1 �STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2017

C.3 COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

in euros Notes 31 December 2017 31 December 2016
Assets
Non-current assets

Investment in subsidiaries 1 252,503,760.29 229,639,334.96

252,503,760.29 229,639,334.96
Current assets

Financial receivables 2 29,530,908.11 2,763,786.06

Other receivables and other assets 3 5,295,080.45 24,864.01

Cash and cash equivalents 4 4,440,152.11 6,005,035.35

39,266,140.67 8,793,685.42
Total assets 291,769,900.96 238,433,020.38

Equity and Liabilities
Equity

Share capital 8,386.00 8,386.00

Capital reserve 85,353,772.19 37,394,560.00

Retained earnings / loss carryforwards -11,939,078.21 -22,739,088.87

Accumulated other comprehensive income -377,398.00 0.00

Equity attributable to shareholders 5 73,045,681.98 14,663,857.13

Non-current liabilities
Provisions for pensions and similar obligations 6 495,798.00 0.00

Other provisions 7 0.00 8,730,687.98

Financial liabilities 8 69,003,544.19 196,194,297.57

Deferred taxes 9 15,317,687.49 11,939,919.74

84,817,029.68 216,864,905.29
Current liabilities

Other provisions 7 31,421,162.63 0.00

Financial liabilities 8 97,574,440.74 20,000.00

Trade payables 10 3,918,987.39 1,675,760.04 

Other liabilities 11 652,501.87 4,868,401.25

Income tax liabilities 12 340,096.67 340,096.67

133,907,189.30 6,904,257.96

Total equity and liabilities 291,769,900.96 238,433,020.38
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C.3.2 �STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS FOR THE YEAR 2017

in euros Notes 31 December 2017 31 December 2016
Revenue 13 155,050.14 250,000.00

Change in inventories 0.00 -250,000.00

Other operating income 14 22,212.99 4,358,776.90

Staff costs 15 -8,699,698.14 -60,212.45

Other operating expenses 16 -12,012,441.15 -8,895,398.95

Other income from investments 17 22,581,828.61 11,247,926.27

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and  
amortization (EBITDA)

2,046,952.45 6,651,091.77

Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT) 2,046,952.45 6,651,091.77
Finance income 468.00 543.00

Finance costs -17,042,617.00 -15,680,566.90

Interest components of increase in provisions -297,037.02 30,939.44

Write-down of long-term securities -2,022.77 0.00

Finance result 18 -17,341,208.79 -15,649,084.46
Earnings before tax (EBT) -15,294,256.34 -8,997,992.69
Income taxes 19 -3,432,891.11 -5,013,785.54

Earnings after tax (EAT) -18,727,147.45 -14,011,778.23

C.3.3 �STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 2017

in euros 31 December 2017 31 December 2016
Earnings after tax -18,727,147.45 -14,011,778.23

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Actuarial gains/losses on defined benefit obligation -377,398.00 0.00

Other comprehensive income for the year -377,398.00 0.00
Total comprehensive income for the year -19,104,545.45 -14,011,778.23
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C.3.4 STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR 2017 

in euros Notes Share capital Capital reserve

Retained 
earnings/loss 

carryforwards

Accumulated 
other compre- 

hensive income Total
1 January 2016 8,386.00 37,394,560.00 -8,727,310.64 0.00 28,675,635.36

Earnings after taxes 0.00 0.00 -14,011,778.23 0.00 -14,011,778.23

Changes in actuarial 
profits and losses

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Total comprehensive 
income

0.00 0.00 -14,011,778.23 0.00 -14,011,778.23

31 December 2016 /  
1 January 2017

8,386.00 37,394,560.00 -22,739,088.87 0.00 14,663,857.13

Earnings after taxes 0.00 0.00 -18,727,147.45 0.00 -18,727,147.45

Changes in actuarial 
profits and losses

0.00 0.00 0.00 -377,398.00 -377,398.00

Total comprehensive 
income

0.00 0.00 -18,727,147.45 -377,398.00 -19,104,545.45

Indemnification Agreement

Contribution from 
shareholders

0.00 0.00 29,527,158.11 0.00 29,527,158.11

Contribution to capital 
reserve

0.00 47,959,212.19 0.00 0.00 47,959,212.19

0.00 47,959,212.19 29,527,158.11 0.00 77,486,370.30

31 December 2017 5 8,386.00 85,353,772.19 -11,939,078.21 -377,398.00 73,045,681.98
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C.3.5 STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR 2017 

in euros Notes 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Earnings after tax -18,727,147.45 -14,011,778.23
± Increase/decrease of provisions 23,186,272.65 6,847,714.54

± Increase/decrease of deferred taxes 3,377,767.75 4,690,055.03

± Other non-cash income and expenses 17,945,501.55 15,649,627.46

± Increase/decrease of inventories, trade receivables and 
other assets

-2,510,180.38 -13,289,156.43

± Increase/decrease of trade payables and other liabilities -1,972,672.03 -6,972,570.84

Cash flow from operating activities 21,299,542.09 -7,086,108.47
- Income taxes paid 0.00 16,366.15

Net cash flow from operating activities 21,299,542.09 -7,069,742.32

- Payments for acquisitions of shares in consolidated 
companies

-22,864,425.33 -65,669.29

Cash flow from investing activities -22,864,425.33 -65,669.29

+ Cash proceeds from borrowings 0.00 10,486,243.20

- Cash repayments of borrowings 0.00 0.00

- Interest paid 0.00 -67.00

Cash flow from financing activities 0.00 10,486,176.20

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents -1,564,883.24 3,350,764.59
+ Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 6,005,035.35 2,654,270.76

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of period 4 4,440,152.11 6,005,035.35
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C.4 NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

C.4.1 ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

General principles
Instone Real Estate Group N.V., Amsterdam, Netherlands 
(formerly: Formart Holding B.V., thereafter: Instone Real 
Estate Group B.V., now: Instone Real Estate Group N.V.) 
was incorporated in Amsterdam, the Netherlands on 16 
April 2014 and entered in the Dutch commercial regis-
ter, number 60490861, at the Company’s head office, 
which is in Amsterdam, the Netherlands. According to 
the shareholders’ resolution of 16 April 2015, the Compa-
ny’s place of management is on Baumstraße 25, 45128 
Essen, Germany. According to the entry in the register 
dated 9 June 2017, Format Holding B.V., Amsterdam, the 
Netherlands was renamed Instone Real Estate Group 
B.V., Amsterdam, the Netherlands. By entry in the register 
dated 13 February 2018, the Company changed its legal 
form to become a public company with limited liability 
organised under the laws of the Netherlands (Naamloze 
Vennootschap, N.V.).

The object of the Company is the purchase, the develop-
ment, the building, the letting, the management and 
the sale or other exploitation of land and buildings; the 
development, realisation and coordination of real estate 
projects as well as the participation in other companies 
and the formation, the financing and the consultation of 
companies which operate within this line of business.

The Management Board of Instone Real Estate Group 
N.V. approved these statements on 7 May 2018.

For additional details please see section “General Princip-
les” in the consolidated financial statements 2017.

Principles for the preparation of the financial  
statements
The separate financial statements of Instone Real Estate 
Group N.V. have been prepared in compliance with IAS 
27.17 and the respective requirements as to financial 
reporting in accordance with Part 9 of the 2nd Volume of 
the Dutch Civil Code.

The separate financial statements have been prepared 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRS) and the interpretations as issued by 
the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and 
adopted by the European Union.

The statement of profit or loss was prepared in accordan-
ce with the total cost method. In preparing its financial 
statements, it was assumed that the Company would 
continue its activities (going concern).

IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”
The main impact of IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” is 
shown below:

Classification and Measurement
In particular, IFRS 9 contains a new approach to the 
classification and measurement of financial assets that 
reflects both the business model in which the assets 
are held and the characteristics of their cash flows. The 
criteria determine whether the instrument in the sub-
sequent measurement is to be measured at cost or fair 
value. Whenever financial investements are categorised 
as equity instruments, the Company will exercise 
an irrevocable option to state future changes to the fair 
value under other comprehensive income in equity. Gains 
or losses recognised in other comprehensive income are 
never reclassified from equity to the income statement 
when disposed of. In general, the new classification requi-
rements will not have any material impact.

IFRS 16 “Leases”
In January 2016, the IASB published the new stan-
dard IFRS 16 “Leases”. IFRS 16 replaces the previous 
standard on the recognition of leases (IAS 17) and the 
interpretations IFRIC 4, SIC-15 and SIC-27. The stan-
dard is mandatory as of 1 January 2019. Voluntary early 
adoption is permitted, but only if IFRS 15 “Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers” is adopted at the same time. 
The essential changes due to IFRS 16 refer to disclosure 
requirements for lessees. The differentiation by Operate 
Lease and Finance Lease for the lessee is removed. For 
all leases, assets have to be recognised for the usage 
rights acquired (the “Right-of-Use approach”) and liabi-
lities for the payment obligations incurred by the lessee. 
Simplified application is permitted for “low-value” leases 
and short-term leases with a term of up to one year. 
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For low-value leases, this simplification even applies if 
they are to be classified as material in total. The simpli-
fied application comprises an option right for applica-
tion of the recognition and disclosure requirements of 
IFRS 16.

The disclosure requirements for lessors were only 
slightly changed and mostly continue to correspond to 
the previous provisions of IAS 17. The changed disclo-
sure requirements for leases in which the Company is 
the lessee will affect the separate financial statem-
ents. In particular, rights of use for leased vehicles or 
real property will be capitalised. Additionally, the type 
of expenses connected to these leases will change, 
since IFRS 16 replaces the recognition of expenses for 
operating leases on a straight-line basis by a depre-
ciation expense for right-of-use assets and interest 
expenses for debt from the lease. The Company has 

completed its initial assessment of possible effects on 
its separate financial statements, but the detailed 
evaluation has not yet been completed. The actual 
effects depend on the interest rate to be applied as of 1 
January 2019, the composition of the leasing portfolio 
or the assessment of the exercise of extension options. 
Major effects on the separate financial statements 
are not expected.

Accounting principles
In preparing the separate financial statements of Instone 
Real Estate Group N.V., the same accounting policies 
were applied as were endorsed for the consolidated 
financial statements. Unless otherwise stated, the same 
accounting policies were applied as had been endorsed in 
previous years. For additional details please see section 
“Accounting Policies” in the consolidated financial statem-
ents 2017.

in euros 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Instone Real Estate Development GmbH 181,795,870.81 159,262,436.26

Instone Real Estate Leipzig GmbH 70,387,169.48 70,056,178.70

GRK REVION Hamburg GmbH 155,880.00 155,880.00

OPUS Wohnbau GmbH 114,840.00 114,840.00

Instone Real Esate Landmark GmbH 25,000.00 25,000.00

Instone Real Estate Assets GmbH 25,000.00 0.00

Instone Real Estate Managment GmbH 0.00 25,000.00

252,503,760.29 229,639,334.96

The costs for the acquisition of Instone Real Estate 
Development GmbH increased by virtue of a third call and 
put option exercised with Hochtief Solutions AG in 2017. 
Also, Instone Real Estate Assets GmbH, Essen, Germany 
was formed by deed of incorporation of 19 June 2017. The 
Company was entered in commercial register B of the 
Essen Local Court, no. HR B 28251 on 26 June 2017. The 
object of the Company is to accept liability and to provide 

collaterals and/or guarantees to third parties in the real 
estate sector.

By notarised contract of 11 August 2017, Instone Real 
Estate Management GmbH merged with Instone Real 
Estate Development GmbH as per 1 January 2017 24:00 
hours retrospectively.

C.4.2 �NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 
POSITION

1.	 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Investments in subsidiaries are composed as follows:
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Name Seat Activities Participation in %

Instone Real Estate Development GmbH Essen, Germany Development 100.00

Instone Real Estate Landmark GmbH Leipzig, Germany Development 100.00

Instone Real Estate Leipzig GmbH Leipzig, Germany Development 94.00

GRK REVION Hamburg GmbH Leipzig,Germany Development 6.00

OPUS Wohnbau GmbH Leipzig, Germany Development 6.00

The investments in affiliates are posted at acquisition cost 
minus impairment. For additional analyses and informa-
tion please see section 1, “Acquisition of subsidiaries” in 
the notes to the consolidated financial statements 2017.

2.	 FINANCIAL RECEIVABLES

Financial receivables in the amount of €29,530,908.11 
(prior year: €2,763,786.06) primarily include receivables 
against shareholders (€29,527,158.11).

3.	 OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS

Other receivables and other assets include receivab-
les against the former minority shareholder Hochtief 
Solutions AG, Essen, Germany, under an indemnifi-
cation agreement for real estate income tax liabilities 
(€2,758,072.96) as well as accrued expenses and defer-
red income (€2,532,633.69). 

4.	 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents in the amount of 
€4,440,152.11 (prior year: €6,005,035.35) comprise cash 
on hand and cash in banks. There are no restrictions for 
cash and cash equivalents.

5.	 EQUITY

The components of and the changes in equity are shown 
in the statement of changes in equity.

The subscribed capital in the amount of €8,386.00 was 
divided into 8,386 shares with a nominal value of €1.00 
each and is fully paid. 

Upon conclusion of a contribution agreement on 28 
December 2017, major parts of the shareholder loans 
were converted to equity and allocated to the capi-
tal reserve. The capital reserve, which amounts to 
€85,353,772.19 (prior year: €37,394,560.00) is held by the 
shareholder Coöperatieve Activum SG Fund III Inves-
tments U.A. (€50,594,808.13), Coöperatieve Formart 
Investments U.A. (€25,297,404.06) and Coöperatieve 
Activum SG Fund V Investments U.A. (€9,461,560.00) 
respectively. 

Other significant effects in the retained erarnings/loss 
carryforwards include the contribution from shareholders 
in the amount of €29,527,158.11. This was a result of the 
indemnity of the Company from the costs relating to the 
planned private placement and the Company’s listing on 
the Frankfurt Stock Exchange by the shareholders.

The essential affiliates of Instone Real Estate Group N.V. 
are listed below:
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By the end of the year the subscribed capital and the 
capital reserve was divided between the shareholders as 
follows:

31 December 2017 in euros Subscribed capital in % Capital reserve in %

Coöperatieve Activum SG Fund III Investments U.A. 5,000.00 59.62 50,594,808.13 59.28

Coöperatieve Activum SG Fund V Investments U.A. 591.00 7.05 9,461,560.00 11.08

Coöperatieve Formart Investments U.A. 2,795.00 33.33 25,297,404.06 29.64

8,386.00 100.00 85,353,772.19 100.00

31 December 2016 in euros Subscribed capital in % Capital reserve in %
Coöperatieve Activum SG Fund III Investments U.A. 5,000.00 59.62 22,000,000.00 58.83

Steffen Göpel 886.00 10.57 4,394,560.00 11.75

Coöperatieve Formart Investments U.A. 2,500.00 29.81 11,000,000.00 29.42

8,386.00 100.00 37,394,560.00 100.00

Retained earnings show the revenue generated by the 
Company until the 2017 financial year. The income tax 

impact on the changes in the participation in profits and 
losses recognised directly in equity is as follows:

in euros 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Amount before income taxes -15,294,256.34 -8.997.992,69

Income taxes -3,432,891.11 -5.013.785,54

Amount after income taxes -18,727,147.45 -14.011.778,23

The following table contains a reconciliation of the conso-
lidated profit or loss for the year with the profit/loss for the 

year shown in the separate financial statements for the 
following reporting periods:

in euros 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Total comprehensive income for the year -30,959,543.08 -22.200.770,24

thereof non-controlling interest -128,538.71 -208.739,18

Net result shown in the separate financial statements of the subsidiaries 12,360,934.34 8.397.731,19

Comprehensive income for the year shown in the separate financial statements -18,727,147.45 -14.011.778,23

The table below shows the reconciliation of the consolida-
ted equity to the equity of the separate financial statements:

in euros 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Total consolidated equity 52,220,011.31 2,684,201.45

non-controlling interests 521,416.29 9,452,301.67

individual retained earnings 7,595,285.75 -7,122,252.49

individual net result 12,360,934.34 8,397,731.19

individual other comprehensive income 348,034.29 1,251,875.31

Total stand-alone equity 73,045,681.98 14,663,857.13
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Appropriation of result
According to Art. 23 of the Articles of Association of 9 
June 2017 the shareholders decided to add the result for 
the year to the retained earnings. This proposal has been 
reflected in the separate financial statements and consoli-
dated financial statements.

6.	� PROVISIONS FOR PENSIONS AND SIMILAR 
OBLIGATIONS

The pension scheme of Instone Real Estate Develop-
ment GmbH comprises a basic pension in the form of a 
modular defined contribution plan and a supplementary 
pension linked to Company performance, plus a few 
direct commitments. The module for the basic pension is 
tied partially to the income and the age of the employee 
(annuity factor), and partially to a general contribution 
which is reviewed every three years. The module for the 
supplementary pension is tied to the trends in earnings 
after taxes according to IFRS. Up to 20% of the basic 
pension can be achieved from this. The pension scheme 
that applied until 31 December 1999 provided for benefit 
groups based on collective agreements. They have been 

integrated into the new pension scheme as so-called 
initial modules. Benefits comprise a retirement pension, a 
disability pension and a survivor’s pension.

Discount factor 1.9%

Salary increase rate 2.5%

Pensions increases for VO2000+ 1.0%

Pension increase for other commitments 1.3%

Inflation 1.3%

To finance pension pensions, Instone Real Estate 
Development GmbH participates in a Contractual Trust 
Arrangement (CTA). The assets that were transferred 
are held in trust by Helaba Pension Trust e. V., Frankfurt 
am Main, and exclusively serve to finance these pension 
obligations. Funds that were assigned are invested in the 
capital market in accordance with investment principles 
endorsed under the trust agreement. The pension fund 
assets, just like the re-insurance policies pledged to the 
staff, meet the requirements of Section 246 (2) sentence 
2 of the German Commercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch 
– HGB). According to this, the fair value of the assets 
is to be offset against the repayment amount of the 

in euros 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Results subsidiaries -22,837,225.96 -36,692,999.38

Income from investments in subsidiaries 22,637,424.98 11,247,926.27

Current adjustment PPA (Instone Real Estate Leipzig GmbH) 19,182,393.97 38,060,012.38

Shares GRK Beteiligungen GmbH 6,244,267.39 -5,065,899.23

Current adjustment PPA (Instone Real Estate Development GmbH) 3,888,220.68 11,853,028.35

Provision for trade tax group division Formart -1,031,478.32 1,031,478.32

Deferred taxes on current adjustment for PPA -6,950,049.01 -18,921,437.64

Deferred Taxes -9,254,442.06 0.00

Addition of inventories Parkresidenz Leipzig GmbH 0.00 3,812,733.19

Settlement Agreement - acquisition of land below market price 0.00 2,250,000.00

Interest accrued from put options Hochtief 0.00 1,123,968.87

Reversal of provisions for subsequent consolidation (disposal of projects) 0.00 -765,349.74

Other 481,822.67 464,269.80

Net result recognized in the separate financial statements of the subsidiaries 12,360,934.34 8,397,731.19

The difference between the consolidated equity and the 
equity shown in the separate financial statements was 
primarily due to the negative impact of the consolidated 
profit for the year in relation to the development of the 
purchase price allocation resulting from the acquisition of 

Instone Real Estate Development GmbH in 2014, and of 
Instone Real Estate Leipzig GmbH in 2015.

The net income/loss in the separate financial statements 
for the subsidiaries is shown in the table below:
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in euros 1 January 2017 Additions Transfers
Change of basis 
of consolidation 31 December 2017

Non-current
Personnel provisions 8,730,687.98 0.00 -8,730,687.98 0.00 0.00

8,730,687.98 0.00 -8,730,687.98 0.00 0.00
Current

Tax provisions 0.00 2,758,072.96 0.00 0.00 2,758,072.96

Personnel provisions 0.00 16,172,338.60 8,073,887.98 4,416,863.09 28,663,089.67

0.00 18,930,411.56 8,073,887.98 4,416,863.09 31,421,162.63
8,730,687.98 18,930,411.56 -656,800.00 4,416,863.09 31,421,162.63

pension obligations; the proceeds from these assets are 
to be offset against the interest expenses incurred by the 
pension obligations. Offsetting is separated by type of 
pension commitment. A surplus or a deficit will show in 
the statement of financial position either on the asset or 
the liability side, respectively.

As at 1 December 2017, the obligations of Instone Real 
Estate Development GmbH in the amount of €815,001.00 
were assumed. At the same time, fund assets in the 
amount of €707,936.00 were transferred from Instone 

Real Estate Development GmbH.

The pension obligations were cleared by €706,926.00 
(prior year: €0.00) against covered funds. As at 31 
December 2017, the provisions for pensions amounted to 
€495,798.00.

For additional analyses and information please see sec-
tion 14, “Provisions for pensions and similar obligations” 
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements 
2017.

For additional analyses and information please see secti-
on 15, “Other provisions” in the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements 2017.

8.	 FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

in euros 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Non-current
Liabilities towards shareholders 55,180,256.10 96,570,637.02

Liabilities towards subsidiarie 13,823,288.09 99,623,660.55

69,003,544.19 196,194,297.57
Current
Liabilities towards shareholders 20,000.00 20,000.00

Liabilities towards subsidiarie 97,554,440.74 0.00

97,574,440.74 20,000.00
166,577,984.93 196,214,297.57

7.	 OTHER PROVISIONS

in euros 1 January 2017
Financing  

Cash Flows Non-cash changes 31 December 2017

shareholder 
contribution

capitalized 
interests

Fair value 
adjustments

Liabilities towards shareholders 96,590,637.02 -47,959,212.19 6,568,831.27 55,200,256.10

Liabilities towards associates 99,623,660.55 11,754,068.28 111,377,728.83

196,214,297.57 0.00 -47,959,212.19 18,322,899.55 0.00 166,577,984.93
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31 December 2017 31 December 2016

in euros Deferred tax 
assets

Deferred tax 
liabilities

Deferred tax 
assets

Deferred tax 
liabilities

Non-current assets   0.00 22,374,382.59 0.00 15,031,005.83
Current assets 0.00 552,315.77 0.00 167,664.13
Non-current liabilities 0.00 1,607,585.09 202,391.80 302,615.72

Financial liabilities 0.00 1,586,634.62 0.00 302,615.72

Other provisions 0.00 20,950.47 202,391.80 0.00

Current liabilities 9,216,596.06 0.00 1,569,561.17 10,412.07
Financial liabilities 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Other provisions 8,861,285.67 0.00 1,569,561.17 0.00

Trade payables 0.00 0.00 0.00 10,412.07

Other current liabilities 355,310.29 0.00 0.00 0.00

9,216,596.06 24,534,283.45 1,771,952.97 15,511,697.75
Loss carryforwards 0.00 0.00 1,799,825.04 0.00

Gross amount 9,216,596.06 24,534,283.45 3,571,778.01 15,511,697.75

Balance -9,216,596.06 -9,216,596.06 -3,571,778.01 -3,571,778.01
Reported in the statement of financial position 0.00 15,317,687.49 0.00 11,939,919.74

Deferred tax assets were stated insofar as it seems 
likely that the Company will generate taxable revenue  
in the future against which these tax losses will be 
offset.

10.	TRADE PAYABLES

Trade payables in the amount of €3,918,987.39 (prior 
year: €1,675,760.04) primarily comprise incurred costs 
and outstanding invoices.

The non-current financial liabilities include liabilities to-
wards shareholders in the amount of €55,180,256.11 (prior 
year: €96,570,637.02), of which €36,862,004.07 (prior 
year: €61,668,979.07) from loans towards Coöperatieve 
Activum SG Fund III Investments U.A., as well as loans of 
Coöperatieve Formart Investments U.A., in the amount of 
€18,318,252.04 (prior year: €30,730,489.53). The interest 
rate for these loans is 7%. 

The liabilities towards subsidiarie include two (prior 
year: two) loans to Instone Real Estate Development 
GmbH in the amount of €78,482,375.99 (prior year: 
€73,891,209.89). The term for the loans is four years 
and three years respectively. Interest is calculated at 
7% and 14.5%. To finance the purchase of shares in 

Instone Real Estate Group during the financial year 2015, 
Instone Real Estate Leipzig GmbH extended three (prior 
year: two) loans to Instone Real Estate Group N.V. As at 
31 December 2017, the loans total €33,358,142.06 (prior 
year: €25,732,450.57) with a total term of three years and 
two years respectively subject to an 8% interest rate.

The current financial liabilities towards the shareholder, 
Coöperatieve Activum SG Fund III Investments U.A., 
Amsterdam, the Netherlands total €20,000.00 (prior year: 
€20,000.00).

For additional analyses and information please see secti-
on 16, “Financial Liabilities” in the notes to the consolida-
ted financial statements 2017. 

9.	 DEFERRED TAXES

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are structu-
red as stated below:
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11.	OTHER LIABILITIES

Other liabilities in the amount of €652,501.87 (prior year: 
€4,868,401.25) essentially include accrued/deferred lia-
bilities from bonus commitments and costs for employee 
holidays not yet taken.

12.	INCOME TAX LIABILITIES

Income tax liabilities regard taxes from income.

C.4.3 �NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF PROFIT  
OR LOSS

13.	REVENUE

Revenue in the amount of €155,050.14 (prior year: 
€250,000.00) essentially regards revenue with affili-
ates. Of these amounts, €33,955.26 are attributed to 
Instone Real Estate Development GmbH; €116,826.82 
to Instone Real Estate Leipzig GmbH; €3,750.00 to 

Gartenhöfe GmbH; and €518.06 are attributed to other 
revenue.

14.	OTHER OPERATING INCOME

Other operating income in the amount of €22,212.99  (pri-
or year: €4,358,776.90) results from a de-recognition of a 
trade payable from previous years.

15.	STAFF COSTS

Staff costs are comprised of a change to the contribution 
to provisions for long term incentive programmes in the 
amount of €8,004,119.84 (prior year: €0.00); salaries paid 
out in the amount of €530,749.31 (prior year: €50,000.00) 
and social insurance contributions in the amount of 
€5,348.99 (prior year: €10,212.45) plus changes to pension 
provisions in the amount of €8,590.00 (prior year: €0.00) 
and changes to the contribution to other provisions for staff 
costs €150,890.00 (prior year: €0.00). During the financial 
year, the Company employed 2.3 (2016: 0.4) employees in 
Germany on average.

in euros 2017 2016

Long-term incentives 7,721,016.74 6,900,793.03

Consulting 1,518,935.38 36,432.21

Subsequent adjustment resulting from the acquisition of a rental portfolio 697,073.55 900,780.77

Non-deductible input tax 606,862.46 0.00

Court, attorney and notary fees 548,984.05 355,542.35

Distribution costs 298,344.54 0.00

Preparation and auditing of annual financial statements 239,687.81 383,503.50

Management 199,114.50 70,383.72

Insurance premiums 83,512.97 0.00

Postage costs and bank fees 5,828.50 0.00

Rental expense 2,400.00 0.00

Other 90,680.65 247,963,37

12,012,441.15 8,895,398.95

17.	OTHER NET INCOME FROM INVESTMENTS

Other net income from investments includes all income 
and expenses regarding subsidiaries, in the amount of 
€22,581,828.61 (prior year: €11,247,926.27). 

16.	OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES
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19.	INCOME TAXES

Income taxes are composed as follows:

in euros 2017 2016

Income taxes
Corporate income tax -55,123.36 -323,730.52

Current income taxes -55,123.36 -323,730.52
Deferred taxes -3,377,767.75 -4,690,055.02

-3,432,891.11 -5,013,785.54

Income taxes for the year can be deducted as follows:

in euros 2017 2016

Income before taxes -15,294,256.34 -8,997,992.69
Theoretical tax expenses at 25.00 % 3,823,564.09 2,249,498.17

Tax effects on 

Difference in tax rates 1,166,187.04 686,096.94

Prior year adjustment 1,308,078.31 16,366.08

Non-tax-allowable expenses -5,917,967.51 -1,317,315.24

Tax rate difference 0.00 -5,691,289.99

Use of unrecognised loss carryforwards -3,756,682.99 0.00

Recognition and measurement of deferred tax assets 0.00 -880,874.02

Others -56,070.05 -76,267.48

Current income taxes -3,432,891.11 -5,013,785.54

The corporate income tax rate of 25.0% (2016: 25.0%) 
was applied as the tax rate to be expected. The difference 
between the expected tax expense and the recognised 
tax expense is primarily due to the difference in German 
and Dutch income tax laws.

18.	FINANCE RESULT

in euros 2017 2016

Interest and similar income 468.00 543.00

Financial income 468.00 543.00
Interest and similar expenses -17,042,617.00 -15,680,566.90

Interest portion of allocations to provisions -297,037.02 30,939.44

Depreciation of securities classified as financial investments -2,022.77 0.00

Finance costs -17,341,676.79 -15,649,627.46
Financial result -17,341,208.79 -15,649,084.46
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C.4.4 OTHER DISCLOSURES

Reporting on financial instruments
For additional analyses and information please see secti-
on “Reporting on financial instruments” in the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements 2017.

Risk management
For additional analyses and information please see 
section “Other provisions” in the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements 2017.

Management of liquidity risks
The following table summarises the contractually agreed 
payments relating to financial liabilities:

Carrying amount Cash outflows

in euros 31 December 2017 2018 2019 - 2021 >2021
Non-current liabilities 69,003,544.19 55,549,464.67 15,641,293.75 0.00

Current liabilities 97.574.440.74 102,073,459.82 0.00 0.00

Trade payables 3,918,987.39 3,918,987.39 0.00 0.00

170,496,972.32 161,541,911.88 15,641,293.75 0.00

Carrying amount Cash outflows
in euros 31 December 2016 2017 2018 - 2020 >2020
Non-current liabilities 196,194,297.57 20,163,074.57 213,551,601.63 0.00

Current liabilities 20,000.00 20,000.00 0.00 0.00

Trade payables 365,090.04 365,090.04 0.00 0.00

196,579,387.61 20,548,164.61 213,551,601.63 0.00

Furthermore, liquidity is sufficiently secured, also based 
on the available cash in hand and bank balances as well 

as available, unused cash credit facilities. 
The table below shows the main liquidity instruments:

in euros 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Cash-in-hand and available bank balances 4,440,152.11 6,005,035.35

Credit facilities unused 2,604,608.59 2,604,608.59

7,044,760.70 8,609,643.94

For additional analyses and information please see 
section “Management of liquidity risks” in the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements 2017.

Management of interest risks
Interest risks at Instone Real Estate Group N.V. are the 
result of borrowing new funds at variable rates of interest. 
The risk is not controlled separately, as external borro-
wings tend to be redeemed within a short period of time 
by payments from the buyers.

As at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016, the Com-
pany posted borrowings with fixed interest rates only, so that 
there is no interest rate risk due to variable interest rates. 

For additional analyses and information please see 
section “Management of interest risks” in the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements 2017.

Management of default risks
For additional analyses and information please see 
section “Management of default risks” in the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements 2017.

Capital risk management
For additional analyses and information please see secti-
on “Capital risk management” in the notes to the consoli-
dated financial statements 2017.
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Additional information on financial instruments
In the following, carrying amounts and fair values are 
shown for each class of financial instrument and carrying 
amounts for each IAS 39 category:
 
Due to the short maturity, the carrying amounts of the 
above financial instruments correspond to their fair 

values. For additional analyses and information please 
see section “Additional information on financial instru-
ments” in the notes to the consolidated financial statem-
ents 2017. 

in euros Loans and 
receivables

at (amortised) 
cost

Total  
31 December 2017

Total fair value 
31 December 2017

ASSETS 33,971,060.22 0.00 33,971,060.22 33,971,060.22
Financial receivables 29,530,908.11 0.00 29,530,908.11 29,530,908.11
current 29,530,908.11 0.00 29,530,908.11 29,530,908.11

Cash and cash equivalents 4,440,152.11 0.00 4,440,152.11 4,440,152.11

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 0.00 170,496,972.32 170,496,972.32 170,496,972.32
Financial liabilities 0.00 166,577,984.93 166,577,984.93 166,577,984.93
non-current 0.00 69,003,544.19 69,003,544.19 69,003,544.19

current 0.00 97,574,440.74 97,574,440.74 97,574,440.74

Trade payables 0.00 3,918,987.39 3,918,987.39 3,918,987.39

in euros Loans and 
receivables

at (amortised) 
cost

Total  
31 December 2016

Total fair value 
31 December 2016

ASSETS 8,768,821.41 0.00 8,768,821.41 8,768,821.41
Financial receivables 2,763,786.06 0.00 2,763,786.06 2,763,786.06
current 2,763,786.06 0.00 2,763,786.06 2,763,786.06

Cash and cash equivalents 6,005,035.35 0.00 6,005,035.35 6,005,035.35

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 0.00 196,579,387.61 196,579,387.61 196,579,387.61
Financial liabilities 0.00 196,214,297.57 196,214,297.57 196,214,297.57
non-current 0.00 196,194,297.57 196,194,297.57 196,194,297.57

current 0.00 20,000.00 20,000.00 20,000.00

Trade payables 0.00 365,090.04 365,090.04 365,090.04
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Net result from financial instruments
The net result from financial instruments can be summari-
sed as follows:

For additional analyses and information please see sec-
tion “Net result from financial instruments” in the notes to 
the consolidated financial statements 2017.

Operating leases
The future minimum lease payments are as follows:

in euros 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

At cost 22,545,036.01 11,247,926.27

Loans and receivables 468.00 -543.00

Liabilities at amortised cost -17,042,617.00 -15,556,215.33

5,502,887.01 -4,308,832.06

Instone Real Estate as a lessee has concluded long-term 
leases on commercial properties and company cars. 

Notes to the statement of cash flows
The statement of cash flows classifies cash flows from 
operating, investing, and financing activities. The ye-
ar-end total for cash and cash equivalents in the amount 
of €4,440,152.11 (prior year: €6,005,035.35) shown on 
the statement of cash flows matches the total shown for 

cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial 
position. There are no restrictions for cash and cash equi-
valents. All non-cash income and expenses are cleared in 
cash flow from operating activities.

Related party disclosures
Transactions with related parties are as follows (by cate-
gory):

in euros 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Due within one year 55,877.64 0.00

Due in one to five years 46,803.43 0.00

102,681.07 0.00
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in euros 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Financial receivables
Coöperatieve Activum SG Fund III Investments U.A. 17,605,031.08 0.00

Coöperatieve Activum SG Fund V Investments U.A. 2,080,914.67 0.00

Coöperatieve Formart Investments U.A. 9,841,212.36 0.00

29,527,158.11 0.00
Financial liabilities
Coöperatieve Activum SG Fund III Investments U.A. 36,882,004.07 61,688,979.07

Coöperatieve Formart Investments U.A. 18,318,252.03 30,730,489.53

Steffen Göpel 0.00 4,171,168.42

55,200,256.10 96,590,637.02
Other liabilities
Coöperatieve Activum SG Fund III Investments U.A. 0.00 7,001.42

Steffen Göpel 0.00 4,739,845.29

0.00 4,746,846.71
Other operating expenses
Coöperatieve Activum SG Fund III Investments U.A. 0.00 63,763.72

0.00 63,763.72

Relations to shareholders

in euros 2017 2016

Finance costs
Coöperatieve Activum SG Fund III Investments U.A. 3,787,833.13 3,814,707.63

Coöperatieve Activum SG Fund V Investments U.A. 673,866.47 0.00

Coöperatieve Formart Investments U.A. 1,885,166.56 1,898,579.84

Steffen Göpel 221,965.11 224,417.77

6,568,831.27 5,937,705.24

The financial receivables to Coöperatieve Activum SG 
Fund III Investments U.A., Amsterdam, the Netherlands, 
in the amount of €17,605,031.08, Coöperatieve Activum 
SG Fund V Investments U.A., Amsterdam, the Nether-
lands, in the amount of €2,080,914.67 and  Coöperatieve 
Formart Investments U.A., Amsterdam, the Netherlands, 
in the amount of €9,841,212.36 were interest-free and 
have a maturity of less than one year.

These financial receivables were a result of the indemnity 
of the Company from the costs relating to the planned 

private placement and the Company’s listing on the 
Frankfurt Stock Exchange by the shareholders.

The financial liabilities to Coöperatieve Activum SG Fund 
III Investments U.A., Amsterdam, the Netherlands, in the 
amount of €36,882,004.07 and Coöperatieve Formart 
Investments U.A., Amsterdam, the Netherlands, in the 
amount of €18,318,252.03 were interest-bearing at a rate 
of 7% and are due for repayment in December 2020.



IRE_G Group Financial Statements 2017 

90

E.
 O

TH
ER

 IN
FO

R
M

AT
IO

N
 

D
. �C

O
R

PO
R

AT
E 

 
G

O
VE

R
N

A
N

C
E

C
. �C

O
N

SO
LI

D
AT

ED
  

FI
N

A
N

C
IA

L 
ST

AT
EM

EN
TS

B
. �G

R
O

U
P 

M
A

N
A

G
EM

EN
T 

 
R

EP
O

R
T

A
. I

N
TR

O
D

U
C

TI
O

N
 

C
. �C

O
N

SO
LI

D
AT

ED
  

FI
N

A
N

C
IA

L 
ST

AT
EM

EN
TS

The financial liabilities to Instone Real Estate Develop-
ment GmbH, Essen, in the amount of €78,482,375.99 
are interest-bearing at a rate between 7% and 14.5% 
and have an average maturity of less than one year. The 
financial liabilities to Instone Real Estate Leipzig GmbH, 
Leipzig, in the amount of €32,895,352.84 are interest- 
bearing at a rate of 8% and have an average maturity of 
one and three quarters of a year.

The financial asset to Gartenhöfe GmbH, Leipzig, in the 
amount of €3,750.00 is interest-free and has a maturity of 
less than one year.

ActivumSG Capital Management L.P., Jersey/UK is the 
ultimate group parent company for the largest group of 
entities in the ActivumSG Group and also the ultimate 
parent for the group of entities in Instone Real Estate.

Relations to affiliated companies

in euros 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Financial liabilities
Instone Real Estate Development GmbH 78,482,375.99 73,891,209.98

Instone Real Estate Leipzig GmbH 32,895,352.84 25,732,450.57

111,377,728.83 99,623,660.55
Financial assets
Instone Real Estate Development GmbH 0.00 2,763,786.06

Gartenhöfe GmbH 3,750.00 4,739,845.29

3,750.00 7,503,631.35
Other liabilities
Instone Real Estate Development GmbH 0.00 24,737.01

0.00 24,737.01
Revenues
Instone Real Estate Development GmbH 33,955.26 0.00

Instone Real Estate Leipzig GmbH 116,826.82 0.00

Gartenhöfe GmbH 3,750.00 0.00

154,532.08 0.00

Other net income from investments
Instone Real Estate Development GmbH 22,508,243.41 11,247,926.27

22,508,243.41 11,247,926.27
Other operating expenses
Instone Real Estate Development GmbH 288,750.00 2,400.00

Instone Real Estate Leipzig GmbH 68,750.00 0.00

357,500.00 2,400.00
Finance costs
Instone Real Estate Development GmbH 8,284,003.08 8,253,689.94

Instone Real Estate Leipzig GmbH 2,188,772.65 1,364,820.15

10,472,775.73 9,618,510.09
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There is no specific allowance for impairment losses in 
relation to outstanding balances, and no expense has 
been recognised in respect of impaired receivables due 
from affiliated companies. For the terms and conditions 
of financial liabilities, please refer to the section “Finan-
cial liabilities” in the notes. Services were bought based 
on the prices that stand up to third-party comparison. 
Outstanding balances are unsecured and are repayable 
in cash.

Remuneration of key management
For analyses and information please see section “Related 
party disclosures" in the notes to the consolidated finan
cial statements 2017.

Auditor’s fees
For analyses and information please see section on "Re-
lated party disclosures" in the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements 2017.

Events after the reporting period
On 22 January 2018, Instone Real Estate published the 
press release about the planned listing of its shares on 
the regulated market of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange 
(Prime Standard) in 2018. As part of the planned pre-
vious private placement, both new and existing shares 
were planned to be offered. As a result of a capital 
increase, new shares were planned to be issued with 
gross proceeds to the Company, and existing shares 
were planned to be offered by the Company’s sharehol-
ders, funds launched by ActivumSG Capital Manage-
ment Limited.

On 13 February 2018, part of Company’s share premium 
was converted into share capital, thereby increasing the 
Company’s share capital from €8,386.00 to €50,316.00 
and, following the effectiveness of the conversion of the 
Company into a public limited liability company (naamloze 
vennootschap) and the change of its name which took 
place in this context, from €50,316.00 to €29,988,336.00. 
On the same day, a further capital increase took place ac-
cording to which €7,000,000.00 new shares were issued 
with a par value of €1.00 each. These measures together 
resulted in an increase of the Company’s share capital to 
€36,988,336.00.

On 13 February 2018, the Placement was completed, and 
on 15 February 2018, the Company’s shares were listed 
on the regulated market (Prime Standard) of the Frankfurt 
Stock Exchange. 

In the Placement, a total of 19,900,000 shares were 
placed with institutional investors. The placed shares con-
sisted of 7,000,000 new shares from the capital increase 
and 12,900,000 existing shares held by the Company’s 
shareholders Coöperatieve Activum SG Fund III Invest-
ments U.A., Coöperatieve Formart Investments U.A. and 
Coöperatieve Activum SG Fund V, including additional 
shares from an over-allotment option. The placement 
price for the shares of the Company was €21.50.

Around €56 million of the net proceeds from the capital 
increase were used to fully repay an existing shareholder 
loan. With the remaining approximately €86 million, the 
Company plans to finance the acquisition and develop-
ment of new housing projects and other corporate expen-
ses. One portion of this remaining capital was also used 
to repay an intercompany loan.

The free float on 23 April 2018 was around 50.4%. The 
remaining shares were still held by Coöperatieve Activum 
SG Fund III Investments U.A., Coöperatieve Formart 
Investments U.A. and Coöperatieve Activum SG Fund V.

In addition, certain of the Company’s organisational 
documents were revised (and additional internal rules 
were adopted) so that its internal organisation became 
suitable for a listed company; also, a Supervisory Board 
(the “Supervisory Board”) and certain Supervisory Board 
committees were established.

The Supervisory Board is composed of the following five 
members: 

Stefan Brendgen, born in 1964 in Mönchengladbach, 
Germany, as chairman of the Supervisory Board and 
chairman of the nomination committee.
Stefan Mohr, born in 1967 in Frankfurt am Main, Germany, 
as deputy chairman of the Supervisory Board.
Marija Korsch, born in 1948, in Zadar, Croatia, as mem-
ber of the Supervisory Board.
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Dr. Jochen Scharpe, born in 1959 in Werdohl, Germany, 
as member of the Supervisory Board and chairman of the 
audit committee.
Richard Wartenberg, born 1968 in Stuttgart, Germany, 
as member of the Supervisory Board and chairman of the 
remuneration committee.

Furthermore, as our business activities and properties 
are geographically concentrated in Germany, we have 
filed with the Dutch trade registry, on 9 February 2018, 
a proposal to convert the Company into a German stock 
corporation (Aktiengesellschaft), governed by the laws of 

the Federal Republic of Germany and having its registe-
red seat in Essen, Germany (the “AG Conversion”). The 
resolution to convert the Company into a German stock 
corporation is expected to be proposed to the Company’s 
general shareholders meeting (the “General Meeting”) 
by the Management Board and the Supervisory Board, 
subject to certain conditions (as specified in the proposal) 
having been met.

There are no other events which might influence the 
Company’s outlook and which are not discussed in the 
statutory annual accounts included in this report.

Signing of the financial statements

Essen, 7 May 2018

Signed
Management Board members
Kruno Crepulja, Oliver Schmitt, Andreas Gräf,  
Manfred Torsten Kracht

Signed
Supervisory Board members
Stefan Brendgen, Stefan Mohr, Marija Korsch,  
Dr. Jochen Scharpe, Richard Wartenberg
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The Company acknowledges the importance of good 
corporate governance. With effect from the Company’s 
listing on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange, the Dutch Cor-
porate Governance Code (the “DCGC”) became applica-
ble to the Company. However, for the fiscal year ended 
31 December 2017, the DCGC did not yet apply to the 
Company. Consequently, the Company does not consider 
itself to have been bound by the DCGC during the fiscal 
year ended 31 December 2017 nor to have deviated from 
any of the principles and best practice provisions of the 
DCGC in such fiscal year. Similarly, the Company does 
not consider the disclosure recommendations promulga-
ted by the DCGC with respect to the contents of a listed 
company's board report to be relevant with respect to this 
report, because this report pertains to a fiscal year during 
which the DCGC did not apply to the Company. Neverthe-
less, some of these disclosure recommendations shall be 
addressed in this report on a voluntary basis.

Without prejudice to what is stated above, the Company 
has reviewed the DCGC and supports the principles and 
best practice provisions thereof. As of the date of publica-
tion of this report, the Company is not aware of (actual or 
intended) material deviations from the DCGC during the 
fiscal year 2018 other than the ones listed below (but can-
not exclude the possibility of deviating from one or more 
provisions of the DCGC after the date of this report):

•	 The members of the Management Board and the Su-
pervisory Board are appointed by our General Meeting 
upon the binding nomination by the Supervisory Board. 
In deviation from what the DCGC recommends, the 
General Meeting may only overrule the binding nomi-
nation by a resolution adopted by at least a two-thirds 
majority of the votes cast, provided such majority 
represents more than half of our issued share capital. A 
second meeting as referred to in Section 2:120(3) DCC 
cannot be convened with respect to these matters. 
The previous sentence also applies to the dismissal 
or suspension of members of the Management Board 
and the Supervisory Board, which is subject to a simple 
majority vote representing one-third of our issued share 
capital, unless the resolution is passed at the proposal 
of the Supervisory Board.

•	 In deviation from the applicable recommendation of the 
DCGC, the members of the Management Board are en-
titled to severance payments of 1.5 years' annual gross 
remuneration (base salary, New STI and New LTIP), re-
duced, however, pro rata in accordance with a potenti-
ally shorter remaining term of their service agreements. 
Such severance payment becomes due if a member 
of the Management Board is released from his duties 
under the relevant Management Board service agree-
ment for the remaining term of such agreement without 

D. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
D.1 DUTCH CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE
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cause. In this event, such member's service agreement 
will end with a six-months’ notice period to the end a 
month with an entitlement (i) to the contractual remu-
neration during this period and (ii) to the severance 
payment in the following month. This severance pay-
ment entitlement is in compliance with German market 
practice and the corresponding recommendation of the 
German Corporate Governance Code and was agreed 
upon taking into account the Company's focus on the 
German market, the appointment of a German team of 
Managing Directors and the planned AG Conversion.

The text of the DCGC can be accessed at  
http://www.mccg.nl.

D.2 �CODE OF CONDUCT AND OTHER 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
PRACTICES

As at 31 December 2017, the Company did not voluntarily 
apply other formal codes of conduct or corporate gover-
nance practices.

D.3 GENERAL MEETING

As at 31 December 2017, all powers that did not vest in 
the Management Board pursuant to applicable law, the 
Company's articles of association or otherwise, vested 
in the General Meeting; those powers of the General 
Meeting included, subject in each case to the applicable 
provisions in the Company's articles of association as 
they were in force at that time:

a.	 the appointment, suspension and dismissal of our 
Managing Directors;

b.	 the reduction of the Company's issued share capital;

c.	 the adoption of the Company's statutory annual ac-
counts;

d.	 the appointment of the Dutch independent auditor to 
examine the Company's statutory annual accounts;

e.	 amendments to the Company's articles of association;

f.	 approving a merger or demerger by the Company, 
without prejudice to the authority of the Management 
Board to resolve on certain types of mergers and 
demergers if certain requirements are met; and

g.	 the dissolution of the Company.

D.4 SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS

As at 31 December 2017, each share in the Company's 
capital carried one vote. Share-holders, irrespective of 
whether or not they have voting rights, have meeting 
rights under Dutch law (including the right to attend and 
address the General Meeting). Furthermore, each share 
in the Company's capital carries an entitlement to divi-
dends and other distributions as set forth in the Compa-
ny's articles of association. As at 31 December 2017, our 
articles of association provided that, under circumstan-
ces, a shareholders' voting, meeting and dividend rights 
could be suspended; see chapter D.8.2 of this report for 
further details.

D.5 MANAGEMENT BOARD

The Management Board is charged with managing the 
Company's affairs and the implementation of its strategy. 
In performing their duties, our Managing Directors shall 
be guided by the interests of the Company and of the 
business connected with it.
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As at 31 December 2017, the Management Board was 
composed as follows:

Name and age (as at 31 
December 2017) Gender Nationality Date of appointment

Expiration of current  
term of office *

Kruno Crepulja (46) M [Bosnian] 9 June 2017 N/A

Oliver Schmitt (53) M [German] 9 June 2017 N/A

Andreas Gräf (51) M [German] 9 June 2017 N/A

Torsten Kracht (50) M [German] 9 June 2017 N/A

* As the Company was a private limited liability company 
(besloten vennootschap met beperkte aansprakelijkheid) 
during the fiscal year ended 31 December 2017, the 
Company was not subject to a mandatory requirement or 
best practice provision to provide for an end-term of the 
appointment of the individual members of the Manage-
ment Board. Following the Listing, the Company intends 
to comply with the relevant best practice provisions of the 
DCGC, pursuant to which our Managing Directors may be 
appointed for a maximum term of four years each, without 
limitation on the number of consecutive terms which a 
Managing Director may serve.

D.6 �SUPERVISORY BOARD AND  
COMMITTEES

As at 31 December 2017, the Company did not have 
a Supervisory Board or any committees, because the 
Company was not subject to a mandatory requirement or 
best practice provision to establish a Supervisory Board 
or committees.

D.7 DIVERSITY

As at 31 December 2017, the Company did not have a 
diversity policy, because the Company was not subject 
to a mandatory requirement or best practice provision to 
establish such a policy.

However, in the course of the conversion of the legal form 
of the Company on 13 February 2018, also a diversity 
policy was adopted by the shareholders’ meeting that is 
in force at the date thereof. According to such policy, the 
Company is committed to supporting, valuing and levera-
ging diversity in the composition of the Management Board 

and the Supervisory Board in accordance with the princip-
les laid down therein but also stresses that the importance 
of diversity should not set aside the overriding principle that 
someone should be recommended, nominated and appoin-
ted simply for being “the best person for the job”. According 
to the diversity policy, to the extent possible, the Company 
intends for the composition of the Management Board and 
the Supervisory Board that at least 30% of their respective 
members are men and at least 30% of their respective 
members are women. Also, according to the diversity 
policy, the Company strives for a balanced mix of ages in 
the composition of the Management Board and the Super-
visory Board but does not set itself a concrete objective in 
this respect. Finally, in terms of experience and expertise 
the Company intends for the Management Board and the 
Supervisory Board to be composed of individuals who, as 
a collective, are knowledgeable in all of the following areas:

•	 the industry in which the Company operates;

•	 general management;

•	 finance, administration and accounting;

•	 strategy;

•	 marketing and sales;

•	 manufacturing and production;

•	 innovation, research and development;

•	 safety and environment;

•	 human resources, personnel and organisation;
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D.8 �DISCLOSURE PURSUANT TO THE 
DECREE ON SECTION 10 OF THE 
TAKEOVER DIRECTIVE

D.8.1 CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2017, the issued share capital of the 
Company amounted to €8,386.00 and was divided into 
8,386 shares, each such share having a nominal value 
of €1.00. The Company’s shares were in registered form 
(op naam). The issued share capital has been fully paid 
up. As at 31 December 2017, the Company did not own 
shares in its own capital.

D.8.2 LIMITATION ON TRANSFERS

As at 31 December 2017, the Company’s articles of asso-
ciation provided for a quality requirement (kwaliteitseis), 
pursuant to which – for as long as the Company had at 
least two shareholders – only parties to the then existing 
shareholders’ agreement with respect to the Company 
dated 10 December 2015 (as amended from time to time) 
(the “Shareholders’ Agreement”) could be or could beco-
me a shareholder of the Company. Non-compliance by a 
shareholder of the Company would lead to a suspension 
of such shareholder’s voting, meeting and dividend rights. 
Furthermore, as at 31 December 2017, the Company’s 
articles of association provided that, if the aforementi-
oned quality requirement (kwaliteitseis) had ceased to be 
effective, or in case of termination of the Shareholders’ 
Agreement, any transfer of shares in the Company’s ca-
pital would be subject to the statutory restrictions referred 
to in Section 2:195 DCC. As at 31 December 2017, (i) the 
Company imposed no other limitation, under its articles 
of association or by contract, on the transfer of shares in 
its capital (or depository receipts for such shares issu-
ed with the Company’s cooperation) and (ii) except for 
the agreement described in the following paragraph, no 
agreements with one or more shareholders of the Compa-
ny which may result in such a limitation are known to the 
Company.

Pursuant to a deed of pledge of shares dated 6 October 
2014, 750 shares in the share capital of the Company 

(which shares were split into 7,500 shares on 10 Decem-
ber 2015) (the “Pledged Shares”) were encumbered with 
a right of pledge (the “Pledge”) in favour of Instone Real 
Estate Development GmbH (formerly named: formart 
GmbH & Co. KG) (the “Pledgee”). In the deed of pledge, 
Coöperatieve Activum SG Fund III Investments U.A. and 
Coöperatieve Formart U.A. undertook, inter alia, not to 
sell, agree to sell or otherwise dispose of the shares and 
not to create or grant or permit to subsist any encumbran-
ce on the shares other than the Pledge.

The Pledge has been terminated by means of a joint 
pledge release agreement which entered into effect on 13 
February 2018.

D.8.3 SUBSTANTIAL INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2017, there were no interests which 
were required to be notified to the Dutch Authority for the 
Financial Markets (Autoriteit Financiële Markten) pursuant 
to Dutch law, because such disclosure rules did not apply 
to the Company during such fiscal year. The free float on 
23 April 2018 was around 50.4%. The remaining shares of 
around 49.6% were still held by Coöperatieve Activum SG 
Fund III Investments U.A., Coöperatieve Formart Inves-
tments U.A. and Coöperatieve Activum SG Fund V. No 
other shareholder held shares of more than 6%.

D.8.4 PARTICIPATION PLAN

As at 31 December 2017, there was no participation plan 
in place that provides for shares in the capital of the 
Company or one of its subsidiaries and where the control 
rights are not exercised directly by the employees.

D.8.5 LIMITATION ON VOTING RIGHTS

As at 31 December 2017, except for the possibility to 
suspend a shareholder’s voting rights under certain cir-
cumstances as described in chapter D.8.2 of this report, 
(i) the Company imposed no other limitation, under its 
articles of association or by contract, on the exercise of 
voting rights, deadlines for exercising voting rights or the 
issuance of depository receipts for shares in the Compa-
ny’s capital issued with the Company’s cooperation and 
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(ii) except for the agreement described in the following 
paragraph, no agreements with one or more shareholders 
of the Company which may result in such a limitation are 
known to the Company.

Pursuant to the Pledge, the voting rights attached to the 
Pledged Shares held by Coöperatieve Activum SG Fund 
III Investments U.A. and Coöperatieve Formart Inves-
tments U.A. would vest in the Pledgee subject to the 
fulfilment of certain conditions precedents, including the 
occurrence of an enforcement event with respect to the 
Pledge. Furthermore, each pledgor undertook in the deed 
creating the Pledge, inter alia, not to exercise its voting 
rights in favour of a resolution (i) for an amendment of 
the articles of association of the Company which would 
affect the rights of the Pledgee under the deed of pledge, 
(ii) to dissolve or liquidate the Company, (iii) to apply for 
the Company’s bankruptcy or (preliminary) suspension of 
payments, (iv) for a conversion (omzetting), legal merger 
(juridische fusie) or legal division (juridische splitsing) of 
the Company, or (v) to issue shares or rights to acquire 
shares in the capital of the Company).

The Pledge has been terminated by means of a joint 
pledge release agreement which entered into effect on 13 
February 2018.

D.8.6 APPOINTMENT, DISMISSAL AND AMEND-
MENTS TO THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

As at 31 December 2017, our Managing Directors could 
be appointed or dismissed by the General Meeting; and a 
resolution to dismiss any of our Managing Directors could 
be adopted by the General Meeting by simple majority of 
votes cast, provided that at least half of our issued share 
capital would be represented at the General Meeting. As 
at 31 December 2017, a resolution of the General Meeting 
to amend our articles of association was subject to a una-
nimous vote adopted in a meeting where all shareholders 
would be present or represented.

D.8.7 POWERS OF THE MANAGEMENT BOARD

The Company is managed by our Management Board. 
Our Management Board is charged primarily with the 

Company’s day-to-day business and operations and 
the implementation of the Company’s strategy. As at 31 
December 2017, the Management Board was entitled to 
represent the Company in the performance of acts on the 
Company’s behalf; the power to represent the Company 
also vested in any two of our Managing Directors acting 
jointly. As at 31 December 2017, the Management Board 
was allowed to decide on the acquisition of shares in the 
Company’s capital, subject to the restrictions imposed by 
the Company’s articles of association (including the re-
quirement that any such decision was subject to the prior 
approval of the General Meeting) and applicable law.

D.8.8 CHANGE OF CONTROL PROVISIONS IN MATE-
RIAL AGREEMENTS

As of 31 December 2017, cash and guarantee agree-
ments entered into by subsidiaries of Instone Real Estate 
Group N.V. with an aggregated volume of €229.1 million 
contained change of control provisions, which in the 
event of a change of control of Instone Real Estate Group 
N.V. could be critical in case that it was exercised by the 
other party. In addition, there were cash and guarantee 
agreements from subsidiaries of Instone Real Estate 
Group N.V. with change-of-control provisions, where the 
exercise of the clause would require a change of direct 
shareholder of the borrower.

The risk of the exercise of a change of control provision is 
considered low in both cases.

D.8.9 CHANGE OF CONTROL PROVISIONS IN EM-
PLOYMENT AGREEMENTS

The agreements with members of key management and 
employees of Instone Real Estate as of 31 December 
2017 includes no change of control provisions.



IRE_G Group Financial Statements 2017 

98

E.
 O

TH
ER

 IN
FO

R
M

AT
IO

N
 

D
. �C

O
R

PO
R

AT
E 

 
G

O
VE

R
N

A
N

C
E

C
. �C

O
N

SO
LI

D
AT

ED
  

FI
N

A
N

C
IA

L 
ST

AT
EM

EN
TS

B
. �G

R
O

U
P 

M
A

N
A

G
EM

EN
T 

 
R

EP
O

R
T

A
. I

N
TR

O
D

U
C

TI
O

N
 

E.
 O

TH
ER

 IN
FO

R
M

AT
IO

N
 

E. OTHER INFORMATION
E.1 INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the shareholders and the supervisory board of Instone Real Estate Group N.V. 
Report on the audit of the financial statements 2017 included in the group financial statements

Our opinion
We have audited the accompanying financial statements for 2017 of Instone Real Estate Group N.V., based in Amster-
dam. 

In our opinion the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of Instone Real 
Estate Group N.V. as at 31 December 2017, and of its result and its cash flows for 2017 in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (EU-IFRS) and with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch 
Civil Code. 

The financial statements comprise:

1.	The consolidated and company statement of financial position as at 31 December 2017.

2.	The following statements for 2017: the consolidated and company income statement, the consolidated and company 
statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows.

3.	The notes comprising a summary of the significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Basis for our opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Dutch law, including the Dutch Standards on Auditing. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the “Our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements” section 
of our report.
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We are independent of Instone Real Estate Group N.V. in accordance with the EU Regulation on specific requirements 
regarding statutory audit of public-interest entities, the Wet toezicht accountantsorganisaties (Wta, Audit firms supervi-
sion act), the Verordening inzake de onafhankelijkheid van accountants bij assurance-opdrachten (ViO, Code of Ethics 
for Professional Accountants, a regulation with respect to independence) and other relevant independence regulations 
in the Netherlands. Furthermore we have complied with the Verordening gedrags- en beroepsregels accountants 
(VGBA, Dutch Code of Ethics).

We believe the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Materiality
Based on our professional judgement we determined the materiality for the financial statements as a whole at 
€ 12.000.000. The materiality is based on 1,5% of total assets. We have also taken into account misstatements and/or 
possible misstatements that in our opinion are material for the users of the financial statements for qualitative reasons.

We agreed with the general meeting that misstatements in excess of € 600.000, which are identified during the audit, 
would be reported to them, as well as smaller misstatements that in our view must be reported on qualitative grounds. 

Scope of the group audit
Instone Real Estate Group N.V. is at the head of a group of entities. The financial information of this group is included in 
the consolidated financial statements of Instone Real Estate Group N.V.

Our group audit mainly focused on significant group entities. 

In establishing the overall group audit strategy and plan, we determined the type of work that needed to be performed at 
the components by the group engagement team and by component auditors from other Deloitte network firms. Whe-
re the work was performed by component auditors, we determined the level of involvement we needed to have in the 
audit work at those components so as to be able to conclude whether sufficient appropriate audit evidence had been 
obtained as a basis for our opinion on the group financial statements as a whole. For each component we determined 
whether we required an audit of the complete financial information or whether other procedures would be sufficient. 
Those where a full audit was required included the German components Instone Real Estate Leipzig (former Formart) 
and Instone Real Estate Essen (former GRK). For other non-significant entities we performed review procedures or 
specific audit procedures.

By performing the procedures mentioned above at group entities, together with additional procedures at group level, we 
have been able to obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence about the group’s financial information to provide an 
opinion about the financial statements.

Our key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 
financial statements. We have communicated the key audit matters to the general meeting. The key audit matters are 
not a comprehensive reflection of all matters discussed.

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole and in forming our 
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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General observation
Internal control & Information Technology: A strong internal control environment including supporting (usage of) 
information technology is crucial for any organization. As part of our 2017 audit of the financial statements we tested 
the design and implementation of controls relevant for the audit, including relevant controls with respect to information 
security. Based on the maturity of certain ‘entity-level’ controls, including controls as part of the financial reporting busi-
ness process, we have not applied a control reliance audit approach.

Valuation of projects and related revenue recognition

Key Audit Matter

The group’s result for 2017 is significantly influenced by the results of large and specific development projects. The 
valuation of these projects is considered a key audit matter because this is subject to uncertainty as a result of the 
complexity of underlying contracts as well as the complexity concerning assessment of the costs to complete and 
settlement of significant amounts of variation orders and claims on principals. The inherent uncertainty around these 
estimates is critical from a risk and financial impact perspective, and therefore the valuation of these contracts as well 
as the related revenue recognition has been one of our key audit matters.

How our audit addressed this matter

Our audit procedures and the audit procedures of our component auditors on these projects included an assessment of 
Instone Real Estate Group N.V.’s project control, site visits and substantive testing of management’s positions against 
underlying documentation. We also verified that the project expenses meet the recognition criteria and that the projects 
are valued accurately by making use of (internal) valuation experts and/or supporting documentation. We challenged 
management’s assumptions at the project and local entity levels in order to evaluate the reasonableness and consisten-
cy of the valuation of the variation orders and claims within these projects and the final forecast project result.

Our observations on this matter

We considered management’s key assumptions and estimates to be within the acceptable range. Based on our proce-
dures we have no observations to report that would modify our opinion. 

Related parties

Key Audit Matter

During the year 2017 various transactions with related parties occurred. Amongst others, transactions with both the 
shareholders and the management board were executed. We identified these transactions as a key audit matter due to 
the nature of the various transactions with related parties and the importance and impact of these transactions to the 
consolidated financial statements.

How our audit addressed this matter

We have requested management to provide us with an overview of all related parties and transactions with these parties. We have 
assessed the proper accounting for these transactions, the at arms’ length basis of these transactions and the disclosure hereof.
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Our observations on this matter

Our procedures did not result in material findings for the related party transactions. In addition, we consider that there is 
adequate disclosure in the notes to the financial statements of the nature and the amounts of the related party transac-
tions in accordance with the applicable standards and applicable legislation.

REPORT ON THE OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

In addition to the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon, the group financial statements contain other 
information that consists of:

•	 Introduction

•	 Group Management Report

•	 Other Information as required by Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code

•	 Corporate Governance reporting

Based on the following procedures performed, we conclude that the other information:

•	 Is consistent with the financial statements and does not contain material misstatements.

•	 Contains the information as required by Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. 

We have read the other information. Based on our knowledge and understanding obtained through our audit of the 
financial statements or otherwise, we have considered whether the other information contains material misstatements.

By performing these procedures, we comply with the requirements of Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code and the 
Dutch Standard 720. The scope of the procedures performed is substantially less than the scope of those performed in 
our audit of the financial statements.

Management is responsible for the preparation of the other information, including the Group Management Report in 
accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code, and the other information as required by Part 9 of Book 2 of 
the Dutch Civil Code.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

Engagement
We were engaged by the general meeting as auditor of Instone Real Estate Group N.V. on August 2, 2017, for year 2017 
and have operated as statutory auditor since the financial year 2014.

No prohibited non-audit services
We have not provided prohibited non-audit services as referred to in Article 5(1) of the EU Regulation on specific requi-
rements regarding statutory audit of public-interest entities.
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DESCRIPTION OF RESPONSIBILITIES REGARDING THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Responsibilities of management and the supervisory board  for the financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with 
EU-IFRS and Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. Furthermore, management is responsible for such internal 
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

As part of the preparation of the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the company’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. Based on the financial reporting frameworks mentioned, management should prepare 
the financial statements using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the 
company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Management should disclose events and circumstances that may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern in the financial statements.

The supervisory board is responsible for overseeing the company’s financial reporting process.

Our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objective is to plan and perform the audit assignment in a manner that allows us to obtain sufficient and appropriate 
audit evidence for our opinion.

Our audit has been performed with a high, but not absolute, level of assurance, which means we may not detect all 
material errors and fraud during our audit.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
The materiality affects the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and the evaluation of the effect of identified 
misstatements on our opinion.

We have exercised professional judgement and have maintained professional skepticism throughout the audit, in accor-
dance with Dutch Standards on Auditing, ethical requirements and independence requirements. Our audit included e.g.:

•	 Identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 
designing and performing audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtaining audit evidence that is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misre-
presentations, or the override of internal control.

•	 Obtaining an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appro-
priate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s 
internal control.

•	 Evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by management.
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•	 Concluding on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting, and based on the 
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we 
are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the company to cease to continue as 
a going concern.

•	 Evaluating the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures. 

•	 Evaluating whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achie-
ves fair presentation.

Because we are ultimately responsible for the opinion, we are also responsible for directing, supervising and perfor-
ming the group audit. In this respect we have determined the nature and extent of the audit procedures to be carried 
out for group entities. Decisive were the size and/or the risk profile of the group entities or operations. On this basis, we 
selected group entities for which an audit or review had to be carried out on the complete set of financial information or 
specific items.

We communicate with the supervisory board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 
and significant audit findings, including any significant findings in internal control that we identified during our audit.

We provide the general meeting with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to 
bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

Amsterdam, May 7, 2018
Deloitte Accountants B.V.

Signed by
P. Kuijpers
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E.2 �PROFIT APPROPRIATION  
PROVISIONS

As at 31 December 2017, the following provisions of our 
articles of association governed the appropriation of our 
profits:

1.	 The General Meeting is authorised to resolve to al-
locate the profits as determined by virtue of the adopti-
on of the Annual Accounts. A resolution of the General 
Meeting to allocate profits requires a majority of more 
than fifty per cent (50%) of the votes cast, in a meeting 
in which at least fifty per cent (50%) of the issued and 
outstanding Shares are present or represented. 

2.	 The General Meeting is authorised to determine a dis-
tribution of the profits, to the extent that its net assets 
exceed the reserves which must be maintained under 
the law or the articles of association. A resolution of 
the General Meeting to distribute profits requires a 
majority of more than fifty per cent (50%) of the votes 
cast, in a meeting in which at least fifty per cent (50%) 
of the issued and outstanding Shares are present or 
represented. 

3.	 The General Meeting may, subject to and with due 
observance of the provisions as set out in paragraph 
2 of this article and the relevant statutory provisions, 
resolve to distribute the reserves in whole or in part. 
A resolution of the General Meeting to distribute 
reserves requires a majority of more than fifty per cent 
(50%) of the votes cast, in a meeting in which at least 
fifty per cent (50%) of the Issued and outstanding 
Shares are present or represented.

4.	 The General Meeting may, subject to and with due 
observance of the provisions as set out in paragraph 
2 of this article and the relevant statutory provisions, 
resolve to pay interim-dividend. A resolution of the 
General Meeting to pay interim-dividend requires a 
majority of more than fifty per cent (50%) of the votes 
cast, in a meeting in which at least fifty per cent (50%) 
of the issued and outstanding Shares are present or 
represented. 

5.	 Subject to and with due observance of the provisions 
of article 21 paragraph 4, any resolution of the Gene-
ral Meeting to make a distribution, as referred to in the 
previous paragraphs of this article, shall be without 
any effect until the Management Board has granted Its 
approval to such resolution. 

6.	 The Management Board shall only withhold the 
approval as referred to in paragraph 5 of this article, if 
the Management Board is aware or reasonably should 
be aware of any circumstances by virtue of which the 
Company cannot continue to meet its obligations after 
the relevant distribution 

7.	 Any claim of a Shareholder for payment of a distributi-
on shall be barred after five (5) years have elapsed.

E.3 BRANCHES

As the Company’s effective place of management is Es-
sen, Germany, it has a branch office in Essen, Germany 
that is registered with the local court of Essen under HRB 
26426. Additionally, for an overview of our operational 
branches we refer to page 3. Beside this Instone Real 
Estate has one office in Luxembourg, Luxembourg and 
one office in Vienna, Austria.






